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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AND HIGHLIGHTS

MBEHRENEE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS AL

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZEC=f —E--fF —T-—F —E-FTF —T—NE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
(Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)
(Fat) (Eit) (Fit)

Continuing operations

Revenue WA 68,578 79,151 80,356 81,492 100,406
Profit/(loss) before tax SEICE TS

from continuing operations  Bx Bt AEF, (E1E) 16,461 10,085 64,532 69,545 (17,292)
Income tax credit/(expense) TSR %,/ (F2) 5,383 11,922 (3,874) (8,036) 7,277
Profit/(loss) for the year BEKEER

from continuing operations 3% A, (E518) 21,844 22,007 60,658 61,509 (10,015)

Discontinued operation
Profit/(loss) for the year from  —IBAR |FE & EKFE

a discontinued operation wAL(E518) 2,546 (8,050) (5,208) (12,928) (48,568)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREHA(EE) 24,390 13,957 55,450 48,581 (58,583)
Attributable to: FEAS
Owners of the Company RAREERA 24,448 13,219 58,025 50,703 (51,085)
Non-controlling interests FEEMR A (58) 738 (2,575) (2,122) (7,498)

24,390 13,957 55,450 48,581 (58,583)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY AND HIGHLIGHTS
MBEBREREE

N/

~
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CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EEE - BENE

I
EQUITY

As of 31 December

R+=-A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= T - ZE-EF —T-hHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT ARETT AREBTRIT AREFTIT ARETT
Total assets EEBRE 1,693,612 1,664,126 1,669,395 1,758,773 1,806,032
Total liabilities BEAE (132,353)  (152,180)  (183,653)  (262,056)  (342,537)
Non-controlling interests FEIZE IR M 2 - 1,648 2,386 (125) (2,247)
1,561,259 1,513,594 1,488,128 1,496,592 1,461,248

The consolidated results of A8 New Media Group Limited (the

ABHTERBEBER AR ([RAR ) RHEKEB

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year A FI(HBIAEE])  RBEZT=-=F
ended 31 December 2023 and the consolidated assets, liabilities and ~+=H=+—HILFEHEGREEERAIEER
equity of the Group as at 31 December 2023 are those set out inthe —“E-_=F+-"A=+—HHGEEEAEK

R DEHNEERMBHHRE -

audited financial statements.
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I am pleased to submit to the shareholders the annual report of the
company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
Business Review of 2023

During the reporting period, the global macroeconomic situation was
fast changing. In the face of the development and changes in the
market environment, the Group took active measures to address the
changes by adjusting the operation strategies of each business
segment, continuing to develop the online literature business;
strengthening cost and expense control and taking various measures
to enhance the quality of services for the industrial park business.
Meanwhile, the Group strengthened its investigation and research on
companies, products and markets in the fields of science and
technology, internet and new energy, etc., and strengthened the
control of project approval and project risk control for performing the
relevant investment and business at the appropriate timing.

Industrial Park Business

The Group’s revenue mainly comes from the rental income and
property management service income of the national music industry
base — A8 Music Building. Located in the core area of the Greater
Bay Area of Shenzhen, A8 Music Building enjoys a superior
geographical location with a total floor area of 52,500 square meters,
integrating office and commercial service functions.

During the reporting period, faced with the impact of the external
economic environment, the leasing industry as a whole was severely
impacted. Most companies remained relatively cautious about leasing
costs and tightened their corporate leasing budgets during the year,
and the increase in the supply of commercial offices in the market
further pushed up the vacancy rate. The Group took a series of
measures to attract and retain tenants, such as offering rent payment
by installments, adjusting investment promotion measures, and
promoting fully furnished units, etc., which effectively reduces the
impact of the external environment. The occupancy rate continued to
decline steadily during the reporting period. The revenue from rental
and property management service in 2023 amounted to
approximately RMB68.2 million, representing a decrease of 12%
compared with last year.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERE

During the reporting period, A8 Music Building was awarded the titles
of “Water-saving Unit” and “Shenzhen Green Building Innovation
Award” along with corresponding cash rewards. These achievements
demonstrate the Group’s commitment to environmental protection
and social responsibility, and contribute to the achievement of the
carbon neutrality goal.

Online Literatures

EREXEERMERA A
Technology Co., Ltd) (“Beijing Zhangwen") focuses on the

Al (Beijing Zhangwen Information

incubation, production and global distribution of high-quality cultural
recreation content IP. Beijing Zhangwen currently mainly operates
four business segments: online literature content research and
development, audiobook and audio content research and
development, animation content research and development and video
content research and development.

For online literature business, Beijing Zhangwen continues to develop
high-quality content and derivative products. In addition to providing
users with high quality reading services on its own platform, Beijing
Zhangwen also has authorized cooperation with influential third-party
platforms in the industry, such as Ali Literature (* Fi] & 3 "), Palm
Reader Literature (* ¥ B X £ "), Himalaya (" = 5 H HE ")
Novels (“ FH/N&i ), etc. In 2023, Beijing Zhangwen was listed as an
("BLIS 5T El ). “Fengming
is a significant service plan launched by Chaoyang District

, Tomato

enterprise in Beijing’s “Fengming Plan”
Plan”
Government of Beijing for high-grade, precision and advanced, high-
growth technology enterprises in the district, it also obtained
recognition as the new special expertise enterprise in Beijing, which
will support the development of Beijing Zhangwen.

For audiobook and audio content business, the network anchor
matrix created by Beijing Zhangwen has built up a head of steam,
focusing on recording short and high-quality audiobooks. In addition
to the self-recorded and out-recorded works on-line on mainstream
audiobook platforms such as Himalaya (" = 5 h7 7 ), we have also
simultaneously licensed the mini program in Douyin (" £} & ") for text
operation. This operation method of linking the text market from
audiobooks as an entry point has been gradually enhanced. Many
audiobooks entered the Top 10 Bestseller List of Himalaya FM,
(" EhBEE ) ("MBABRE") and
FIEFM"), etc.

Tomato Listening
Dragonfly FM (”

, Irts.me Listening
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For animation business, Beijing Zhangwen introduced Al-assisted
animation production into its workflow. In 2023, they launched the
first virtual character animation short film and two micro animations,
all of which were selected for Douyin’s potential creative support
program.

The original worldview mini-series produced by Beijing Zhangwen
entered the TOP100 of Douyin's subscriber list, achieving an excellent
sixth place among content producers. In the TOP30 mini-series user
subscription list, three mini-series of Zhangwen were ranked among
them.

2024 Business Outlook

In 2024, the Group will continue to develop its industrial park
business, as well as its cultural industry business, and will promote the
development of the Company by taking the following initiatives:

i. Positively face the impact of the external economic environment
on the industrial park business and take various measures to
improve the quality of the buildings and the quality of services
so as to eliminate or minimize the impact of the external
environment;

ii.  Continue to develop the online literature business in a healthy
and stable manner, seek innovations and breakthroughs on the
basis of enhancing the original business segments, and increase
the investment and attempts in mini-series;

ii.  Strengthen the assistance and management of the Group’s
invested companies and help them to achieve greater
development, so as to enable the Group to obtain a better
return on its investment;

iv. ~ Continue to optimize processes, control costs to save the
Group’s expenses;

v.  Explore the use of Al to enhance management effectiveness,
strengthen informatization and intelligent management, enable
the work more efficient and intelligent, improve work efficiency
and reduce management costs;

Annual Report 2023
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERE

vi.  Continue to strengthen research and analysis of industry
conditions, companies, products, technologies and markets in
the fields of science and technology, internet and new energy,
etc., treat new investment projects and business expansion with
caution, raise requirements and standards, and keep exploring
and trying in order to find new breakthroughs and directions for
the development of the Group;

The Group will continues to adhere to steady development strategy
and adjust and move forward in the changing economic environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Operating Business
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue from
continuing operations of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB68.6 million, representing a decrease of approximately
13.4% as compared with 2022 (2022: approximately RMB79.2
million).

Property investment business

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of property
investment business derived from the rentals and management
fee amounted to approximately RMB68.2 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 12.0% as compared with 2022
(2022: approximately RMB77.5 million).

Cultural Business

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue from
continuing operations of cultural business amounted to
approximately RMBO0.4 million, representing a significant
decrease of approximately 76.0% as compared with 2022
(2022: approximately RMB1.7 million). The decrease was mainly
due to the decrease of revenue generated from Music-based
entertainment.

Cost of services provided

For the year ended 31 December 2023, cost of services provided
from continuing operations by the Group amounted to
approximately RMB17.6 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 3.5% as compared with 2022 (2022:
approximately RMB18.3 million). The decrease was mainly due
to the decrease in the cost of the cultural business, as detailed
below.
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Property investment business

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the cost of services
provided of property investment business amounted to
approximately RMB16.4 million, representing a slight decrease
of approximately 0.8% as compared with 2022 (2022:
approximately RMB16.5 million).

Cultural business

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the cost of services
provided of Cultural business amounted to approximately
RMB1.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately
28.7% as compared with 2022 (2022: approximately RMB1.7
million). The decrease was mainly caused by the reduction in
expenditure due to the needs of the Group’s business stage and
development strategy.

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the gross profit from
continuing operations of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB51.0 million, representing a decrease of approximately
16.3% as compared with 2022 (2022: approximately RMB60.9
million). The overall gross margin from continuing operations of
the Group (which is calculated based on gross profit divided by
revenue) was 74.3% for 2023, as compared with 76.9% for
2022. The decrease was mainly due to the fact that the
decreasing rate of revenue was higher than the decreasing rate
of cost.

Other income and gains, net

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the other income and
gains, net from continuing operations of the Group were
approximately RMB39.8 million, representing a significant
increase of approximately 135.4% as compared with 2022
(2022: approximately RMB16.9 million). The increase was mainly
due to the increase of bank interest income and dividend and
distribution income from financial assets at fair value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling and marketing expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the selling and
marketing expenses from continuing operations of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB9.0 thousand, representing a
significant decrease of approximately 99.5% as compared with
2022 (2022: approximately RMB1.9 million). The decrease was
mainly caused by the reduction in expenditure due to the needs
of the Group’s business stage and development strategy.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the administrative
expenses from continuing operations of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB22.7 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 3.9% as compared with 2022 (2022:
approximately RMB23.6 million).

Other expenses, net

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the other expenses, net
from continuing operations of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB61.5 million, representing an increase of
approximately 28.1% as compared with 2022 (2022:
approximately RMB48.0 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the other expenses, net
from continuing operations mainly consisted of (i) the fair value
loss on investment properties amounted to approximately
RMB36.0 million; (ii) the fair value loss on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss amounted to approximately
RMB19.3 million (2022: approximately RMB32.0 million); and (iii)
impairment loss on investments in an associate amounted to
approximately RMB4.5 million (2022: approximately RMB16.0
million).

Share of profits and losses of associates, net

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's share of
profits of associates amounted to approximately RMB9.9 million
(2022: approximately RMB5.8 million). The increase was mainly
due to the increase of share of profit of Beijing Zhangwen.
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Income tax credit

For the year ended 31 December 2023, income tax credit from
continuing operations of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB5.4 million, while the income tax credit for 2022 was
approximately RMB11.9 million.

Profit/(loss) for the year from a discontinued
operation

On 23 December 2022, the Group entered into an equity
transfer agreement with the other shareholders of
Blueowlgames Limited (“Blueowlgames”) and Shanghai Mu77
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Mu77"), pursuant
to which the Group agreed to sell its 51% equity interests in
Blueowlgames and Shanghai Mu77 to the other shareholders.
The transaction was completed in 2023 and the Group obtained
a profit of approximately RMB2.5 million from the transaction.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group obtained a
loss of approximately RMB8.1 million from the discounted
operation.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company

As a result of above-mentioned, for the year ended 31
December 2023, profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB24.4 million,
compared to a profit of approximately RMB13.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2023, cash and cash equivalents and highly
liquid short-term assets of the Group including, restricted cash
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounted
to approximately RMB697.7 million (2022: approximately
RMB628.8 million). Among which, approximately RMB189.5
million, or approximately 27.2% was denominated in RMB.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has no interest-bearing
bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
derivatives for hedging against both the interest and exchange
rate risks.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL")

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss amounted to approximately
RMB251.9 million (2023: approximately RMB92.9 million),
which was comprised of investments in funds included in non-
current assets, treasury bond ETF, and wealth management
products included in current assets. During the year, the Group
received dividends and distribution income of approximately
RMB9.7 million from FVPL.

Set out below are details of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as at 31 December 2023:

BERE WD AT

R-ZB_=F+-A=+—H £&H
EMBIRITRER

RZZE_=F+-A=+—H0 r5H
I 8 N R AR 7 4 T B S A == K (5
[\ o

BAVEFTEEHSBHTARS
ZE@EE (FVPL])

RZEBE-_=ZF+=-A=+—H £5%8
RATEFEEEZH T ABRZZERH
EEHAREE251,900,000 0 (=T ==
F 4 AR¥92,900,0007T) © B
AERBEEMNESRE NFTAREDE
EMRTEMER -RFER - AEEK
FBHEAFEAEBEEH S ABEZS
EVE EMRBERN D4 AR 9,700,000 7T ©

BEAR-_ZT-_=F+-B=+—0 &
RTEFEEEREHFARSEZERME
EFBMT

Fair value Fair value
as at as at Percentage
31 December 31 December increase/
2023 2022 (decrease)

R-—Z2—-= A=

+=A=+—-B +—A=+—H Bok
Investment category REER MWL FEE BWAFE  #hiCRD)
(RMB’'000) (RMB’000) %

(AR®TR) (AR®ETT)
Fund investments’ ESRE 55,908 72,878 (23.3)
Treasury Bond ETF2 {EETF 123,960 - >100%
Wealth management products ¥ B4 & & 72,000 20,000 >100%
Total Bt 251,868 92,878 >100%
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Notes:

1) Including investments in Shenzhen Qianhai Qingsong Venture
Investment Fund Management Enterprise (Limited Partnership)
("Qingsong Fund 11"”), Shenzhen Qingsong Phase Ill Equity
Investment Fund Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership)
("Qingsong Fund I11”), Shenzhen Qianhai tianhe Cultural Industry
Investment Center (Limited Partnership) G 3l 51 /8 X il SUAL B ¥ 4%
ER L (BRAR), and Shenzhen Qingsong Small and Medium
Enterprises Development Investment Partnership Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (“Qingsong Fund IV"). For the investments in Qingsong
Fund Il, Qingsong Fund Il and Qingsong IV, please refer to the
announcements of the Group dated 24 January 2014, 15 May 2017
and 21 January 2020, respectively.

2) As at 31 December 2023, the total amount of Treasury Bond ETF
purchased by the Group from the open market with its temporarily
idle self-owned funds was approximately USD17.8 million. The details
of the Treasury Bond ETF can be referred to the announcements of
date 19 May 2023, 21 May 2023, 25 May 2023, 14 June 2023, and
10 July 2023.

Except for Treasury Bond ETF, none of other single investment
above-mentioned has a carrying amount that accounts for more
than 5% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2023.
Details of Treasury Bond ETF was set out in the “MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS".

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income amounted to
approximately RMB117.4 million (2022: approximately
RMB103.6 million). These financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income was comprised of listed and
unlisted equity investments, the fair values of which were
determined by an independent professional valuer engaged by
the Group using market approach and asset-based approach.
During the year, the Group received dividends of approximately
RMB3.0 million from Xiamen Mengjia.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEEAR LD A

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE WD AT

Wi

(1) BERRITHEERAEREZSD
*(BRAR) EREE-H]  RIW
BR-ZHREREES AR LE(ARE
B EREE=H]  FIFNERFXE
EXEREPL(BRAB) UERIITE
MP PR BERIEEABEE (BERE
B ENRESOHINKRE - FNRES
B ENRES-—HLEREASOYKE
F2HAEESNR -2 —NF—A
“t+tmHA-ZZE—tFRA+THEBARZ=
T EF-A -+ HBHHORE -

2 MNZZE-_=F+=-A=+—8 4A%£H
NERBHENEEESHARMBEE
HERBEETF #2437 17,800,000
TL e EEBEETFHFAE A2 EAE
ER—ZE-_=FRFt+NhB —T_=F
FA-t+t—B —E-_=FFA=-+=H
H —ZZE-=FXA+EAR=ZZT==
FHATHMRE -

RZZTZ=F+=ZA=+—H " BREE
ETFSN LIl Eh B AN REEE
HRBRBAEEEEMLTENS% - B H
BEIEETFHERFBO T [EXREKE]
—ffi o

2N
A

FEFEEHSE T AHM
AW

ZE@MEE (Fvocl))

e

—E-ZF+-A=+—H K£5&H
BRAFEFEAEZHTAEMEE K
w22 EEELNARK117,400,0007T
2 —F: $HH AR ¥ 103,600,000
TL) c ZERAFEFEBEEEHFA
HMirta s eREERE LM RIE
IRERE  ZEREQNTEBALSE
EZREE Y EETEMAATSILL
EREEERERTE -RFEAN - AEH
U B E P Z N8 2 41 49 A R % 3,000,000
=5

—~

Annual Report 2023
—E=FFRH



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Set out below are details of financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2023:

BERE WD AT

ERAR_ZT_=Ff+_A=t—8 %

AT(EHE B AR B AL AU

ZEMEEFBMOT

Fair value Fair value
as at as at Percentage
31 December 31 December increase/
2023 2022 (decrease)
i R-ZTE-=
+=ZB=+—H +tZA=+—H Bk
Investment category REFER WAFE BWAFE S CRD)
(RMB’000) (RMB'000) %

(AR®FR) (ARETT)

Game development companies' #2282 &) 104,692 90,096 16.2
Information technology services {5 8177 A 7)2

company? 12,751 13,493 (5.5)
Total #EE 117,443 103,589 13.4
Notes: P T

1) Game development companies include 2 companies, namely Xiamen
Mengjia Network technology Co., Ltd. (“Xiamen Mengjia”) and
Shanghai Hanqu Network technology Co., Ltd. (& 8 i 48 48 Bl 1%
ABR/AF]). Among them, Xiamen Mengjia was listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations (the “NEEQ") (stock code:
839039), and delisted from NEEQ on 2 January 2019. The Group
engages an independent professional valuer to determine its fair value
using market comparable approach. Due to the poor management of
Shanghai Hanqu Network technology Co., Ltd., the Group engages
an independent professional valuer to determine its fair value using
asset-based approach.

(2) Information technology services company refers to Shenzhen Lemon
Network Technology Co., Ltd (“Lemon Network"), a company listed
on NEEQ (stock code: 835924). Given that the shares of Lemon
Network are transferred by agreement, the trading of the shares is
not active and the trading volume of the shares is thin, the Group
engages an independent professional valuer to determine its fair value
using market approach.

Except for Xiamen Mengjia, none of other investee companies
above-mentioned has a carrying amount that accounts for more
than 5% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2023.
Details of Xiamen Mengjia was set out in the "MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS".

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

On 19 December 2016, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with Ever Novel Holdings Limited
("Subscriber”) pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed to
subscribe for in cash, and the Company agreed to allot and
issue 931,800,000 new shares of the Company at a subscription
price of HK$0.41 per Share (“Subscription”). Completion of
the Subscription took place on 20 February 2017. The gross
proceeds and net proceeds from the Subscription were
approximately HK$382.0 million and HK$380.5 million
respectively.

As of the date of this announcement, the accumulated amount
of RMB101.3 million of the proceeds from the Subscriptions
have been used the use of the proceeds of the Subscription is
the same as that of the subscription agreement entered by the
Group, the remaining amount of the proceeds from the
Subscription was RMB235.9 million.

On 23 August 2022, the Board has resolved to change the use
of the proceeds, and reallocated the balance of funds raised
from the subscription for investment in the technology, internet
and big consumption sectors to keep consistence with the
direction of national policies, which will be beneficial to the
Group to seize investment opportunities in the market. It is also
conducive to expand the Group's investment base and sources
of profit. The reallocation of the net proceeds is in line with the
business strategy of the Group and is more favorable to the
Group's long term business development, which is in the best
interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
Please refer to the announcement published on 23 August 2022
of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWED T

Details of the original allocation of the net proceeds, revised BEEESFRENROEMENR DA &
allocation of net proceeds, utilized and unutilized net proceeds ZEARNEEBHEERMKREANEES
as at the date of this announcement are set out as below: COFFEMF BN T

Expected

timeline of

Utilised Unutilised ~ full utilisation

Original Net Proceeds Reallocation Net Proceeds  of the remaining

allocation asat the of the asatthe  balance after

of the date of this Unutilised date of this the Proposed

Proceeds  announcement Net Proceeds  announcement Change

ERAER EXDER ENOR ERRER  EBENARY

LS ¢ ERAER AERER AEREE  BRABTEHN

Proposed Usage biE ks FERAR BLWE ELFE ELFE kR
(RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)
(AR%EER) (ARMBERD) (ARMEERD) (ARKEER)

Acquiition of upstream and WeE ETHFRES 372 1013 - - -
downstream mobile online game ERELT
Investrment in technology, RENBE - BEEA = = 2005 2005 on or before
internet and big consumption KRE%E 31 December 2028
industry, etc. 2028%
12A318324
General Working capital —REEES - - 354 354 onor before
31 December 2026
20265
12A318524
Total At 3372 1013 2359 2359
The Directors of the Company will continuously review the plan ARAEEERERHETRADRES
of the use of the unutilised net proceeds and may amend such B FHMEATE  UEMNERET
plan where necessary so as to cope with the changing market ZEtEl - LB TE LTSRS -
conditions and strive for better business performance of the ERAEEE TR LHE -
Group.
Annual Report 2023 A8 New Media Group Limited

S ABHTEMEMARA T 15



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE WD AT

s
3 MATERIAL INVESTMENTS 3 EAKRE
As at 31 December 2023, the details of significant investments RZEBE-_=F+-_A=+—8 " &&
of the Group were set out as follows: MEBEREEFBEHNTE
Total amount
Change in Sizeas  of dividends/
fair value/ compared to distribution
Percentage Fair value/ share of Fair value/ the Group's income
investment Carrying profit for the Carrying total assets received for
of held as at amount as at year ended amount as at asat the year ended
Investment Name of the Investment 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December  Principal
category investment cost 2023 2022 2023 2023 2023 2023  activities
BE-%c-=

W=B-=f R-B--f +-A=t-B R-B-ZF RYRAEE HE-S-=E
+-B=+-B +=A=t-AH LEE®H +=A=1+-AR ~%-=f +=A=t+-AH
BEMH WATE/ ATESE/ WA¥E/ +=A=t-B LEEMH

REEH REEB RERK RELA REE A EER REE BEBRE BHAALE TEER
RMB'000 (%) RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 (%) RMB'000
(AREFTT) (ARETR)  (AREBTR) (AR%TR) (AREFT)
Fvoci Xiamen Mengjia’ 20,024 10 89,826 14173 103,999 6.1 3,003 Games development
Fvoc! EGEIN ERHE
Investment in Beijing Zhangwen' 195,098 35 278,515 11,302 289,817 171 - Incubation, production
associate and global distribution

of high-quality cultural
recreation content IP

REERRAIZRE HREX BERURRE PEYEL -
SER2RET

FVPL Treasury Bond ETF? 126,310 N/A - (2,350) 123,960 73 2,590

FpL il {3 TR

Notes: B o -

1 The Board considers Xiamen Mengjia and Beijing ZhangWen to be 1 EZERA EMENNEREXRR
important components of the Group's cultural industry ecosystem EEXCEEELERRTNEZAKD
and intends to continue holding them as part of its investment D EARNEERERKEN —HH  #
strategy. BERA -

2 The Group will continue to hold U.S. Treasury ETFs due to their low- 2 EENEERGETFRABKREATE 7
risk nature and potential to enhance returns without adversely RIEAEEESBRETEHAEEH
affecting daily operations. The investment returns of these ETFs will BEREEETFRE RALAEES
be monitored closely, and decisions to continue holding them will be BERE RARNSFERTEZEREETF
made in real-time. WRERRBEALERMESEEER

BEPRIE °

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2023, BEiEEES AR aHE2 T =

the Company did not have any material investments. However, F+ZRA=1T—HLEFEESEKKE -

the Group will continue to consolidate the current businesses, AMAKREREEESRBER 1A
while seeking new opportunities to complement and strengthen R Esrmi - IR A ¥ B AN

our existing business operations. A W 3B 58 2 B o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 16 employees (2022:
18). The average headcounts of 2023 was 17 while it was 37 in
2022. The Group determines the remuneration of its employees
based on various factors such as responsibilities, qualifications
and years of experience. Total employee costs for the year
ended 31 December 2023, including directors’ emoluments,
amounted to approximately RMB9.6 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 25.1% as compared with 2022
(2022: approximately RMB12.8 million).

Employees are rewarded on a performance related basis within
the general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus system
which is reviewed regularly. A share option scheme have also
been put in place for the Company to encourage employees to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company and
promote the long- term growth of the Company. Furthermore,
the Group offers training programs for employees to upgrade
their skills and knowledge on a regular basis.
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MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's operating performance, financial position and
development prospects may be affected by risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly related to the Group’s
business. The risk factors listed below may lead to significant
differences in the Group's operating performance, financial
position and development prospects from expected or past
performance. These factors are not comprehensive. In addition
to the following, there may be other risks and uncertainties that
are not known by the Group or may not be significant at
present, but may become significant in the future.

Business Risk

The business of the Group’s property investment segment is
mainly leasing and property management, which may be
affected by fluctuations in market prices of rent and property
management fees, intensified competition and uncertainty of
tenant mobility.

The regulatory policies of the cultural business are constantly
being adjusted and improved, the industry faces fierce
competition and changeable tastes of audiences. If the Group
fails to adapt and respond successfully, it may adversely affect
the business performance and development prospects.

The Group’s investment performance in projects is mainly
determined by the operation of these invested companies. If the
invested companies fail to achieve the expected performance
target, it might adversely affect the Group’s business.

Policy Risk

In order to carry out kinds of business, the Group must abide by
various policies and regulations. Changes in policies and
regulations will affect the development of the Group'’s business,
such as the related authorities adjustments to online literatures
industry, which may lead to significant changes in operating
and investing positions of the Group’s business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Economic and Political Environment

Adverse macroeconomic changes and geopolitical risks may
affect the business environment and hence the operating
results. The Group will maintain a prudent attitude in tracking
macroeconomic changes and political environment and adjust
its operating strategies and business plans promptly in response
to different market conditions.

Banking Risk

In March 2023, the liquidity and solvency issues of Silicon Valley
Bank and other banks attracted widespread attention. So far,
the situation is still in the process of rapid change. This may
bring risks to the safety of the group’s funds. The management
will check the Group’s major banks from time to time to assess
liquidity risks.

Foreign Exchange Risk

On 31 December 2023, HK Dollars and US Dollars denominated
cash and cash equivalents held by the Group were
approximately HKD1.9 million and USD54 million. The Group
may be exposed to foreign exchange risk. However, The Group’s
main business is located in Chinese Mainland, and most of its
revenues and expenditures are settled in RMB. The Board does
not anticipate that future currency fluctuations will have a
significant impact on the Group’s business operations. The
Group will continue to monitor the foreign exchange risk from
time to time in accordance with the business development
needs so as to endeavor to maintain the cash value of the
Group.
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UPDATE ON THE FULFILLMENT OF
PERFORMANCE OF LANLANLANLAN FILM &
TELEVISION

As at the date of this announcement, the Group held an
aggregate of 29.52% share in Lanlanlanlan Film & Television,
which was acquired through capital increase, share acquisition
and equity compensation in 2016. As Lanlanlanlan Film &
Television and its subsidiaries did not meet the respective target
profit for 2017, 2018 and 2019, pursuant to the relevant
transaction documents, the Group shall be compensated by the
founders of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television by cash or equity. As
at the date of this announcement, the disposal of an aggregate
of 23.56% equity interests in Lanlanlanlan Film & Television to
the founder of the Lanlanlanlan Film & Television, has yet to be
completed. RMB5 million has been paid by the founders to the
Group for such disposal.

The founders of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television had undertaken
to the Group to perform its obligations in relation to the
compensation and the purchase of equity interest by 24 March
2022, but failed to fulfill such undertaking on time and the
Group has filed an arbitration application with the Shenzhen
Court of International Arbitration (“the SCIA”) on 15 March
2022, requesting for the payment of the equity repurchase
amount of RMB141,380,434.37 and penalty interest of
RMB59,043,116 by the founders of Lanlanlanlan Film &
Television to the Group, totalling RMB200,423,550.37. The case
was closed through mediation by the SCIA. According to the
arbitration mediation statement, the founders of Lanlanlanlan
Film & Television shall pay the Group a share repurchases fee
and interest penalty totaling RMB200,423,550.37 before 20
November 2022. Since the founders of Lanlanlanlan Film &
Television failed to fulfill the arbitration mediation agreement
on time, the Group has applied to the People’s Court for
enforcement and is currently in the enforcement procedure.

For further details of the capital increase, acquisition, disposal
and compensation, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 18 December 2017, 13 March 2018, 3
September 2018, 25 March 2019 and 25 March 2020 and the
circular of the Company dated 5 June 2019.
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DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

The following table sets out certain information of the members of
the Board as at the latest practicable date:

EERGNEEE

e

TREIRBAERATANEFLRAR
EFAR

Name Age Position Date of appointment
i FiR B A2 ZEEH

Mr. Liu Xiaosong 58 Executive Director and Chairman of the Board 2 October 2007
BIBEIA L & 58 5% HITEFREFTELIR 2007410 A2H
Mr. Ji Bo 44 Executive Director 15 July 2021

EAE e 44 5%, MITESR 202157 A15H
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong 59 Independent Non-executive Director 9 November 2007
53 e 59 7% BIUFRITES 200711 A9A
Ms. Wu Shihong 67 Independent Non-executive Director 27 March 2012
RERLL 67 5% BIFATES 201243 A 27H
Mr. Gao Shenglin 63 Independent Non-executive Director 20 September 2022
=B 63 5% BIFNTES 202249 H20H

Set out below are the particulars of each Director:
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Xiaosong (“Mr. Liu"), aged 58, an executive Director, the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Liu
graduated from Hunan university in the PRC in 1984, with a
Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering. In 1987, Mr. Liu graduated
from China Electric Power Research Institute in the PRC with a
Master’s degree in Engineering. In 1991, he studied at Tsinghua
university as a PhD research student. He has years of diversified
experience in the technology, Internet and investment. He is one of
the co-founders of Tencent Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) with the Stock Code: 00700.HK. He is also the non-
executive director of Inkeverse Group Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 03700. HK) and
the independent non-executive director of China Dongxiang (Group)
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 03818. HK). He is a founder of the Group and he has
been working for the company since it was founded in 2000, was
appointed as a Director on 2 October 2007. Mr. Liu is currently
responsible for the overall strategic planning and the whole business
operation and management of the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENRSAEEE

Mr. Liu is the director of Beijing Duomi Online Technology Co., Ltd.
("Beijing Duomi”), which is associate of the Company. He also acts as
the director of A8 Music Group Limited, Total Plus Limited, Smart
Trick Global Limited, which are subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Liu is the director of Knight Bridge Holdings Limited (“Knight
Bridge”), Ever Novel Holdings Limited (“Ever Novel”) and Prime
Century technology Limited (“Prime Century”), all of which have
interest in the shares of the Company disclosable under the Securities
and Futures ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Mr. Ji Bo (“Mr. Ji"), aged 44, an executive Director, and the Vice
President of the Company, joined the Company in 2018. Mr. Ji
graduated from North China Electric Power University (Beijng) in 2001
with a bachelor’s degree in Automation, and he graduated from
Renmin University of China with a Master’s degree in Law. He was
admitted as a Chinese lawyer and a Board Secretary of Shanghai
Stock Exchange in 2008 and 2016 respectively. Mr. Ji was legal
adviser at ZTE Corporation ({f HiBF AR (7 AR A &) from July 2003
to July 2005 and legal supervisor at MOBI Antenna Technologies
(SHENZHEN) Co., Ltd. (EE btk K &R £.4i5 CFII) B R 2 7)) from July
2005 to January 2007, and he engaged in legal affairs in the legal
department at Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd. (22 AE T AR A7) .
From May 2009 to January 2018, he acted as board secretary and
legal director at Shenzhen Kailide Technology Co., Ltd GE I T &l 37 1
BHE R 15 B BR A 7)) and administered securities and legal affairs. Mr.
Ji has more than a decade abundant experience of management in
corporate internal control, securities, compliance, and legal affairs.
Mr. Ji was appointed as an executive Director on 15 July 2021, and is
currently responsible for the risk control management of the Group.

Mr. Ji also acts as the director of Phoenix Success Limited which is a
subsidiary of the Company, and he is also the director of Feiyang
HongKong Limited, which is a associate of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (“Mr. Chan”), aged 59, is an independent
non-executive Director. Mr. Chan graduated from the university of
Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s degree in Social Sciences in 1988. He
was admitted as a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 1999 and 2005
respectively. From June 2004 to July 2006, Mr. Chan served as an
independent non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Water
Group Limited (formerly known as “Shang Hua Holding Limited”), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 00371.HK). From March 2001 to December 2007, Mr. Chan
served as an executive director of Hi Sun Technology (China) Limited
(“Hi Sun”), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 00818.HK). Between 2005 and 2010, Mr.
Chan served as an independent non-executive director of Biosino Bio-
technology and Science Incorporation, a company listed on the
Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
08247.HK). Mr. Chan currently serves as a joint company secretary of
Hi Sun, a joint company secretary of PAX Global technology Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 00327.HK) and an independent non-executive director of
Doumob, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 01917.HK). He has years of diversified experience in
auditing, business advisory and corporate management. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 9 November
2007.
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Ms. Wu Shihong (“Ms. Wu"), aged 67, is an independent non-
executive Director. Ms. Wu has extensive experience in the
information technology industry. She joined IBM China in 1985 and
held the position of General Manager for channel management of
IBM China from May 1997 to February 1998. She then acted as the
General Manager of Microsoft China Co. Ltd. until August 1999.
From December 1999 to December 2002, she was a Vice President of
TCL Corporation as well as the General Manager of TCL Information
Technology Industrial (Group) Co. Limited. She is an independent
non-executive director of TCL Electronics Holdings Limited (formerly
known as “TCL Multimedia Technology Holdings Limited”) (Stock
Code: 01070.HK) from June 2007 to August 2015, and she was an
Executive Director of TCL Cooperation Company limited (Stock Code:
000100.57) from August 2015 to September 2017. Ms. Wu was
appointed as an independent non- executive Director on 27 March
2012.

Mr. Gao Shenglin ( “Mr. Gao”) aged 63, is an independent non-
executive Director. Mr. Gao graduated from North China Electric
Power University in 1983 with a bachelor’s degree in electrical
engineering, graduated from China Electric Power Research Institute
in 1988 with a master’s degree in engineering, and graduated from
The George Washington University, Washington D.C., USA in 1993
with a master’'s degree in computer science. He has more than 35
years of extensive professional and managerial experience in the
energy industry, particularly in the power industry. Mr. Gao has
worked for Beijing Power Supply Bureau Electrical Power Design
Institute, the Import Office of China International Water & Electric
Corporation, the Beijing Representative Office of American AES
Corporation as the general manager of power plant projects. In 2002,
he founded Beijing Zhongrui Haotian Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. and served as the general manager. Mr. Gao was appointed as
an independent non- executive Director on 20 September 2022.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Company is comprised of all executive
Directors of the Company, namely, Mr. Liu Xiaosong and Mr. Ji Bo,
the particulars of which are set out in the section headed “Executive
Directors” in the preceding paragraphs.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) presents their
report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature
of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on
pages 7 to 10 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
Group's financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 87 to 223.

No interim dividend was declared for the six months ended 30 June
2023 and the Board does not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY AND HIGHLIGHT

A summary of the published results, assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out
on page 5 to 6. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in notes
29 and 30 to the financial statements, respectively.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s
articles of association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to the existing shareholders of the Company.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

There were no other purchases, sales or redemptions of Company’s
listed securities or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately RMB721,478,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenues from the five largest
customers of the Group accounted for approximately 25% of the
Group's total revenues while revenues from the largest customer for
the Group accounted for less than 9% of the Group’s total revenues.
In addition, for the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases from
the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less than 12% of the
Group's total purchases.

None of the Directors nor any of their respective associates (as defined
in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the "Listing Rules”)) or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) of the Company had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Directors: Mr. Liu Xiaosong, Mr. Ji Bo

Independent non-executive Directors: Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong, Ms. Wu
Shihong, and Mr. Gao Shenglin

In accordance with article 87(1) of the Articles, one third of the
Directors will retire and, being eligible, for re-election as Directors at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong,
Ms. Wu Shihong, and Mr. Gao Shenglin. As at the date of this report,
the Company still considers these independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 25 to 28 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract or an
appointment letter (as the case may be) with the Company for an
initial fixed term of three years commencing from their appointment
or re-designation, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meetings of the Company pursuant to Articles, and
will continue thereafter until terminated by (i) in cases of executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors, not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other or
payment in lieu of such notice, or (ii) in case of non-executive
Directors, not less than one month’s notice in writing by the non-
executive Director or the written notice issued by the Company with
immediate effect.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings of the Company. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report, there was or is permitted indemnity provision (within
the meaning in section 469 of the Hong Kong Companies ordinance)
in the articles of association of the Company being in force.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’
liability insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate
cover certain legal actions brought against its directors and officers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements and in the
section headed “Related party disclosures” in this report, no Director
nor a connected entity of a director had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or
any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party subsisting during or at
the year ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements and in the
section headed “Related party disclosures” in this report, no contract
of significance had been entered into between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Save as disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements, no contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Group by the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company and their associates had the following interests in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO")), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules and the Company’s own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities
("Own Code"):

Long positions in shares of the Company

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEHRE

R-BE-=F+-"F=+—0 AQRFEZ"
FETBRABRBESCHEAEBARTR
Higw £B (T& R EFH LBEKN (BEE
BIES71E) ([FEHRHEGH) EXVED) A
BRRARRRIEFS KBS K %E 35214
FTEFEMELMZRGEEERGN 2 #x
HIRE ERAIMERCIATE T BITAES
ETEARR S 2FESFA (BREFR]) RE
BEENEBREEEEARAIELNITEST
AI(TERITTAER D BMNE A AR KB RZAT
RO BB 2 ST

RERXFARBZ2HFR

Number of shares
R ER

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

Underlying
Shares (under

Name of Directors

Nature of interest

Ordinary shares

equity derivatives
of the Company)

Company’s issued
share capital’

(RAE QR RAE RAEQATERIT
FTETAZ) BAESELN
BEENA EatE TER HE R 5 Epal:A
Mr. Liu Xiaosong Founder of trust? 1,915,567,398 Nil £ 69.08%
LRI & E5EBISI A2
Beneficial owner 5,766,000 10,529,000° 0.59%
EmlEA A
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong Beneficial owner Nil £ 1,100,000° 0.04%
R MR e S A EmEE A
Ms. Wu Shihong Beneficial owner Nil £ 900,000° 0.03%
RETRZL EmEAA
Notes: I 5E -
1. The percentage of interest in the Company is calculated by reference to the DB ERATAR_E_=F+=_A=+—H

number of Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023 (i.e. 2,772,834,628

Shares).
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2. Mr. Liu Xiaosong is the founder of a family trust which is deemed under SFO
to be interested in all the shares held by Ever Novel, Prime Century and
Grand Idea Holdings Limited (“Grand Idea”) in the Company. As at 31
December 2023, Prime Century directly held 424,796,303 shares and Ever
Novel directly held 1,402,891,095 shares in the Company, and Grand Idea
directly held 87,880,000 in the Company.

3. Details of share options held by the Directors are shown in the section of
“Share Option Schemes”.

Long positions in associated corporations of the
Company

2. BB GEERRIKETZEIZIA  BEZFHFK
& {519 - #7485 B2 Ever Novel » Prime Century
% Grand Idea Holdings Limited ([ Grand Idea]) 7
RARFBBEZHABERDFHEEZ KT
Z=%+=ZA=+—H " Prime Century E ¥ %
B AN A R]424,796,303 (% & 17 - ifl Ever Novel B
B # B A2 7)1,402,891,095 % f% 1% » Grand
Idea & £ #5848 A 71 87,880,000 AR AR 17

3. EERARREZFER2MHERER S -

RAEQXFEBEE 2 FR

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

Name of associated Name of Registered capital/ total issued

corporations Directors Nature of Interest no. of shares held share capital
EEMBRE REBERTRAEAHR

HEEE SR E=pE ERME FEROHE HEZSBAEIL

Beijing Duomi’ Mr. Liu Beneficial owner 25,383,000? 28.71%

EREAK Bk E EmERA

Notes: P 3T

1. Beijing Duomi is a limited liability company incorporated in the PRC. As at 31 1. ItRZARERPEFMAIIZBRAAE R

December 2023, the Company was interested in 22.51% of the registered
capital of Beijing Duomi through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Kuaitonglian,
and therefore Beijing Duomi is an associated corporation of the Company.
Mr. Liu was directly interested in 28.71% of the shares of Beijing Duomi.

2. This represents the number of shares of Beijing Duomi held by Mr. Liu.

Save as disclosed, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors,
chief executives and their respective associates had any interest or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which he is taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or are required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be entered into the register
referred to therein; or are required, pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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T_=F+-_A=+—H8 ARAIBEBE2EW
BRRFEIITTIRBESERER AR ([TRBE])
RIERZ R ZAMBRAFEF2251% - B
It RZ K AR AT BB AR - 2L EER
B RZK28.71% KD ©

2. RIALEFEUARZAKZBHEUE -

BRENFIREEN RZZTEZ=F1+2H
=+—H BMEARREST FETHKRASR
REZ BB AEARR B RHE E AR ER
(EERBHFLBEGROIEXVED ARG - 18
RO REFTPHRERBELSRBERAE
XVEBETR8D R A E AN F KB ATH
Em K E (BIEREEF RIS 60 A B &
NEESEEREENERRAR)  LER
BESRBEKAEI2EARABBERL
R AR R BFETAIMANS
RATRE R TR R RKAE o
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The "Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” and the “2008 Share Option
Scheme” adopted by the Company in 2008 (collectively referred to as
“Lapsed Share Option Schemes”) have been automatically lapsed, and
no option may be granted subject to and/or according to the Lapsed
Share Option Schemes, save that the provisions under the Lapsed
Share Option Schemes remain in full force and effect in other aspects,
and that options granted under such schemes prior to termination
remain effective and exercisable in accordance with the terms of
issuance.

On 29 May 2018, the shareholders of the Company adopted a new
share option scheme (the “2018 Share Option Scheme”) (with
“Lapsed Share Option Schemes” collectively called “Share Option
Schemes”).

The terms of the 2018 Share Option Scheme are summarized as
follows:

(i) Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group
to grant Options to Eligible Participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group and any Invested
Entity.

Annual Report 2023
ZEC=FFR

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEHRE

ARt S

ARBAR-FZNFERMAN[BERAFEER
BhEtE R —ZT N \FEREE] (5
BRIXVERESEDHERSRY BT
BmBRE/HARE KRB RETE R
Pt o M TSR RO R T 81 153U P A E Atk
TEGAETRRNRER > BRKIEATRE
ZAtE D EHENBEREDA WA A RIZE#
ITIRR T IATTRE

RZE—N\FRA-TNE AR ABKRER
M7 —IEFNBERESE (2N \FER
REEE ) (R RREREA S AT EEAIE
ferEstElD) o

“E - N\FEBREE 2R T

() BH

EHEEARBERAAERZ2BERNBR
8 MMERREHARKEMERR 2
B AR - & AR B IS ok
BRESERZEEMPSIHAEERE
MEREERAEEIANER -

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASH B EBMBERAD R

35



DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEERE

(ii) Qualifying Participants

The Board may invite the following persons to take up the share

options:

(a)

(b)

any Eligible Employee;

any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

The eligibility of any of the Eligible Participants to the grant of

any Options shall be determined by the Directors from time to

time on the basis of the Directors’ opinion as to his/her

contribution to the development and growth of the Group and

any Invested Entity.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Annual

.
=
e —

Total number of Shares available for issue

Available for issue a maximum of 270,791,262 Shares under the
2018 Share Option Scheme, being 9.77% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to
each eligible participant in the Schemes within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the issued Shares of the Company for
the time being. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

Option period

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee, which
period may commence on the Offer Date but shall end in any
event not later than ten years from the date of grant of the
Option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.

Vesting period

There is no general requirement that an acquisition right must
be held for a minimum period before it can be exercised, and
the Board of Directors of Weiwei may impose restrictions on the
exercise of the acquisition right during the period of the
acquisition right

Acceptance of offer

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance
of the grant of an Option.
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(viii) Exercise price

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Board
or such committee, but shall be at least the highest of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Shares on the date of grant
of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing
price of the Shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

(ix) Remaining life of the 2018 Share Option
Scheme

The 2018 Share Option Scheme shall be valid for ten years from
the effective date (which takes effect from 29 May 2018 to 28
May 2028). For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
remaining life of the 2018 Share Option Scheme is around 4
years and 5 months.

Movements during the year

Under Lapsed Share Option Schemes of the Company, no share
options were granted and exercised, 8,910,000 share options lapse in
2023. On 31 December 2023, there are 8,715,000 outstanding share
options to exercised.

Under 2018 Share Option Scheme, no share options were granted
and lapsed, 32,446,000 share options were exercised and no share
option was canceled in 2023. On 31 December 2023, there are
24,642,368 outstanding share options to be exercised.

Under all Share Option Schemes, no share options were granted,
32,446,000 share options were exercised, 8,910,000 share options
lapsed and no share option was canceled in 2023 . On 31 December
2023, there are 33,357,368 outstanding share options to be
exercised, representing approximately 1.20% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and approximately
1.20% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
this report. As of 31 December 2023, the number of options available
for grant under 2018 Share Option Scheme were 157,807,262,
representing approximately 5.69% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report.
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The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share T XRFFBEAREPANBBRAETE T AR AR
options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme during the — ZE{T{FEEALHE 2 B E)IEN -
period:

(Closing price
Date of Exercise of shares
At Exercised  Granted Lapsed  Canceled At grantof End of price of immediately
Name/category of 1 January during during during during 31 December  share Vesting period of exercise share before date
participants 2023 theperiod' theperiod theperiod  the period 2023 options share options period options of grant
i
RZBZz% RZBZZfF  ERE R AHA
SRENZAER -A-B REAGR REREL RMEAXY RERERE ToASt-B BEEHM  BRESES fESELE BRETRE  ROAWKGE
HKS per share HKS per share
ErEk B8k
Directors of the Group
rERES
Liu Xiaosong 51,885,000 32,446,000 - 8,910,000 - 10,529,000
B
8,910,000 - - 8,910,000 - - 16May2016  One-third of the share 16 May2023 0.56 054
options granted will be
vested every 12-month
period starting from 16
May 2017
ZE-5F  BIE-tERATABR Z3Z=%
EATRE  iET-AASEERE  HATAR
0=57-BkE
1,715,000 - - - - 1,715,000 9 January 2018 One-half of the share 9 January 2025 057 0.56
2018 options granted will be
vested on 16 May 2018
and the other one-half on
16 May 2019
-0\ RIF-N\ERATABR  ZECDfE
-AAR ZE-hWERATAAR —ANA
HIBREREN A2
BlkE
18,543,000 9,730,000 - - - 8,813,000 20June 2019  The share options granted 20 June 2029 0.221 0.220
was fully vested at one
time on 20 June 2019
Z3-AF RIT-AERRZTR- ZECNE
NAZTE  REBEEREMAPE  AAZTE
g
19,982,000 19,982,000 - - - - 9September  The share options granted 9 September 0.167 0.166
2020 was fully vested at one 2030
time on 9 September 2020
Z2CRE RIECREAANE-R ZEZEE
AARE HEBEREG2IRR  AAAB
]
2735000 2,734,000 - - - 1,000 30 September  The share options granted 30 September 0.255 0.255
2021 was fully vested at one 2031
time on 30 September
2021
Z3-%  RZEZ-FAASTR- ZE=-fF
ARZTE  KEEBRERMIMEPE  ARSTA
g
Chan Yiu Kwong 1,100,000 - - - - 1,100,000
Rigx
1,100,000 - - - - 1,100,000 7May2018  One-fourth of the share  7May 2025 0439 044
options granted will be
vested every 12-month
period starting from 7 May
2018
ZT-)\f HZT-\FRAtAR: -3-R%
IAtA BT_EAGRERLY LAtH
M7z -HRE
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(Closing price
Date of Exercise of shares
At Exercised  Granted Lapsed  Canceled At grantof End of price of immediately
Name/category of 1 January during during during during  31December  share Vesting period of exercise share before date
participants 2023 theperiod' theperiod theperiod  the period 2023 options share options period options of grant
b33
it St K22z BRE R AHA
SEENEARR -A-B REAGRE REREL RMEAXN REREE TSAZt-B RREHM  BRESER fEHELE BRETRE  ROWKHE
HKS per share HKS per share
ELEk ALEk
W Shihong 900,000 - - - - 900,000
Rth
900,000 - - - - 900,000 7May2018  One-fourth of the share  7May 2025 0.439 0.4
options granted will be
vested every 12-month
period starting from 7 May
2018
Z2-\% BIE-)\FRAtERH CZ-RfF
LAtH BT_EAGEERLY LAtA
W52 —EikiE
Subtotal 53,885,000 32,446,000 - 8910000 - 12,529,000
At
Employees of an associate of the Group?
AEERENAESR’
20,828,368 B 2 N B 20828368  28June 2019 50%, 30% and 20% of the 28 June 2029 0219 0219
share options granted will
be vested at 30 June 2019,
30 June 2020 and 30 June
2021, respectively
Z3-AF ZE-AERASTRZ ZEDNE
AA TZEERAZTRAC A
ZtNE  EZ-E5R=tHAE 1A
1850% * 30%120%
Subtotal 20,828,368 - - - - 20828368
At
TOTAL 4713368 32,446,000 - 8910,000 - 33397368
ait
Note: MisE -
1. The weighted average closing price immediately before the date on which 1. BREEETHEEREE BN MNEESKTE

the director’s options were exercised was HK$0.220 per share.

The associate indicates Beijing Zhangwen Information Technology Limited,
for which the Company granted 59,664,000 share options to 32 employees
of Beijing Zhangwen on 28 May 2019. The Group holds 35% shares of
Beijing Zhangwen and shares profit or loss of Beijing Zhangwen every year.
The pragmatic efforts of the team of Beijing Zhangwen, the Grantees have
made significant contributions to the business operation and performance
growth of Beijing Zhangwen. In order to express thanks to the Grantees for
their efforts and contributions to the Group, and to motivate and retain
them to continue their efforts and contributions to the future development
of Beijing Zhangwen, which will lay a good foundation for the sustainable
development of the Group, the Board has resolved to grant options to the
Grantees. The Board considers that the granting of share options to
employees of the associate is in the long-term interests of the Group and is
also consistent with the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, providing
incentives and rewards to directors, employees and other eligible persons.
Reference are made to the announcements published on 28 May 2019 and
30 August 2022 by the Company.
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Please refer to note 30 to the financial statements for further
information of the Share Option Scheme and the value of share
options granted.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not enter into
any equity-linked agreement, nor did any such agreement subsist,
save as disclosed in the sections headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEMES".

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2023, the persons or corporations (other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company) who have interest or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFo or have otherwise notified to the Company are
as follows:

Name of substantial

shareholder Nature of interest

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEHRE

EHBREAENE-THBREREBR
BNEER2HMBHRAME30 -

P& HE H 99 17 =%
HE—_Z2-_=F+-_A=+—H01EE &
[REPCAERT &8 —EnFr I EE I REE B E

RIS AR AR B 10 - TRERRE RS -

TERRER

RZBE-=F+-"A=+—H8 U FALH
DE (ARBREEREBITHRABRIN BRA
NARG REERGO S - HAEDENIRE
FHENMEEEAEIBIEARRIETEZE
SRR EMEEARRZERIRAR

Approximate
percentage of
Number of interest in the
Ordinary shares

(long positions)

Company’s issued
share capital’

RAEAB S &IT

TERRER EEMtE ZERHE (FR) RASHKEIL’

HSBC International trustee (other than a bare trustee)? 1,915,567,398 69.08%
REA I ZFEA)?

River Road Interest in controlled corporation? 1,915,567,398 69.08%
SR A B

Knight Bridge Interest in controlled corporation? 1,827,687,398 65.91%
REHEE R

Ever Novel Interest in controlled corporation? 424,796,303 15.32%
RIEGEE R
Beneficial owner? 1,402,891,095 50.59%
EnEA A3

Prime Century Beneficial owner? 424,796,303 15.32%
EnB A3
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Notes:

The percentage of interest in the Company is calculated by reference to the
number of Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023 (i.e. 2,772,834,628
Shares).

HSBC International trustee Limited (“HSBC International”) is the trustee of
family trusts of Mr. Liu, which, through intermediate holding companies
(including but not exclusively River Road, Knight Bridge, Ever Novel, Prime
Century and Grand Idea), exercise or control the exercise of one third or
more voting power at the general meetings of such companies and is
deemed under the SFO to be interested in the shares of the Company held
by such companies (as at 31 December 2023, 1,915,567,398 Shares in total).

As at 31 December 2023, Prime Century directly held 424,796,303 shares
and Ever Novel directly held 1,402,891,095 shares in the Company. Ever
Novel was entitled to exercise or control the exercise of one third or more of
the voting power at the general meetings of Prime Century and was deemed
to be interested in the 424,796,303 shares in the Company held directly by
Prime Century.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors are

not aware of any other person or corporation other than the Directors

or chief executive of the Company whose interests are set out in the

section “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests in shares and

underlying shares” above having an interest or short position in the

shares or underlying shares of the Company representing 5% or more

of the issued share capital of the Company which is required to be

recorded pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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BRITROEE 2,772,834,628 k& HIGZ

2. HSBC International Trustee Limited ([ HSBC
International ]) BRI L ERKETEZZFEA -
MZzERKELEBRNIERA R (BIFEETR
B River Road, Knight Bridge, Ever Novel, Prime
Century X Grand ldea B R ZE R AIRR A E
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AR I 75 5 K A G &5 - HSBC International 18
REBRZERAFEZARERND (R=2T==
F+ZA=+—H" 4&1915567,398K) +
HE#ER -

3. RZTZ=F+=ZA=+—8 " Prime Century
HEEBARRQT 424,796,303 fEAL(D © Ever Novel
HEF A AR RQE1,402,891,095 8% A% {3 ° Ever
Novel 7 # 74 Prime Century i 58 K & 17 {8 3 4%
TE=92— A EZRERE  ARERAER
Prime Century B # % B 2 A2 7] 424,796,303 i%
MRip AR -
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Contractual Arrangements

Due to restrictions in the PRC laws and regulations on foreign
investment in businesses providing telecommunications value-added
services and mobile online game services in the PRC, the Group has
entered into a number of contracts (“Structure Contracts”) with
certain PRC operating companies (“OPCOs") solely for the purpose of
operating the Group’s relevant businesses in the PRC (”Contractual
Arrangements”). Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements, the
Company acquired the de factor control over the business operations
of the OPCOs, and is entitled to economic benefits generated from
the business operations of the OPCOs. In this regard, the Board is of
opinion that the Company is able to consolidate the financial results
of these OPCOs into the financial results of the Group as if they are
the subsidiaries of the Company.

The Company entered into the agreements about Huadong Feitian,
Kuaitonglian, Yunhai Qingtian (the “2004 Structure Contracts”) in
2004. In 2015, in light of the new requirements of the Stock
Exchange and, to keep align with the recent practices commonly
adopted by other listed companies in relation to the terms and
conditions of the structure contracts to strengthen the control of the
Company over the OPCOs, the Group has entered into new contracts
(the 2015 Structure Arrangements”) to replace the 2004 Structure
Contracts in order to align with such new regulatory requirements
and the recent practices. The Group entered into the agreements
about Mu77SH in 2018 (“2018 Structure Contracts”), pursuant to
which Yunging Network, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, may exercise effective control over the finance and
operations of Mu77SH, and is fully entitled to economic benefits
generated from Mu77SH. Because of the change of registered
shareholders of Huadong Feitian, the Group entered into the new
agreements (“2021 Structure Agreement”) in relation to Mu77SH on
26 February 2021 to replace Mu77SH (2018 Structure Contract”).
On 23 December 2022, A8 Music (A8 Music Group Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company), Huadong Feitian, Blueowl
(Blueow! limited), Tianjin Muba (Tianjin Muba Business Management
Consulting Center (Limited Partnership)), Blueowlgames
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(Blueowlgames Limited), Mu77SH (Shanghai Mu77 Network
Technology Co., Ltd.) and WFOE (Yunging Network Technology
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.) entered into an Equity Transfer Agreement,
pursuant to which , (i) Blueow! agreed to acquire and A8 Music
agreed to dispose of 51% equity interest in Blueowlgames, for a
consideration of RMB286,000; and (ii) Tianjin Muba agreed to acquire
and Huadong Feitian agreed to dispose of Mu77SH 51% equity
interest for a consideration of RMB346,000. As of the date of this
report, the necessary administration registration and filing for the
share Disposal have been completed. Since A8 Music is no longer a
shareholder of Blueowlgames, and Blueowlgames indirectly holds
100% of WFOE's equity. Therefore, WFOE, Mu77SH and the VIE
agreement signed between shareholders of Mu77SH will no longer be
binding on the Company. (The “2015 Structure Agreement” of
Kuaitonglian and Yunhai Qingtian, and the “2020 Structure
Agreement” of Huadong Feitian are collectively referred to as the
“Structure Agreements”).
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The following figure sets out the valid Contractual Arrangements up 3B EHBAHEARE B ERNEHTHE -

to the date of this report:

Offshore

The Company
(Cayman Islands)
¥ /NC]
(FE#HS)

B

Onshore 100%

]‘—ﬂ
s Cash River/Finger Fun
(wholly-foreign-owned

enterprises)

Registered shareholders

fEfE,/H BRBR
(SNEBERE)
N
Technicaland | !
consultation : : Service fee i,
services ! I %
kg | R
REARE
v |

Huadong Feitian/Kuaitonglian/Yunhai Qingtian

EPR

(OPCO)
R/m EEER
(@A)

——> refers to direct legal and actual
ownership of the equity interest;

ERETNERIEMERHAE

- ---> refers to contractual relationship;

EENBER
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_ _ refers to the wholly-foreign-owned enterprise exercises control
over the registered shareholders and OPCOs by virtue of
BINEBERRBG

(i) exercising power of attorney/proxy agreements pertinent
to the shareholder rights of the OPCOs;
TEEENRMARRENNRES REHZ

(i) acquiring the exclusivity options of the equity interests of
the OPCOs in whole or in part; and
WHELENR 2 MM REFBREEE &

(i)  pledging the equity interests held by the registered
shareholders in the OPCOs.
BCERRFBANZSEQARRENE M KZEHE LK
RMEERT -

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASH B EBMBERAD R

45



46

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEERE

Particulars of OPCOs and its registered shareholders:

M

Shenzhen Huadong Feitian Network Development Co., Ltd. (&3l
MEERAPE F T AR 2 A)) (“Huadong Feitian”) is a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 22 May 2000,
the registered shareholders of which are Mr. Liu Xiaofeng (75%)
and Mr. Li Wei (25%). Huadong Feitian and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the provision of internet information service
property investment and music performance.

Shenzhen Kuaitonglian technology Co., Ltd. Gl i@ E Rl
R AR A &) (“Kuaitonglian”) is a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 10 May 2004, the registered
shareholders of which are Mr. Zhang Shougi (80%) and Ms. Ma
Hongxia (20%). Kuaitonglian and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in investment business.

Shenzhen Yunhai Qingtian Cultural Broadcasting Co., Ltd. (%
JHEBIBERAEZEEFRRXF) (“Yunhai Qingtian”) is a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 9 December
2004, the registered shareholder of which is Mr. Cao Aiguo
(100%). Yunhai Qingtian and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in investment business.

Details of wholly-foreign-owned enterprises:

)

Cash River Information technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (£t
iz B8 ORI AR 2 A (“Cash River”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group;

Shenzhen Finger Fun Network technology Co., Ltd. (&I $5
B T AR RHE B R A R]) (“Finger Fun”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF THE MAJOR TERMS OF
STRUCTURE CONTRACTS

Set o

ut below are the Contractual Arrangements entered into

between each wholly-foreign-owned enterprise and OPCO, including
various specific agreements.

(1

(2)

Annual

— = —
— =

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement/Exclusive
Business Cooperation and Service Agreement

OPCOs entered into the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements with wholly-foreign-owned enterprises, pursuant to
which wholly-foreign-owned enterprises provide technical
support, business support and related consultancy services
which include but not limited to technical service, business
consultation, equipment leasing, market consultation, system
integration, product research and development and system
maintenance, and intellectual property rights. Without prior
written consent by the wholly-foreign-owned enterprises within
the validity of the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
the OPCOs are not permitted to receive any other services
provided by any third party, in which case, the wholly-foreign-
owned enterprises are entitled to appoint a third party to
provide services to the OPCOs. Furthermore, the wholly-foreign-
owned enterprises provide certain technical, business, and
consultation services to the OPCOs, and charge services fees,
which shall be determined by both parties to ensure that the
wholly-foreign-owned enterprises are entitled to economic
benefits under the Contractual Arrangements.

Power of Attorney/Proxy Agreements

The registered shareholders entered into the power of attorney/
proxy agreements with wholly-foreign-owned enterprises,
respectively, pursuant to which the registered shareholders
agree to authorize any person designated by the wholly-foreign-
owned enterprises to exercise all of their rights and powers as
shareholders, including convening and attending the
shareholders’ meeting, exercising the voting right and other
shareholder’s rights and powers, without seeking consent from
the registered shareholders, and agree and undertake that the
wholly-foreign-owned enterprises agree not to exercise all of
their powers and rights attached to the equity interests as held
by them. With effect from the date of signing, the proxy
agreements will remain in force until the registered shareholders
are no longer the shareholders of the OPCOs. The power of
attorney will remain effective to the extent that each of the
registered shareholders holds the equity interests in the OPCOs.
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(3)

(4)

Share Disposition and Exclusive Option to
Purchase Agreement/Exclusive Option to
Purchase Agreement

The registered shareholders irrevocably grant the wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises the exclusive options to make, or
designate one person or many persons to make, to the extent
as permitted under the PRC laws, one or more purchases of the
equity interests in whole or in part of the OPCOs as held by the
registered shareholders, at a purchase price of RMB1.00, or at
the minimum option price as permitted by the PRC laws (in case
that the minimum price as permitted by the then PRC laws in
effect is higher than RMB1.00). The OPCOs and registered
shareholders undertake that they will (including) neither directly
or indirectly distribute dividends to the shareholders of the
OPCOs without consent by the wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises, nor make acquisitions or any investments in any
person. The Share Disposition and Exclusive option to Purchase
Agreement/Exclusive option to Purchase Agreement will always
remain effective until all of the equity interests held by the
registered shareholders in the OPCOs are transferred to the
wholly-foreign-owned enterprises or the persons so designated
by them.

Equity Interest Pledge Agreement

The registered shareholders, OPCOs, and wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises OPCOs entered into the Equity Interest Pledge
Agreements, respectively, pursuant to which the registered
shareholders agree to pledge all of their respective equity
interest in the OPCOs to the wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
as secured interests for the performance of contractual liabilities.
The pledge relating to OPCOs takes effect upon being registered
with the relevant administration for commerce and industry,
and remain effective until the registered shareholders and
OPCOs fully fulfil all of the obligations under the relevant
Contractual Arrangements.
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Each Structure Contract contains the clause governing settlement of
dispute, pursuant to which, the Structure Agreement is governed by
the PRC laws and regulations and construed under the PRC laws. In
case of any dispute arising from the performance of or in connection
with the Structure Agreement, any party thereto shall be entitled to
submit such dispute to the arbitration commissions in the PRC (which
are China International Economic and trade Arbitration Commission
South China Branch in case of Huadong Feitian, Kuaitonglian, Yunhai
Qingtian, Cash River, Finger Fun, and their respective registered
shareholders) for arbitration in accordance with the then arbitration
rules in effect. The arbitration shall be kept confidential, during which,
the language is Chinese. The arbitration ruling shall be final and bear
binding effects on each party thereto.

RISKS RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

The PRC government may determine that the
Structure Contracts do not comply with the
applicable laws and regulations

The Foreign Investment Law of the PRC{(FFEE A R EMEI N ILE
J&)) (the “FIL"), which was adopted at the Second Session of the
thirteenth National People’s Congress of the PRC on 15 March 2019
and came into force as of 1 January 2020, provides that “foreign
investment” refers to the investment activities in the PRC carried out
directly or indirectly by foreign individuals, enterprises or other
organizations (the “Foreign Investors”), including the following: (i)
Foreign Investors establishing foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC
alone or collectively with other investors; (ii) Foreign Investors
acquiring shares, equities, properties or other similar rights of Chinese
domestic enterprises; (iii) Foreign Investors investing in new projects in
the PRC alone or collectively with other investors; and (iv) Foreign
Investors investing through other ways prescribed by laws and
regulations or the State Council. The State Council adopts the
management system of pre-establishment national treatment and
negative list for foreign investment. The “pre-establishment national
treatment” refers to granting to Foreign Investors and their
investments, in the stage of investment access, the treatment no less
favorable than that granted to domestic investors and their
investments; and the “negative list” refers to special administrative
measures for access of foreign investment in specific fields as
stipulated by the State Council. The State Council will grant national
treatment to foreign investments outside of the negative list. The
Negative List 2021 will be applicable throughout 2023, the Negative
List 2021 was approved by the State Council and released by the
relevant authorities on 27 December 2021. After the FIL came into
effect, the FIL replaced the Foreign- owned Enterprise Law and the
Sino-foreign Equity Joint Venture Enterprise Law of the PRC.
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Possible impact of the FIL

The FIL does not expressly stipulate the VIE structure as a form of
foreign investment, we cannot assure you that future laws,
administrative regulations or provisions to be issued by the State
Council will not deem the VIE structure as a way of foreign
investment, and then whether our VIE Structure will be deemed to be
in violation of the foreign investment access requirements remains
uncertain. If the VIE Structure is classified as a way of foreign
investment, the Group may be required to terminate the Structure
Contracts and dispose of the business conducted by OPCOs.

The Board will monitor the development of the FIL and discuss with
the PRC Legal Adviser on a regular basis in order to assess its possible
impacts on the Structure Contracts and the business of the Company.
In case there would be material impacts on the Group’s or OPCOs's
business, the Company will timely publish announcements in relation
to (i) any updates or material changes to the FIL and (i) if any updates
or material changes to the FIL is implemented, a clear description and
analysis of the law, any material impact on the Company’s operations
and financial position and specific measures to be taken to comply
with the law (supported by advice from the PRC Legal Adviser).
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The Structure Contracts may not be as effective as
direct ownership in providing control over OPCOs

The Structure Contracts may not be as effective as direct ownership in
providing the Group with control over OPCOs. If the Group has direct
ownership of OPCOs, it will be able to exercise its rights as a
shareholder to effect changes in the board of directors of OPCOs.
However, under the Structure Contracts, the Group relies on the
performance by the Registered Shareholders of their obligations under
the Structure Contracts to exercise control over OPCOs.

In addition, if the Registered Shareholders or OPCOs fail to perform
their respective obligations under the Structure Contracts or otherwise
have disputes with the Group, the Group may have to initiate
arbitration or other legal proceedings, which involve significant
uncertainty. There can be no assurance that the outcome will be in
the Group’s favour and it may adversely affect the Group’s ability to
control OPCOs.

The Registered Shareholders may potentially have a
conflict of interests with the Group

The Group’s control over OPCOs is based on the contractual
arrangement under the Structure Contracts. Therefore, conflict of
interests of the Registered Shareholders will adversely affect the
interests of the Company. Pursuant to the Proxy Agreements, the
Registered Shareholders irrevocably appointed wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises or their designee as their exclusive agent and authorised
person to exercise their rights as the shareholders of OPCOs.
Therefore, it is unlikely that there will be potential conflict of interests
between the Group and the Registered Shareholders. However, in the
unlikely event that conflict of interests arises and cannot be resolved,
the Group will consider removing and replacing the Registered
Shareholders through procuring wholly-foreign-owned enterprises to
exercise their option under the Share Disposal and Exclusive option to
Purchase Agreements.
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The Structure Contracts may be subject to scrutiny
of the PRC tax authorities and transfer pricing
adjustments and additional tax may be imposed

The Group may face material adverse tax consequence if the PRC tax
authorities determine that the arrangement under the Structure
Contracts was not entered into on an arm'’s length basis. If the PRC
tax authorities determine that the Structure Contracts were not
entered into on an arm’s length basis, they may adjust income and
expenses of wholly- foreign-owned enterprises and/or OPCOs for PRC
tax purposes, which could result in higher tax liabilities on wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises and/or OPCOs.

The operating and financial results of the Group may be materially
and adversely affected if the tax liabilities of OPCOs or wholly-foreign-
owned enterprises increase significantly or if they are required to pay
interest on late payments and other penalties.

Certain terms of the Structure Contracts may not be
enforceable under PRC laws

The Structure Contracts are governed by the PRC laws and all disputes
which cannot be resolved by negotiations will be submitted for
arbitration, whose ruling will be final and binding. Accordingly, the
Structure Contracts would be interpreted in accordance with the PRC
laws and disputes would be resolved in accordance with PRC legal
procedures. The uncertainties in the PRC legal system could limit the
Group's ability to enforce the Structure Contracts. In the event that
the Group is unable to enforce the Structure Contracts, or if the
Group suffers significant time delays or other obstacles in the process
of enforcing them, it would be very difficult to exert control over
OPCOs.

In the event that OPCOs or any of the Registered Shareholders
breaches the terms of the Structure Contracts, the Group may not be
able to obtain sufficient remedies in a timely manner, and its ability to
exert effective control over OPCOs could be materially and adversely
affected.
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A substantial amount of costs and time may be
involved in transferring the ownership of OPCOs to
the Group under the Share Disposal and Exclusive
Option to Purchase Agreements

The Share Disposal and Exclusive option to Purchase Agreements
granted wholly foreign-owned enterprises or their designee an
irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all or part of the equity
interest in OPCOs through a single or a series of transaction(s) at
RMB1.00, or if the minimum price allowed by the PRC laws, then in
effect is higher than RMB1.00, then the equity interest purchase price
shall be the lowest price allowed by the PRC laws.

In case wholly foreign-owned enterprises exercises their option to
acquire all or part of the equity interests in OPCOs under the Share
Disposal and Exclusive option to Purchase Agreements, such
acquisition may only be conducted to the extent as permitted by the
applicable PRC laws and will be subject to necessary approvals and
relevant procedures under the PRC laws. In addition, such acquisition
may be subject to a minimum price limitation (such as an appraised
value for the equity interests in OPCOs or other price limitations as
imposed by the applicable PRC laws. Further, a substantial amount of
costs and time may be involved in transferring the ownership of
OPCOs to wholly foreign-owned enterprises or their designee, which
may have a material adverse impact on the Group’s business,
prospects and results of operation.

The Company does not have any insurance which
covers the risks relating to the Structure Contracts
and the transactions contemplated thereunder

The insurance of the Group does not cover the risks relating to the
Structure Contracts and the transactions thereunder and the
Company has no intention to purchase any insurance in this regard. If
any risk arises from the Structure Contracts in the future, such as
those affecting the enforceability of the Structure Contracts and the
operation of OPCOs, the results of the Group may be adversely
affected. However, the Group will monitor the relevant legal and
operational environment from time to time to comply with the
applicable laws and regulations. In addition, the Group will implement
relevant internal control measures to reduce the operational risk. the
Group will continue evaluating the feasibility, the cost and the benefit
of insuring the transactions under the Structure Contracts.
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Material Change

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, there has been
no material change in the contractual arrangements/or adoption of
such contracts.

Unwinding of Structure Contracts

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, there is no
unwinding of any of the Structured Contracts or failure to unwind
when the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Structured
Contracts are removed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or substantial shareholders of the Company or
any of their respective associates has engaged in any business that
competes or may compete with the business of the Group. on 26 May
2008, each of the then controlling shareholders (within the meaning
under the Listing Rules) of the Company, namely Mr. Liu Xiaosong,
Prime Century, Ever Novel and Grand Idea, entered into a deed of
non-competition (the “Deed of Non-competition”) in favor of the
Company (for itself and the benefits of other members of the Group),
pursuant to which he/it has undertaken to the Company that he/it
would not, and would procure that his/its associates would not,
during the restricted period set out below, directly or indirectly, either
on his/its own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any
person, firm or company, among other things, carry on, participate or
be interested or engaged in or acquire or hold (in each case whether
as a shareholder, partner, agent, employee or otherwise) any business
which is or may be in competition with the business of any member
of the Group from time to time. Details of the non-competition
undertaking have been set out in the subsection headed “Non-
competition undertaking” under the section headed “Relationship
with Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus.
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The “restricted period” stated in the Deed of Non-competition refers
to the period during which:

(1) the shares of the Company remain listed on the Stock Exchange;

(2)  regarding any member of the then controlling shareholders, so
long as he or his associates directly or indirectly holds an equity
interest in the Group; and

(3) the then controlling shareholders jointly are entitled to exercise
or control the exercise of not less than 30% in aggregate of the
voting power at general meetings of the Company.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 24 April
2009 and 9 July 2009, as a result of the reorganization of the
shareholdings in the Company by certain shareholders of the
Company, Prime Century and Grand Idea have ceased to become the
controlling shareholders of the Company respectively, but they remain
to be bound by the provision of the deed of non-competition.

The Company has received the annual confirmations from each of the
then controlling shareholders of the Company in respect of their
respective compliance with the terms of the Deed of Non-
competition.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of three members and all members are
independent non-executive directors, the Chairman Mr. Chan Yiu
Kwong has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
financial matters. The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee
are for reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process and
internal control system of the Group.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023, and discussed with the auditors and management
the accounting policies and internal controls adopted by the Group.
There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the accounting treatment adopted by the
Company.

Annual Report 2023

—ER=FFR

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEHRE

PEFRIFEAPTA R [FRFIH ] 45 -

(1) ARBRADDREE AP L EAR

2) BMEMEBEREEBRKAENS  BEX
BENBBEADEERKAESEAEE
PRAEEAR : R

() EBRERRRARBEITRIIEHITRE
RRAGIRERE LA DR30% K ER
E@/Hﬁﬁ;] ©

WA RABRBAZTETNFENA =TT
BEZZETAFELANANAERE  ER
RARETRETARARARENER
Prime Century & Grand Idea 7 5 T~ B A AR A &)
MIERRARER - BN R B P TR F A R

ARAEKHEESERBRERESE A
BB R R R -

BEZLREBE

\|
/!

BERZEeRM=UKEEAN HRBILFE
HWTEF IRRBATEABEENER
ERMMBERER BERZEQIERE
REHNIREEASENMBRBBEURA
EBYE I R AR

ARRZBERZEQ@EBEHAREEE_ZT
TEF T AT HLEFEZEERERS
FBHmE TEZBMMERESwmAEE
PIERME ST BER ABEHEEHE -EF
EEERZESEARAKMNETRIES
EIETR DU

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASH B EBMBERAD R

55



DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEERE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no subsequent event between the end of the reporting
period (i.e 31 December 2023) and the date of this Annual Report
that would cause material impact on the Group.

AUDITORS

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by the Company’s auditors, Ernst
& Young, who will retire in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the Company will
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

There has been no change of the auditors of the Company in the past
three years.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Liu Xiaosong
Chairman

Hong Kong
22 March 2024
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The Board and the management of the Company are committed to
the maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
procedures. The Company believes that good corporate governance
provides a framework that is essential for effective management, a
healthy corporate culture, and successful business growth and
enhancing shareholders’ value.

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasize a
quality Board, sound internal controls, and transparency and
accountability to all shareholders. Throughout the year ended 31
December 2023, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with all code provisions, and where applicable, the
recommended best practices as set out in the CG Code, except for
the deviation from code provision C.2.1 the Company will continue to
enhance its corporate governance practices appropriate to the
conduct and growth of its business and to review its corporate
governance practices from time to time to ensure that they comply
with the statutory and professional standards and align with the latest
developments.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. the Board also
oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and performance
as well as performs the corporate governance duties.

The Board has delegated to the senior management the authority and
responsibilities for the day-to-day management and operations of the
Group. In addition, the Board has established the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, and
has delegated to these Board committees various responsibilities as
set out in their respective terms of reference.
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All Directors have full and timely access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. The senior
management of the Company provides all directors with monthly
updates on the Company’s performance, position and prospects in
sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties. Each Director knows that he is normally able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at
the Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.

All directors take decisions objectively in the interests of the Company
and have carried out their duties in good faith and in compliance with
the standards of applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

Delegation of Management Functions

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy matters,
overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflicts of interest), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the CEO and the senior management.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the aforesaid officers. The Board has
given clear directions as to such officers’ powers and responsibilities,
and periodically reviews their delegated functions and work tasks to
ensure such arrangements remain appropriate to the Company's
needs. The Board has the full support of the CEO and the senior
management to discharge its responsibilities.
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises 5 members, consisting of 2 executive
Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors. None of the
members of the Board is related to one another.

Three Board Committees, namely, Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, have been established with
specific terms of reference which were posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has at all time
met the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules relating to having
at least one-third of independent non-executive Directors, comprising
at least three independent non- executive Directors and having one
independent non-executive Director with the appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial management
expertise.

The list of all Directors is set out under “Corporate Information” on
page 2 of this annual report and all corporate communications issued
by the Company from time to time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The
independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified in all
corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant to
the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

The non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business and
financial expertise, experience and independent judgment to the
Board. Through active participation in Board meetings, taking the lead
in managing issues involving potential conflicts of interest and serving
on Board committees, all non-executive Directors have made various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

Annual Report 2023
ZEC=FFR

TRERME

ETERB

EFQHNHAAENEAN  BREMEBNT
EER=RBUNTES HEEANES
eREHE S —ZKE GBI -

ExgITR=[E%E8g BREEXZES
FMEZEeMRERLZES AEREEFS

BENBE - ARESEFISHN AR -

RAEBE_T_=F+_A=+—HILFE"
ARRBETFLEWRAMNER - EFEGgE2D
= —KEABMNIIENTEE BEREED

—EZBYNTES HPAEL—FBUIFE
HOE=ZAEEE
BB IR K5 o

EXEBANRGE RIEH

EREZLEHINAERE2AIRARER]
—ERARFRE EHRU TR ELNOAE
NAAR-REBELTHRA - BIIFATES
TR A RBAABAAREER -

ARADWEIBEBUIFATESERELTR
AR EBELBAAG BN FERRE -
ARARBE RIELETRBETIIB LM
3l BB FATES BB -

HUTEFTHEEERNEZREXTRAEB R
BTG RO AN (B A AR B - Y0 4R 98 ST H I o

AAA-i

ERIINTESTEFRBEGRUEETS SR
FTERRESREENZERNEET  EE
EXZEENE EARQRINERERE
HZ T EAR -

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASH B EBMBERAD R

59



60

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Company’s articles of association.
The Nomination Committee as a whole is responsible for reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of Directors, monitoring
the appointment and succession planning of Directors and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

Each of the executive Directors is engaged on a service contract for a
term of three years. The appointment may be terminated by not less
than three months’ written notice or payment in lieu of such notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a specific term of three years
and is subject to retirement by rotation once every three years. And
they should be re-appointed at any annual general meeting of the
Company during their term of office. The appointment may be
terminated by not less than three month’s written notice or payment
in lieu of such notice.

In accordance with the Company’s amended articles of association
which were passed and adopted at at the Annual General Meeting
dated 26 May 2023, all Directors of the Company are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new
director appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the
Board shall submit himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at
the first general meeting or the first annual general meeting
respectively after appointment.

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board regularly to ensure that the Board has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee will
carry out the selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time
commitments of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An external
recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment and
selection process where necessary. The recommendations of the
Nomination Committee are then put to the full Board for decision.
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The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of the
Directors Mr. Ji Bo and Ms. Wu Shihong standing for re- election at
the next forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The
Company’s circular dated 17 April 2024 contains detailed information
of the directors standing for re-election.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives formal, tailored and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
he/she will get a package setting out the duties and responsibilities of
director under the Listing Rules, the Companies ordinance and other
related ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong
Kong, including the Guidelines for Directors issued by the Hong Kong
Companies Registry and the Hong Kong Institute of Directors,
supported by lawyers explanation, so that he/she is fully aware of his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements. Meantime, he/she will have chance
to communicate with executive directors as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company.

Development and training of Directors is an ongoing process. During
the year, (1) the Company Secretary irregularly circulates details of
training courses which may be of interest to Directors. All Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses with appropriate
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the Directors, at the
Company'’s expense; (2) the Company Secretary also irregularly send
relative laws, regulations and latest cases to directors in order to assist
the directors to perform their duties appropriately; (3) the Company
encourages the Directors to participate in continuing professional
development training, the Company Secretary assists them to handle
the relevant formalities, and the Company would bear all the relevant
costs.

The Company has received written confirmations from all of the
Directors on their training records for the year ended 31 December
2023; the Board has reviewed and evaluated such training records in
the board meeting dated 22 March 2024.
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According to the aforementioned records, a summary of the training

received in 2023 by the Directors is set out as follows:

Name of Directors

BESHAR

BIETAEREK — T _=FEEHEBERX
ERFIFEOH2EBFRMOT

Attending or

participating

briefings/

seminars/

conferences/

workshops

relevant to the

Reading Company'’s
regulatory  businesses and
updates directors’ duties
g 2HEH

ARAEBH

ESHE R

TEMEN

REAEREEE [LE: =P
REEHER HE as

Executive Directors
Mr. Liu Xiaosong
Mr. Ji Bo

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong

Ms. Wu Shihong

Mr. Gao Shenglin
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Board Meetings

Code provision C.5.1 prescribes that at least 4 regular Board meetings
should be held in each year at approximately quarterly intervals with
active participation of majority of Directors, either in person or
through other electronic means of communication.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, four Board meetings were
held. The attendance records of each director at the Board meetings
are set out below:

TRERME

ExEed

STRMEX C51RRE  BFELBRERE
HEFeex ANEBFEAF X AKX
ZHEFERGB2ESHE (ERRTIRBHE
feEFBATRN) o

REBEE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HLFE"
KRB HEBHAUNEESSH SEEHE
E=zegamEsnT

Number of
Meetings and

Directors’
Attendance
Name of Directors EFEEHE HERE
Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. Liu Xiaosong (Chairman of the Board) BB (F/E) 4/4
Mr. Ji Bo =IGEE 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIHRITEF
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong BRIE S 5T A 4/4
Ms. Wu Shihong RETARZT 4/4
Mr. Gao Shenglin L2 Ve 4/4

General Meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2023, one general meeting was
held by the Company. The Chairman of the Board and the executive
directors attended the annual general meeting in 26 May 2023, and
were available to answer questions. the attendance records of each
Director at the general meetings are set out below:

RBE-Z-_=F+_-_A=+—HItEE"
ARABHEBRAT —XABREAS -EESEFE
FHTEERE TR =R A=+~
AERMKRERAFRE  UYRE EEERR
RE - REZFLFEGEMNRHEOT

Attendance
Members of the Board EEgRE H R
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Liu Xiaosong (Chairman of the Board) DU E (E/E) 1”71
Mr. Ji Bo HELLE 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIRITEFE
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong PR AR St e A& 11
Ms. Wu Shihong RT AKX+ 01
Mr. Gao Shenglin mEMEE 11
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Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to Directors in advance. Notices of regular
Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before the
meetings. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each
Director also have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary.

The senior management attends, where necessary, Board and
committee meetings to advise on business developments, financial
and accounting matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance
and other major aspects of the Company.

Directors are normally able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The Company Secretary is responsible to take and keep minutes of all
Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after
each meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any transaction, which involves a
material conflict of interest for a substantial shareholder or a Director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened
Board meeting. Independent non-executive Director who, and whose
associates, have no material interest in the transaction should be
present at such board meeting. The Company’s articles of association
contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not
to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions
in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material
interest.
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Dividend Policy

The board has adopted the Dividend Policy. Dividends may be paid
out by way of cash or by other means that the Directors consider
appropriate. Declaration and payment of any dividends would require
the recommendation of the Board and will be at its discretion. In
addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to the
approval of the shareholders of the Company. A decision to declare
or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount and rates of
such dividends, will be subject to, among other things, the Group’s
results of operations, cash flow, financial conditions, operating and
capital requirements and other factors which the Directors consider
important.

Declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject to
compliance with applicable laws and regulations including the laws of
the Cayman Islands and the articles of association of the Company.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and may
exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.
there is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) stipulates that the roles of Chairman and CEO should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

In the year ended 31 December 2023, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company are both held by Mr. Liu Xiaosong,
which did not comply with the corporate governance requirements as
set out in code provision C.2.1. Considering Mr. Liu has diversified
experience in the technology, Internet and investment area has been
being responsible for overall management and strategic planning of
the Group, the Board considered that Mr. Liu is able to lead the Board
in making business decision for the Group. therefore, Mr. Liu has had
the dual roles of the Chairman and CEO of the Company despite
deviation from code provision C.2.1 during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are posted on the website of the Stock Exchange
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website www.a8nmg.com.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely Ms.
Wu Shihong (Chairman, independent non-executive Director), Mr. Liu
Xiaosong (executive Director) and Mr. Gao Shenglin (independent
non-executive Director). The majority of them are independent non-
executive Directors.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include:

o To make recommendations to the Board on and supervision of
the establishment of formal and transparent procedures for
developing remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and the senior managements;

o To make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; these shall include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

o Considering at any time and pay reasonable attention to the
performance of Directors and senior management, their time
commitment and responsibilities, interests of shareholders, the
Company'’s financial state, market conditions, salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;
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° Reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive e
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

° Reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are

otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

o Ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved o

in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Human Resources Department is responsible for collection and
administration of the human resources data and making
recommendations to the Remuneration Committee for consideration.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, one meeting was held by the
Remuneration Committee for reviewing the Group’s remuneration
structure and policy, assessing all Directors’ and senior management’s
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records of the Remuneration Committee are set out below:

FEH FHZESMHFECEHINAT

Attendance
Members of the Remuneration Committee HMZEESHKE HERE
Ms. Wu Shihong RtARLZE 1/1
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee (FNZEESFE  BUHHTEE)
and Independent Non-executive Director)
Mr. Liu Xiaosong 2k & 11
Mr. Gao Shenglin mEMEE 11
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (Chairman, independent non-
executive Director), Ms. Wu Shihong (independent non-executive
Director), and Mr. Gao Shenglin (independent non-executive Director),
which comprises one independent non-executive Director with the
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and related
financial management expertise. None of the members of the Audit
Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditors.

In accordance with the requirements of the CG Code, the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee were revised from time to time in
terms substantially the same as the provisions set out in the CG Code.
The latest version of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and internal
control procedures, review of the Group’s financial information and
review of the relationship with the external auditor of the Company.
Regular meetings have been held by the Audit Committee since its
establishment.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

o To review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the staff responsible for
the accounting and financial reporting function, compliance
officer, internal auditor or external auditors before submission
to the Board.

o To review the fees and terms of engagement of the external
auditors by reference to the work performed by the auditors
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditors.

o To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, three meetings were held by
the Audit Committee for considering and reviewing the financial
results and reports, internal control procedures and the re-
appointment of the external auditors. The external auditors were
invited to attend the meetings to discuss with the Audit Committee
issues arising from the audit and financial reporting matters.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out below:

AN A s
JJ:%E/I:I #&%
RNEZE-—_ZEZ-_=F+-A=+—H01t 8%
ZESHBITTIREH  UEHMMBKES
NERE  NEPESIEIR F RANERZ BRI EH

ZESFEE I ERBEEBLFESENURE
HEZZBEIWAZAMMBEREFTE
HEHFERE o

ERZEERBZHFERFRBOT

Attendance
Members of the Audit Committee ERZEEENRE HERE
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong PRIB S 52 A& 3/3
(Chairman of the Audit Committee and (BEZESFE  BUHHTESE)
Independent Non-executive Director)
Ms. Wu Shihong RTARET 3/3
Mr. Gao Shenglin mEMEE 3/3

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely Mr.
Liu Xiaosong (Chairman, executive Director), Ms. Wu Shihong
(independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Gao Shenglin
(independent non-executive Director). The majority of them are
independent non-executive Directors.

The primary objectives of the Nomination Committee include:

. To review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least once a
year and make recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to implement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o To identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
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o To assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

o To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the chief executive;

o To review the policy concerning diversity of board members, as
appropriate; and review the measurable objectives that the
Board has set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and
the progress on achieving the objectives; and

o To review, supervise and make disclosure of the policy for the
nomination of Directors by the Committee in the corporate
governance report annually.

During the reporting period, one meeting was held by the Nomination
Committee, to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, review the Board
Diversity Policy, assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors, recommend the Directors stand for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, etc.

The attendance record of such meeting is set out below:

o  AMRBMIFRTESFMNEMIE:

s HREFEZTHAEHZEURER(LH
EEFEMEFEATE) EEIFERNES
SREER

s HHEBATRIEFEKEZ T/ILH
K RRIEEERAVNTEZTENES
AL BCR M S E KT 5T 2 B 2 MEZE
RS

s EBEWAFERARAERBRETHELZR
SRABENER UHERTERE

TEERES -

RBEHA RRZESHER—RERE
BAEZEHRE  ABMAK (BREKE

HMBRRRENE)  RAEESEZTTEBEK -
HZBYUFATEZTNB LML REFSRE
FEEBREANEINARANEEITHR
RAFAE LRERBENEEAESZEE -

ZEH L FEREEINT

Attendance

Members of the Nomination Committee REZEEERE H R

Mr. Liu Xiaosong 2Bk & 11
(Chairman of the Nomination Committee) (lBEZEEF/E)

Ms. Wu Shihong RTARLT 1/1

Mr. Gao Shenglin mEMEE 11
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy. The main purpose of
this policy is to diversify board members. According to this policy,
selection of candidates to be appointed to the Board and the
continuation of those appointments will be based a range of objective
factors, including (but not limited to) gender, age, cultural and
educational background, race, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and service tenure. All appointments of the directors are
based on the principle of talent, and when considering candidates,
the benefits of diversity of board members will be fully taken into
account in accordance with objective conditions. The Nomination
Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy from time to time to
ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss and propose any amendments to the Board
Diversity Policy as it thinks fit, and recommend any such amendments
to the Board for consideration and approval.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code for securities transactions by
Directors on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules. Upon specific enquiries of all Directors, each of them confirmed
that they have complied with complied with the own code and the
model code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by
employees (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) who are likely to be
in possession of inside information of the Company. No incident of
noncompliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees
was noted by the Company.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The senior management has provided such explanation and
information to the Board as necessary to enable the Board to carry
out an informed assessment of the financial and other information
and position of the Company put to the Board for approval.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS'
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 79 to 86. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration paid to the Company’s
external auditors, Ernst & Young, is set out below:

ESETHBERBNER

EEHRABREREARABE_T_=F
T-A=t—HLFEMBRRNVAME -

EZSREHFERATHES ABEEH
BhEZ WA REMEEERREOEM
ER i 1 B AT IR R A AT A

ERERECEFTERAEZTRUATHE
BRER UREFSHARRRBENR
AL ABRE  AIREEFTSHE -

SIS A%

A/

ARBIMNEZBEN A RAEHM B HRERNFR
BENBARHNETIEL6 A [18 7 % B AN H
FIRN-RBE-_FT-_=F+-A=t—HL
FE - ARA XN TINEAZBED Lk & &5t ED
SRS

Fee paid/payable

Category of services PR 75 35 Bl 2 ENER
(RMB'000)

(ARETFIT)

Audit services ZERTE 977
Non-audit services — other services IEZE R — H MR 105
Total AaF 1,082
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group, including the efficiency of
business operation, financial management and risk management of
operating flow.

The Company has developed its systems of internal control and risk
management and will continue to review and assess the procedures
for their effectiveness. The Audit Committee provides supervision of
the internal control system of the Group, reports to the Board on any
material issues and makes recommendations.

The internal control system of the Group is designed to facilitate
effective and efficient operations, to ensure reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations, to
identify and manage potential risks, and to safeguard assets of the
Group. The internal audit department reviews and evaluates the
control process, monitors any risk factors on a regular basis, and
reports to the Audit Committee on any findings and measures to
address variances and identified risks.

The key elements of the Group’s internal control system include the
following:

o The organizational structure is clearly defined with distinct lines
of authority and control responsibilities.

o A comprehensive financial accounting system has been
established to provide indicators for performance measurement
and to ensure compliance with relevant rules.

o Plans for financial reporting, operations and compliance with
reference to potential significant risks are prepared annually by
the senior management.

o Unauthorized expenditures and release of confidential
information are strictly prohibited.
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o Proper policy is in place to ensure the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programmers
and budget.

o The control process and risk factors are reviewed, evaluated,
and monitored on a regular basis so that any findings and
measures to address the variances and identified risks could be
reported to the Audit Committee.

During the year under review, the Company engaged personnel
related to internal audit to review and check internal control regularly
and systematically. Internal audit reports by the Company were
presented to and reviewed by the Audit Committee.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
Procedures for shareholders to convene EGM

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholder
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth (1/10) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at the general meetings shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition (the “Requisition”, and for the Shareholder
concerned, the “Requisitionist”) to the Board or the Company, to
require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition.

The Requisition must state the objects of the meeting, contain the full
name(s) of the Requisitionist(s), his/her/their contact details and
identification, be signed by the Requisitionist and be deposited at
Suites 2703, 27/F., Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong,
for the attention of the Company Secretary.

An EGM shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
Requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the Requisitionist(s) himself/
herself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
enquiries to the Board or put forward proposals at
general meetings

To put forward enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may either
contact the Company Secretary through email at ir@a8.com, or
submit a written notice of their enquiries with their detailed contact
information to the Company Secretary at Suites 2703, 27/F., Shui On
Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong, or directly raise questions at
general meetings.

Procedures for Nomination of Directors

The Board has adopted the Procedures for Nomination of Directors.
Shareholder(s) of the Company (each a “Shareholder”) may nominate
person(s), other than a retiring director of the Company (“Director”)
and the Shareholder himself/herself, to be appointed as a Director
("Proposed Director”). Details of the procedures for Shareholders to
propose a person for election as a Director at a general meeting
(either an annual general meeting or extraordinary general meeting)
of the Company (“Meeting”) are set out below.

o Submit a written notice duly signed by the nominating
Shareholder(s), together with the Proposed Director’s resume
with contact details, a written notice of Proposed Director’s
willingness to be elected, copy of identification documents,
information and other details (including but not limited to
details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong or
other applicable rules) of the Proposed Director, to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong: Suites
2703, 27/F., Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

o Acknowledgement of receipt of the written notice will be
provided by the Company;
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o The Nomination Committee will review and consider if the
Proposed Director is appropriate to be appointed as a Director:

(@) If the Proposed Director is considered appropriate, the
resolution for the appointment of the Proposed Director
will be inserted to the agenda of the Meeting or the
adjourned Meeting and an announcement in relation to
such Meeting will be issued by the Company.

(b) If the Proposed Director is considered not appropriate,
written notice with reasons will be given to the
nominating Shareholder(s).

Details of the Procedures for Nomination of Directors are provided in
the section “Corporate Governance” on the Company’s website.

Voting by poll at general meetings

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate resolutions are
proposed at shareholder meetings on each substantial issue, including
the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at a shareholder meeting will be taken by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after the
shareholder meeting.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Group pays much attention to maintaining good relationships
with Shareholders and investors. The Group has set up a specialized
department to deal with investor relationships affairs. We try to
achieve two-way communication with Shareholders, investors and
media through consistent, timely and transparent disclosure of
information.

The Group strictly adheres to non-selective disclosure guidelines to
ensure that communications with Shareholders, investors and the
media are open and fair. No material, non-public information is made
available to any individual on a selective basis. The Group experienced
difficulties and faced various challenges during the past two years but
we kept the consistent communication with the market through
publishing results announcement and reports, holding investors
conferences, arranging meetings with investors in person or via
conference calls, participating in various investor forums etc. to
provide necessary information to form their own judgments and
provided feedback to management in order to improve operations
and corporate governance of the Group.

Meanwhile, the Group continues to update the contents including
business information, financial information, announcements,
corporate governance etc. stated on the website of www.a8nmg.com
to improve transparency. The public can communicate with the Group
through phone call and our mailbox which are published on our
website, and handled and replied by professional IR employees.

The general meetings of the Company provide a good opportunity for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The
Company considers the AGM as an important event and all Directors
make efforts to attend. The Chairman of the Board as well as the
chairman of each Board Committee will try their best to be available
to communicate with the Shareholders face to face. A representative
(usually the partner) of the external auditor also attends the AGM and
will take questions from Shareholders relating to their audit of the
Company’s financial statements.
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The Company understands that increasing transparency in capital
market participants will improve corporate governance and be
beneficial to the long-term development of the Company. The
Company welcomes investors and Shareholders to share opinions and
suggestions for the development of the Company to the Company’s
investor relation team via email or telephone.

Investors Relationship Contact Details:

Address: 25/F, A8 Music Building, No.1002 Keyuan Road,
Hi-tech Park, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, PRC.
Telephone: +86 755 3330 3333-2240

Email: ir@a8.com

website: www.a8nmg.com

Company Secretary

During the reporting period, Ms. Gao Keying (“Ms. Gao"”) acts as the
Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Gao was appointed as
Company Secretary for the Company on 26 January 2022.

The Directors all have access to the Company Secretaries who are
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures, and all applicable law,
rules and regulations are properly followed. The Company Secretaries
also keep fully updating the Board with all legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. Gao has
complied with Article 3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken over 15
hours of relevant professional training to refresh their skills and
knowledge.

Constitutional Documents

During the year under review, there was no change to the Articles of
Association of the Company. A copy of the latest consolidated version
of it is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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To the shareholders of A8 New Media Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of A8 New
Media Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 87 to 223, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by the International Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BEETER

B 2B E

SR EH (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENETNNEEREETER

Valuations of financial assets at fair value

BAFEAEBZEHEERGE

At 31 December 2023, the Group's financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income of
approximately RMB55.9 million and RMB117.4 million,
respectively, were categorised as Level 3 within the fair
value hierarchy, which represented 3.6% and 7.5%,
respectively, of the Group’s net assets. The Group engaged
an external valuer to apply valuation techniques to
determine the fair values of these financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income. These
valuation techniques, in particular those included
significant unobservable inputs, involved significant
accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions. The
sensitivity of the estimates and assumptions used may have
material impact on the valuations of these financial assets.
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With the assistance from our internal valuation specialists,
we evaluated the valuation methodologies and
assumptions adopted by the external valuer in the
valuations of the financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income that were categorised as
Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy by (i) examining the
terms of the financial instruments and the relevant
agreements; (i) assessing the reasonableness of valuation
methodologies; and (iii) assessing the key parameters used
against available market information.
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We evaluated the independence, objectivity and
competence of the external valuer engaged by the Group.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HEETER

SR E1E (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEHNETNNEEREETER

Valuations of financial assets at fair value (Continued)

BAFEAEZEHBEERGEE)

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
balances involved and the significant judgements and
estimates required in the determination of the fair values
of these financial instruments.
HRASRABENRERBEELeMITANAAERE
PR EE AR A MGG - RMPIZ IR ESE -

The accounting policies and significant accounting
judgements and estimates related to the valuations of
financial assets at fair value and disclosures of the fair
values of such financial assets are included in notes 3.3, 4,
20, 21 and 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRRATEFEZEHEEMENSTBRARES
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36 °
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We also evaluated the adequacy of related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
S0.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Kee Wendy Wing Shi.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

22 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

%IT |=|\/’13’%

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE T - =F+-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=% —E-=
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000

i AR®TR AR®BTT

CONTINUING OPERATIONS BERSEER
REVENUE WA 6 68,578 79,151
Cost of services provided R REBCAR (17,623) (18,255)
Gross profit EH 50,955 60,896
Other income and gains, net HAn g A R zs - H5E 6 39,786 16,901
Selling and marketing expenses HERMIGHEERXS 9) (1,870)
Administrative expenses TBAX (22,692) (23,622)
Other expenses, net HhFE - FEE (61,516) (48,017)
Share of profits and losses of associates, DERERERFREE -

net HER 9,937 5,797
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM BEKSEEBRRBANRER

CONTINUING OPERATIONS 7 16,461 10,085
Income tax credit FriSfiik e 9 5,383 11,922
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM BEREERTFERT

CONTINUING OPERATIONS 21,844 22,007
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BRI EER
Profit/(loss) for the year from a —IERIEEERFE

discontinued operation swm Al (E518) 10 2,546 (8,050)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERF 24,390 13,957
Attributable to: FEAh -

Owners of the Company ZAN/NSIET TN 24,448 13,219

Non-controlling interests FEE RS (58) 738

24,390 13,957
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

™ A 4= X2
,%T\/n:\u E\ﬁﬁ%z

Year ended 31 December 2023 #E— T - =F+-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E=-= o = S
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5E ARBTR ARBTT
EARNINGS PER SHARE AAREBEREFEA 12
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY e B R IER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic (RMB per share) EXR(BRARKE)
— For profit for the year — FEEH 0.88 cents 0.49 cents
0.88 il 0.49 il
— For profit from continuing operations — FEREEBFEE RN 0.79 cents 0.80 cents
0.79 il 0.80 1ili
Diluted (RMB per share) e (BRARE)
— For profit for the year — FER A 0.88cents 0.48 cents
0.88 il 0.48 1l
— For profit from continuing operations — RBEREERTE RN 0.79 cents 0.79 cents
0.79 il 0.79 il

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEEAR LD A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEEWER

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE — T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-=% —E-=
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000

i AR®TR AR®BTT

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEBR 24,390 13,957
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Htt2mEWE (B8

INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income that ARPBUTEABRRZ

may be reclassified to profit or Hith 2 W& :

loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of B HRERITEEED

financial statements PEHER 7,168 40,707
Reclassification adjustments of exchange FAREBEFINEBRA

differences for foreign operations MEHZRENE S AFHE

disposed of during the year 10 174 -
Net other comprehensive income that BERN DATE BRI A B R

may be reclassified to profit or loss E@Ef@iﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁ@%ﬁ

in subsequent periods 7,342 40,707

Other comprehensive income/(loss) FEOBTEEABRERZ
that will not be reclassified to profit Hib2mEkzs(FE) -
or loss in subsequent periods:

Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEAEEEEFHTA

other comprehensive income: HM2HEKE 2 EmEE

Changes in fair value NEEES 13,854 (46,982)

Income tax effect Frigii e 28 (3.463) 11,745
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) TrEBEITEEBEABRREE

that will not be reclassified to profit or Hia2mEE(BE) FE

loss in subsequent periods 10,391 (35,237)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEHM2EKES

FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX HIRRBL % F 5 17,733 5,470
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEEXEWDARE

FOR THE YEAR 42,123 19,427
Attributable to: e -

Owners of the Company REER A 42,181 18,689

Non-controlling interests FEERR A A (58) 738

42,123 19,427

Annual Report 2023 A8 New Media Group Limited

S ABHIHBEBMARAR



90

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR &

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

2023 2022
—8-= =T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5E ARBTR ARBTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BRE R&E 13 108,111 114,301
Investment properties REEYZE 14 378,000 414,000
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15(a) 11,253 11,576
Intangible assets mpAE 17 774 796
Investments in associates REE R B ZIRE 18 294,890 289,487
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFEEEEHTA
profit or loss BEceREE 20 55,908 72,878
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFE BEEFHFTA
other comprehensive income HEthermbmzemEE 21 117,443 103,589
Deferred tax assets BERIBE E 28 13,389 16,316
Total non-current assets EMEEEAFT 979,768 1,022,943
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 500 503
Trade receivables JE W B R 22 6,125 7,410
Prepayments and other receivables TE AT BR 3R B H Ath & R 23 9,499 3,887
Financial assets at fair value through RAFETEAHEEHA
profit or loss BRsemEE 20 195,960 20,000
Restricted bank balances ZRHIER 24 65 65
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREeEEY 25 501,695 608,766
713,844 640,631
Assets of a disposal group classified —HOHEARESFEN
as held for sale EEHEE 10 - 552
Total current assets MENEESFT 713,844 641,183
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables FETBR X 26 7,022 7,082
Other payables and accruals HEMENRRETER 27 32,622 36,383
Tax payable FEIHLIE 10,164 15,963
49,808 59,428
Liabilities directly associated with the HAOBARIERENEE
assets classified as held for sale BEEEANEE 10 - 4,670
Total current liabilities mEBaESE 49,808 64,098

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEEAR LD A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR AR R R

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= =

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

T AR®TR ARBTT

NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 664,036 577,085
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERARBERS
LIABILITIES 1,643,804 1,600,028
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEAE 28 82,545 88,082
Total non-current liabilities ERBBEAF 82,545 88,082
Net assets BEFE 1,561,259 1,511,946
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners ARG ERIEEAELES
of the Company
Issued capital BT 29 23,450 23,162
Reserves 1 31 1,537,809 1,490,432
1,561,259 1,513,594
Non-controlling interests IR R = (1,648)
Total equity e AA%E 1,561,259 1,511,946
Liu Xiaosong Ji Bo
2 B A Hig
Director Director
- E

Annual Report 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

ll‘/T/\IﬁrﬁlﬂbE’%%

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE — T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

Annual Report 2023

—ER=FFR

2023 2022
—ZEBZ=HF g
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5E ARBTR ARBTE
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BREADEA(E8)
From continuing operations BREKEEY 16,461 10,085
From a discontinued operation B—IARIEEEER 10 2,546 (8,050)
Adjustments for: BB EE
Dividend and distribution income DE U = 6 (12,667) (3,263)
Bank interest income HRITH B WA (23,835) (8,541)
Other interest income H th F) B U A 6 (9) -
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BERZRETE
equipment 4,678 5,263
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 323 526
Amortisation of intangible assets | EEHE 7 22 376
Gain on termination of a lease fRIE—IEME A 2 Was - (11)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BE M&#E 2
plant and equipment 1B/ () 7 1,492 9)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries EENB ARz W= 10 (2,571) -
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries EElINEYNCIPE = ES 7 413 -
Fair value losses on financial assets at BATEFERAEEE)
fair value through profit or loss FFABmcERMEEY
NFEERE 7 19,320 31,980
Fair value losses/(gains) on investment KEUMEZ AFE
properties Bk, (W) 7 36,000 (2,000)
Impairment of investments in BERRIZIRERE
associates 7 4,534 16,000
Impairment of goodwill EEEAE - 9,278
Impairment of trade receivables JEUBR FURE 7 73 1,806
Share of profits and losses of SR E RN B R A R EE
associates, net HEE (9,937) (5,797)
Finance costs M%ER = 13
36,843 47,656

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASH B EBMBERAD R



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

an\ Iﬁﬁ/)lbi%

Year ended 31 December 2023 & EZE—-T =

FHt-A=t—BIFE

2023 2022
—8-= o = S
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5E ARBTR ARBTx
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEUBR UM A (38 40) 1,212 (8,161)
Decrease in inventories FERD 3 100
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and TEA BR TR N H b e Uk 3R
other receivables () 1,752 (196)
Decrease in trade payables FERTBRFOR (60) (672)
Decrease in other payables HthERHRRESER
and accruals Rk (3,761) (8,499)
Decrease in deferred income IR FE W 2R = (600)
Cash generated from operations KEMEZHRE 35,989 29,628
Interest paid XA TR - (13)
Tax paid EfHIE (6,489) (12,615)
Net cash flows from operating activities LETEBFSIRESREFE 29,500 17,000
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZBFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant BEWE  BERRBEE
and equipment (851) (59)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERATEAEEHED
through profit or loss AFAEGCERMEE (198,310) (23,000)
Interest received 2 A 18,772 9,147
Increase in time deposits with original BERRIHABR=
maturity of more than three months 2 TE HATF R 00
when acquired (249,420) -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets ~ BREBIRAFEFEAHE
at fair value through profit or loss ANERZ SREEMSHIA 20,000 300
Proceeds from disposal of items of BEEME - ﬁ%&ﬁxﬁ
property, plant and equipment Frig k3 871 52
Disposal of subsidiaries EEW% 10 177 =
Increase in loan to an associate E A JE WK i" 7]1] (2,493) =
Dividend and distribution received B WD 4R 12,667 3,263
Net cash flows used in investing KREEBFARESRE
activities FEE (398,587) (10,297)

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEEAR LD A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
an\ Eﬁrﬁ/ﬂbii

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE T - =F+-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—ZEBZ=HF -
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5E ARBTR ARBTE
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRIDETB IR 29 5,484 6,777
Principal portion of lease payments MEFREREE D - (198)
Net cash flows from financing activities BEESIRSHESREFRE 5,484 6.579
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH ReRASEEYESR
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #in, Gl (363,603) 13,282
Cash and cash equivalents at RENZRERRASEEY
beginning of year 609,246 555,390
Effect of foreign exchange rate e R E) r LB FE
changes, net 6,632 40,574
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RERZRERREEZEY
END OF YEAR 252,275 609,246
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERBRESEYERI N
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the 4R & B IR R R 5 R 89
consolidated statement of financial position R4 MIEE&EEY 25 501,695 608,766
Cash attributable to a discontinued —IHR PR EEBNIR AR
operation 10 - 480
Time deposits with original maturity of more & 2 iR E| 81 B 88 = 1A A
than three months when acquired 2 TR (249,420) =
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in FEREMNERMIIZER
the consolidated statement of cash flows ~— NMIR&ZE{EY 252,275 609,246

Annual Report 2023
—ER=FFR

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASH B EBMBERAD R



96

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B Rk MRt

31 December 2023 —E - =F+—-_A=+—H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

A8 New Media Group Limited (the “Company” or “A8 New
Media"”) is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were involved in the following
principal activities in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”

or “Chinese Mainland”):

° cultural business

o property investment

In the opinion of directors, Mr. Liu Xiaosong is the ultimate

controlling shareholder of the Company.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

AEIREEER

ASHTEREEER AR RRASES
AMKZZBRAR - RRAFMHE
B Hb 41k 7 Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands ©

ARBREMBLR (RESIANEEH])
RAFEEDEARLME ((HEH]K
[FEAM]) EEEERATEEES

s  XLEXE

s MEEA

EFZEgRR BN AELEREARFNR
ARIERLARER

ERMEBLARZER

ERASEXZMBARNFENT

follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
EMRL/ BRf/ EARELRE
ARER EPES -k EfEE BEEDL ITEXRH
Direct Indirect
B B
A8 Music Group Limited (A8 Music") British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares 100 - Investment holding
US$64,500
Preferred shares
US$9,300
ASELEEERAA ([ABEE]) RERLEE LMk 64,500% T REAR
BERR9300%TT
Cash River Information Technology PRC/Chinese Mainland HK$40,000,000 - 100 Provision of technical and
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ("Cash River") *# Registered capital management consultancy
services
EAEES MR ORI BRAF B/ E A 40,000,000 % 7T REHATRER R
(M) = AMER B AR

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEEAR LD A

Annual Report 2023
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(Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

NEIMEBEER (#)

BARHEARZER ()

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
EMRL/ BRI/ FRAEERE
AREB ERPES -k EER BREsl TEEHR
Direct Indirect
B B
Shenzhen Huadong Feitian Network PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB28,680,000 - 100 Provision of internet
Development Co., Ltd. ("Huadong Feitian”) Registered capital information service,
(note (i)*@ property investment and
music performance
RYTEBRABEEAMFE hE/hEAE AR 28,680,000 T - 100 REEHBESRBEE
BRAR(TEBHRK]) (ML)~ AMER NERERELEN
Shenzhen Yunhai Qingtian Cultural PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 = 100 Investment holding
Broadcasting Co., Ltd. ("Yunhai Qingtian”) Registered capital
(note (i)*@
AMEBBERAXCEEFRAT] 8/ hER AR%10,000,0007C - 100 REXH
(IEBER]) (ML)~ AMER
Shenzhen Kuaitonglian Technology Co., Ltd.  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
("Kuaitonglian”) (note (i))*® Registered capital
AITRBERRERAR (REK])  HE/ HER AR 10,000,000 - 100 REXHK
(HzE@) *e AMER
Beijing Chuangmeng Yinyue Culture PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 100 Provision of mobile value-
Development Co., Ltd. (note (i))*® Registered capital added services
HRABEEERERLA B/t A AR #5,000,00070 - 100 REBHEERS
(MzE@) *e HMER
Beijing Aiyue Cultural Broadcasting Co., Ltd.  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 100 Provision of mobile value-
(note (i)*@ Registered capital added services
EREEERULERBRAR GV AR#10,000,0007C - 100 REBHLERS
(MEE@) *e AMER

Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS RaR M AL

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

NEIREBER (#)

(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) ERMEB AT ZER (&)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
EMRL/ BRI/ KARELRE
AREB R A ER BREIN TEEH
Direct Indirect
B B
Total Plus Limited Hong Kong HK$97,045 = 100 Investment holding
Issued capital
EFBERAF & 97,0457 - 100 REHERR
BETER
Phoenix Success Limited (“Phoenix Success”) - Hong Kong HK$1 100 - Investment holding
Issued capital
KEBRAR([5E]) 365 187 REAR
BETEAR
Shenzhen Finger Fun Network Technology ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland HK$190,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Co., Ltd. (“Finger Fun") ** Registered capital
AT AT BER R ERAR /B R 190,000,000 7T REAR
(MRHA T ) FHER
Jisu Woniu Network Services Media PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB14,000,000 - 100 Property investment,
(Shenzhen) Co., Limited (note (i))*@ Registered capital production of network
dramas, videos and films
AR BT BEREER /B R AR 14,000,000 NERE - BB
(MzE () *e FMER RIEREY
Jiaruiyu (Shenzhen) Information Technology ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Property investment
Co., Ltd. (note (i))*@ Registered capital
EEFEERE ORI BRAR i/ HE R AR#1,000,0007 NERE
(MEE()) * AMER
* The English names of these companies are the direct translations of & ARZEARL BT MR EF[EMER
their Chinese names as no English names have been registered or are BXEE AREERXEBIDAERXE
available B AR E
# Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law & BEPEIEEAMAINEBERE
@ Registered as domestic limited liability companies under PRC law e BERBEEETMAEABR A

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEEAR LD A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Note:

(i) the current PRC law and regulations limit the provision of
telecommunications value-added services by companies with foreign
ownership, which include activities and services operated by these
companies. In order to enable the Company to make investments in
the telecommunications value-added services in the PRC, the equity
interests in these companies are held by individual nominees on
behalf of the Group and certain structured contracts have been
effectuated:

(1) between Cash River and

(a) Huadong Feitian and its registered shareholders, and

(b) Kuaitonglian and its registered shareholders;

2) between Finger Fun, Yunhai Qingtian and its registered
shareholders,

to the effect that the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with these companies and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over these companies. As a
result of the contractual agreements, these companies are accounted
for as subsidiaries of the Company for accounting purposes.

During the year, the Group disposed Blueowlgames Limited and
Shanghai Mu77 Network Technology Co., Ltd, details of which
are included in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year, the Group deregistered Beierbang Food
Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. and Xiaolu Dongdong
(Shenzhen) Technology Co., Ltd. and Zhengjingchuang
(Shenzhen) Technology Co., Ltd and recognised a loss on
deregistration of subsidiaries of RMB413,000 (note 7).

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which
include all IFRSs, International Accounting Standards (“ISA")
and Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, which have been measured at fair
value. Disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less cost to sell as further
explained in note 3.3. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(©)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises
the fair value of any investment retained and any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for

the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1 and

Insurance Contracts

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs that are

applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the
material accounting policy information in note 3.3 to the
financial statements. The amendments did not have any
impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation
of any items in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the Group's approach
and policy align with the amendments, the amendments
had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the
scope of the initial recognition exception in IAS 12 so that
it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments did not have any
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(d)

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected entities
to help users of the financial statements better understand
the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including
the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income
taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably
estimable information of their exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted
or substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The Group
has applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the
Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two
model rules, the amendments did not have any impact to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these revised IFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
2020 Amendments”)’

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the 2022
Amendments”)’

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Lack of Exchangeability?

| Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
S No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

106

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate
or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e.,
1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.
The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early
application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of the amendments and whether existing loan
agreements may require revision. Based on a preliminary
assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements
on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. The
amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at the
beginning of the annual reporting period and interim
disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist. The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of
the Group's investments in associates or joint ventures.
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31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method. In all other case, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3.3 FEEFTIEBE (@)

12

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 —  based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3.3 FEEFTIEBE (@)

14

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment
properties and a disposal group classified as held for sale), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which itis a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When an
item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for
sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful
lives used for this purpose are as follows:

Building 50 years

Computer equipment 3 to 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and 3to 10 years
office equipment

Motor vehicles 5 years

Building improvements 5to 15 years

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEEAR LD A

33FEBEEHHEME®)

ME BERRBEFE

WME - BERREBERABRATER
EAREBREIIRE - HYE  BER
REREREARFLEUBRELRR
FIEHEZHERR  ITTHEMR
B(RRMBREEADESRAR £
—SHBEBR2HIFELEZERDE
ERHEARN] 2@FBR - WX B
FEREBEHEXABREBEEREE
FEBE A B TE PR 1 B SE (R AR 0 B it 3 i E
EREMERKR

WE - BEMREBHEBRAEFRES
B (B e RIRE) - —RNEE
EHE B RERMG - WEDRRBER
. AEARENAXEREEREE
RERNEEREIE - WATE BB BRAR
DWE - BEERE AAKEEKZ
FWMOERREREAERFHLINE
M AR B E -

WENERZEFE BEENE  BFE
R fETE B B AT (A R A R A
AR EEFIERME

gF 50 4F
?-&H““ﬁ 3-5 4
R HERBWARME  3-104F

T E 5 4F
NEWEEE 5-15 &

Annual Report 2023
f— VT! _— / / ¥"X



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held
for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets
or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group
are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or
amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill) (Continued)
Trademarks, licences and software

Purchased trademarks, licences and software are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses and
are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of two to ten years.

Music copyrights

Music copyrights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are amortised on
the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of three
years.

Mobile game licences

Mobile game licences represent upfront licence fees paid for
exclusive mobile game development and publishing in a
specified territory. They are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are amortised on
the straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated average
user life of paying players of the respective game and the
licence period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 —E - =F+—-_A=+—H
3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Office premises 2 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(©

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of an office premise
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3.3 FEEFTIEBE (@)
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Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through

other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 3.3 TESHHEME )
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject
to impairment assessment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and
accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows
that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a
financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3.3 FEEFTIEBE @)
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Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage2 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to
adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies
as described above.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3.3 FEEFTIEBE @)
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Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories comprise finished goods. Inventories are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on
the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly
liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it
has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant
relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

Music-related services

Certain music related services are predominantly delivered
through the platforms of various subsidiaries of China Mobile
Communications Corporation (“China Mobile”), China Telecom
Corporation Limited (“China Telecom”) and China United
Telecommunications Corporation (“China Unicom”) (collectively
referred to as “Mobile Operators”). These services are
substantially billed on a monthly subscription basis with certain
portions billed on a per-message basis (the “Mobile and
Telecom Service Fees”) and the fees are substantially collected
by these Mobile Operators on behalf of the Group.

Gross revenue is recognised based on the Mobile and Telecom
Service Fees, net of the amount of the unreconciled items.

The Mobile Operators are entitled to commissions, which are
calculated based on agreed percentages of the Mobile and
Telecom Service Fees received or receivable by these Mobile
Operators. In addition, in certain cases, the Mobile Operators
charge a network usage fee based on a fixed per- message fee
multiplied by the excess of messages sent over messages received
between the platforms of the Group and Mobile Operators.
These commissions and network usage fees (collectively referred
to as the “Mobile and Telecom Charges”) are retained by the
Mobile Operators, and are reflected as cost of services provided
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group. The
Mobile and Telecom Charges are withheld and deducted from
the gross Mobile and Telecom Service Fees collected by the
Mobile Operators from the users, with the net amounts remitted
to the Group.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 3.3 TESHHEME )

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Music-related services (Continued)

The Mobile and Telecom Service Fees and the Mobile and
Telecom Charges, or the net amount of the two, are confirmed
and/or advised by the Mobile Operators to the Group on a
regular basis. For revenue whose amount is not confirmed/
advised by the Mobile Operators at the time of reporting the
financial results of the Group, management of the Group
estimates the amount receivable based on historical data, which
reflect developing trends in customer payment delinquencies.
Historical data used in estimating revenues include the most
recent history of the Mobile and Telecom Service Fees actually
derived from the operators, the number of subscriptions and
the volume of data transmitted between the network gateways
of the Group and the Mobile Operators. Adjustments are made
in subsequent periods in case the actual revenue amounts are
different from the original estimates.

Other music-related services revenue are recognised over the
scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the customers
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group.

Management fee income

Revenue from the provision of management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis
because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group.

Film and television production

Revenue from film and television production is recognised over
the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend and distribution income is recognised when the
shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend and distribution will flow to the Group and the amount
of the dividend and distribution can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits
Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date. Employee entitlements to
sick and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates in
Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
This subsidiary is required to contribute 13% to 14% of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using the binomial option pricing model, further details
of which are given in note 30 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group'’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification. Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong dollar
("HKD"). Because most of the subsidiaries’ functional currencies
are RMB, the presentation currency of the Company in the
financial statements is RMB. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of the Company and
the subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss is
translated into RMB exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve,
except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of operations with functional currencies other
than RMB are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows
of these operations which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial

statements requires management to make judgements,

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their

accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent

liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates

could result in outcomes that could require a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities

affected in the future.

0]

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Accounting for companies governed under
contractual arrangements as subsidiaries

As mentioned in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company does not have equity ownership
in certain subsidiaries of the Group (collectively the
“Subsidiaries under Contractual Agreements”).
Nevertheless, under the contractual agreements entered
into between the Subsidiaries under Contractual
Agreements, their respective registered owners and
certain subsidiaries of the Company, management has
determined that the Company is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with these
Subsidiaries under Contractual Agreements and has the
ability to affect these returns through its power over these
Subsidiaries under Contractual Agreements. As such, the
Subsidiaries under Contractual Agreements and their
respective subsidiaries are accounted for as subsidiaries of
the Company for accounting purposes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

()

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the
Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these
portions could be sold separately or leased out separately
under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately,
the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
Judgement is made on an individual property basis to
determine whether ancillary services are so significant that
a property does not qualify as an investment property.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

0]

(i)

Judgements (Continued)
Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolio and concluded that the
Group's investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group's deferred tax on investment
properties, the directors have determined that the
presumption set out in IAS 12 Income Taxes that
investment properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered through sale is rebutted. In addition, in
measuring the deferred tax liability on investment
properties, the directors have made judgement on the tax
rate that is expected to apply when the liability is settled
based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.
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31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(ii) Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are revalued at the end of the
reporting period on a market value, existing use basis by
independent professionally qualified valuers. These
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimation, information from
current prices in an active market for similar properties is
considered and assumptions are mainly based on the
capitalisation of net rental income derived from the
existing tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary
income potential of the properties. Further details are
given in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Measurement of financial assets at fair value

When the fair values of financial assets recorded in the
statement of financial position cannot be derived from
active markets, their fair values are determined using
valuation techniques including the use of comparable
recent arm’s length transactions and other valuation
techniques commonly used by other market participants.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a
degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values.
The judgements include considerations of inputs such as
enterprise-value-to-revenue multiple, price-to-earnings
multiple and discounts for lack of marketability. Changes
in assumptions about these factors could affect the
reported fair value of financial instruments. Further details
are included in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. B Ae:tHE LEHE @
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
HE REPEE®)

(ii) Estimation uncertainty (Continued) (i)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-
of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm'’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
and deductible temporary difference to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the unused tax losses and deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. Further
details are included in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(ii) Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses (“ECL") on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. As appropriate, the
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The
Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is
disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business

units based on their services and has two reportable operating

segments as follows:

(a)

the cultural business (“Cultural Business”) segment
engages in the provision of (1) music-based
entertainment; and (2) film and television production in
the PRC; and

the property investment (“Property Investment”) segment
invests in properties for rental and management fee
income in the PRC.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. KENEEF =)

(Continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating EHREEEBERASE 2 KLE D EE
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about BUNARTERDRREET G - 5
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment XERBRE I RFHEETT
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/ fmBRELSBEFFAEFNEERF
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax from BRREEBEABR BB B
continuing operations. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is B EABRRBAERN BB ZER
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax from FEASEEARECEEB CRIG
continuing operations except that bank interest income and =20 HERITHEWA R R AWA K
corporate and other unallocated income and expenses, net are B BB A LB At E R o

excluded from such measurement.

For the year ended 31 December BE+-—A=+—HLt
Cultural Business Property Investment Total
XLE%E WERE ot
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZE--f “E-"F ZE-ZHE “Z-"F B —T-—

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTE AR®TR ARETT ARBTR ARBTR

Segment revenue D EUWA 402 1,676 68,176 77475 68,578 79,151
Cost of services provided TR AR 7S A AR (1,237) (1,736) (16,386) (16,519) (17,623) (18,255)
Gross profit/(loss) 7/ (£8) (835) (60) 51,790 60,956 50,955 60,896
Segment results DIMEE 3,029 (14,293) 12,662 57,962 15,691 43,669
Reconciliation: HEE
Bank interest income RITFIEIA 23,835 8,534
Corporate and other AR EMEKS B

unallocated income WA KA F8E

and expenses, net (23,065) (42,118)
Profit before tax from BEREXK

continuing operations BRBLAT &R 16,461 10,085
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. &BEHEER (#)
(Continued)
Cultural Business Property Investment Total
V{LEX MERE k]
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

—E-=E —T--fF ZB-=F —E-—F —B-=E —T-—-F
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT AR®TR ARETT AR¥TR ARETR

Other segment information Ht 2 &R
Depreciation and amortisation 17 & % 84

— operating segments — BEAH 1,068 1,338 - - 1,068 1,338
— corporate — RAIAX 3,955 4,612
5,023 5,950
Capital expenditure* BAX M *
— operating segments — A - 59 - - - 59
— corporate — ARAX 851 =
851 59
Fair value loss/(gain) on REME 2 ATER
investment properties BE/ () - = 36,000 (2,000) 36,000 (2,000)
Share of profits and losses of 7 B & A A& Al &
associates, net BE FE (9,937) (5,797) = = (9,937) (5,797)
Impairment of investmentsin KBt R a2 RE
associates HER% 4,534 16,000 - - 4,534 16,000
Impairment of trade receivables & Ut IE R 12 = = 73 1,806 73 1,806
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items ¥ * B A& &
of property, plant and ZREBBKR/ (M)
equipment
— operating segments —BERE 1,496 = - - 1,496 =
— corporate — RARAX 0 ©)
1,492 9
Investments in associates REEE R R 2 RE 294,890 289,487 - - 294,890 289,487
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and 3 BEASTHBEYE - BEREEEM -
equipment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. REnEER @
(Continued)
Geographical information g (5 B
Over 90% of the Group's revenue from external customers is REEBIO%WATIEEB AEEH
derived from the Group’s operations in the PRC, and no non- BIEBHIINDES  ARAEE I EA
current assets (excluding financial instruments and deferred tax RARFINIERDEE (TEESR
assets) of the Group are located outside the PRC. TAREEREBEEE) -
Information about major customers FEEFER
The Group had no single external customer from which the BEBEFPERAEERZFERLFE
revenue amounted to over 10% of the Group’s total revenue A 10% sk A ESHERE -
for the current and prior year.
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. U A ~ Efbig A R Uizs « 5
%8
An analysis of revenue from continuing operations is as follows: BREKEEEBOBRAITAT
2023 2022
—E-= —E=-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
Revenue from contracts EEEHERA
with customers
Music-based entertainment EETON 372 1,635
Film and television production AR RUE 30 41
Management services Y% E IR R 15,691 16,791
16,093 18,467
Revenue from other sources H A 2R A
Gross rental income from investment REREMEKLEHEBIWA
property operating leases:
Variable lease payments that do FEBURR —IAIEF S L X/
not depend on an index or a rate FEEE 1,339 1,394
Other lease payments, including fixed HEHuHAEMEK  BEEEMNKR
payments 51,146 59,290
52,485 60,684
68,578 79,151
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 —E - =F+—-_A=+—H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. WA ~ g A Rz @ 3F

(Continued) 28 (&)
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHEA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) DHFBAER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-_=f+=-HA=+—HL
Cultural Property
business investment Total
Segments 72 XALEZ MERE e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR AR®BTRT AR%®Tx

Types of services PR 75 AE AL

Music-based entertainment FEIA 372 - 372
Film and television production EARRERA 30 = 30
Management services Y2 BB RIS UA - 15,691 15,691
Total 5t 402 15,691 16,093

Timing of revenue recognition U A 7852 B B Zh
Over time A — BB A 402 15,691 16,093
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-Z-_—_F+-HA=+—H

Cultural Property
business investment Total
Segments Al XALESE MERE ]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T ARETT ARBTTT
Types of services PR 73 B

Music-based entertainment EEAON 1,635 = 1,635
Film and television production SR EUEIA 41 - 41
Management services VB EREIA - 16,791 16,791
Total #st 1,676 16,791 18,467

Timing of revenue recognition U A 78 52 B B 24
Over time R —BREEA 1,676 16,791 18,467
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers to the amounts disclosed in the

operating segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

6. WA - EfBU AR IR - 0F

LENE)

EEESHWA (&)

() DEWAESR ()
REANKAES BEEREED

TEHROT

BHE_Z-=%+"A=1+—-HL

Cultural Property
business investment Total
Segments ol XAbESE MERE B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AR TR AR%®Tx
Revenue from contracts WARBENEF
with customers
External customers SN P 402 15,691 16,093
Total st 402 15,691 16,093

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-_Z-_—_F#+-_A=+—H1

Cultural Property

business investment Total
Segments 2 EB AL EZ MERE 4=
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AREF T ARBEF T

Revenue from contracts WARBENEF

with customers

External customers INEBE P 1,676 16,791 18,467
Total 5T 1,676 16,791 18,467
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue

recognised from continuing operations in the current
reporting period that were included in the contract

WA~ B ALY R - o
g

BEFEEHBA &)
() DHFBAERE)
TREINBREBUNEFARLY

BELRBEHEENEETEET
BN A E HER AR B FEL

liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and EEBHKG S
recognised from performance obligations satisfied in
previous periods:
2023 2022
—E-= SEE—
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT ARBTT
Revenue recognised that was included RBEBRYETFAEHNEE
in contract liabilities at the beginning BB R
of the reporting period:
Music-based entertainment EEJON 38 35

(ii) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Music-based entertainment

The performance obligation is satisfied by rendering of
music-related entertainment services to the customers and
payment is generally due within 60 days from the date of
billing.

Management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
presentation of invoice.

Film and television production

The performance obligation is satisfied by rendering of
film and television production and distribution services
and payment is generally due within 20 days from the
date of billing.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEEAR LD A

(i) BHEE

ERASEBEOEEHANT
ERPA
BHOREIRRESEABNORSE

351
ERBNRBEETBZHR
60 KA EIHA -

YR EEIRE

JB 4B E IR TS 12 (L 05 BE A5 R 28
EK BN BRERXERE
Elp

FHRRIE
BHOREIRREZREERET
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. YA « MR A Riias - F

(Continued)

B8 (4)

An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains, net from REBREIFELEEBHEAMAEL K

continuing operations is as follows:

AR FREAMMT

2023 2022
—E-= —ZF——

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FRT ARBTT

Bank interest income

Other interest income

Dividend and distribution income from
financial assets at fair value through

HRITHEHA 23,835 8,534
HEeMEKA 9 -
/‘Zluizéimﬁﬁ@%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ

SR ARSI SREE

profit or loss 9,664 1,261
Dividend income from a financial asset DY EBER—IBIRATFEGTER

at fair value through other HEHFT AR MEEREZ

comprehensive income ETREE 3,003 2,002
Fair value gain on investment properties & & E¥ % QA FEUKE - 2,000
Government grant* AT B) * 1,235 1,737
Foreign exchange differences, net PE X Uk %5 1,112 1,367
Others HAh 928 -

39,786 16,901

@ There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these * REEREEEZSMBORBEITRMESK

grants.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

7.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING 7.

OPERATIONS

The Group's profit before tax from continuing operations is

arrived at after charging/(crediting):

:I:&'E

_J' =]

il

EHEE 2B ADR

AEEF B E X B ANG N T
ks (GEA) THIEB E B

2023 2022
—==-= =eR==
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5% ARBTR ARBTT
Depreciation of property, W BERZETE *
plant and equipment* 4,678 5,251
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 323 323
Amortisation of intangible assets* B AERE 22 376
Lease payments not included in the R AHEBEFTED
measurement of lease liabilities HERF - 39
Auditor’s remuneration = ERD BN & 977 1,204
Employee benefit expense* (including EEBAFZ*
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): (BIEEEHH (MT*IS))
Wages, salaries and bonuses T& - FaeKkiE 8,069 10,833
Staff education fee BIHEKE - 28
Welfare, medical and other expenses B BEREMEAEZ 579 620
Contributions to social security plans & REE B
(defined contribution scheme)’ (EFEMHEFREED" 932 1,311
9,580 12,792
Impairment of trade receivables** FEU AR FUR(E ** 22 73 1,806
Impairment of investments in associates** A& R &) 2 & &R E ** 18 4,534 16,000
Mobile and Telecom Charges* BEhEEE 178 258
Direct operating expenses (including EEHSWARNKE S
repairs and maintenance) arising from MENBEEKEER
rental-earning investment properties* (BIEHIETRE) > 16,386 16,519
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, HE¥ % « E Lk E 2
plant and equipment** BR(Was) * 1,492 9)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries** I B AR Bk 413 =
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment KEUYMELTE
properties** BR(Was) * 14 36,000 (2,000)
Fair value losses on financial assets at fair &2 A F{Et 2 A b &8
value through profit or loss** AR EREE
N EEE 19,320 31,980
Government grants* BB (1,235) (2,337)

A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING 7. HERESER ZBREADG
OPERATIONS (continued) F &)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, government grants of
RMB1,235,000 are included in “Other income and gains, net” on the
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, government grants of (i)
RMB1,737,000 are included in “Other income and gains, net”; and (ii)
RMB600,000 are included in “Cost of services provided”, on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Various government grants have been received for developing the
cultural industry in Shenzhen in relation to Shenzhen’s government
policy. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to
these grants. Government grants received for which related
expenditure has not been recognised are included in deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the cost of services
rendered for the year amounted to RMB17,623,000 and included
depreciation of property, plant and equipment of RMB1,024,000,
mobile and telecom charges of RMB178,000, employee benefit
expense of RMB9,000, amortisation of intangible assets of
RMB22,000 and direct operating expenses arising from rental-earning
investment properties of RMB16,386,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2022,the cost of services
rendered for the year amounted to RMB18,255,000 and included
depreciation of property, plant and equipment of RMB1,057,000,
mobile and telecom charges of RMB258,000, employee benefit
expense of RMB546,000, amortisation of intangible assets of
RMB376,000, and direct operating expenses arising from rental-
earning investment properties of RMB16,519,000, netted off with
government grants of RMB600,000.

Included in “Other expenses, net” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2023.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group
as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions (2022:
Nil). At 31 December 2023, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future
years (2022: Nil).

Annual Report 2023
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QI*E:_E%ﬂ =t—HILEE
R BmEPT AAR 1,235,000
FTATEMBRA RIS - SF5] -

ﬁi:§::¢+*ﬂ_+75¢¢ﬁ
ABEEERFBEAGARK,737,000

fu%/\ [E AU A R e s JF 5] Ri)

AR ¥ 600,000 TTaT A TIREARFE A -

U B % 15 A BRI T BT IR Y KU
B NBERRINTHCEE -BES
BAZEHPOARER 2 G BEER -
B YER B i) A B 3R AR BE 5Y X B IR 4 B
FEAER A MR R IR AR

BE-_Z-_=#+-_A=+—HIFE
RERBE KA B ARK17,623,0007T
HABEME BERSBETEARKE
1,024,0007T - BB MEEERAARK
178,0007T *+ B L1&F| B AR 9,000T -
| EESHE ARK22,0005T - BREAE
CHREESHEMEENEELEN
KAER# 16,386,000 7T °

BE_E-_—_F+-_A=+—BILEE
RERB KA B A R¥18,255,000 7T
EFBEDE BEERIXBNEAAR
#1,057,000C - BBMEEERARYE
258,000t EERAMAI ARE
546,000 - B EEBH AR
376,000 7T M BREVFE © A 1% & M B M E AT
EENEELEEKARAR 16,519,000
T LR eHEEERNFEPDARE
600,000 7T, °

RBE-_T-_=F+_A=+—BLLF
EfraBamReATRMAN - 58] -

AR B ARA A e AR IR IRA # $£7J<¥
BRI ZHR (ZEZF &) -
—E=f+zZRA=+—8" $¢l$
BRI B A REEZSTEEROER
Wz @H(ZFZF 8| -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EEMENARZERSFA
REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST T
PAID INDIVIDUALS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, BREBEREES X SHMERA R ([HEFIZ
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of S EH EmRAI EmRA) RE
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong B2 A B 1 25 383(1)(a) ~ (b) * (o) B () 1§
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), section 383(1) (a), (b), (c) URAR (HEEENEER) ROIFE2
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of HEATFTEEONFANEENMSOT

the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

(a) Directors’ remuneration (a) EEME
2023 2022
—_E_-= =SB ==
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRE ARETT

Fees we 396 380
Other emoluments; HAih B -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & & 2B R BYHIZE 1,896 3,923
Performance related bonuses EFERTEAL 422 413
Pension scheme contributions RIRET SR 139 160
Subtotal INET 2,457 4,496
Total @t 2,853 4,876
A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

8. EEMehARZSHFA

REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST T )
PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued) () EEM=E (@)
(i) Independent non-executive directors (i) BAFHTEE
The fees paid to independent non-executive FAN-RABIFRTEEX
directors during the year were as follows: MemsmT
Fees
e
RMB’000
AR%Tx
2023 —E-=F
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong BRIB 55 A& 180
Ms. Wu Shihong RTERET 108
Mr. Gao Shenglin =EME A 108
396
2022 g
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong BRAR S S A 173
Ms. Wu Shihong REtERL 103
Mr. Li Feng* FIE S+ 78
Mr. Gao Shenglin** =M 4 26
380

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year

(2022: Nil).

it Mr. Li Feng resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 20
September 2022.

i Mr. Gao Shenglin was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 20 September 2022.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

8. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

8. EEMeARZRSHFA

-+ ()

() EEME (&)

(i) Executive directors and the chief executive HITESERBEEIANTE
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
¥4 28 & 3N
RENFZ BB SRR HemE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
2023 - e
Executive directors: WOES!
Mr. Liu Xiaosong (“Mr. Liv")*  BIBEMEAE (2154 D) 1,416 354 15 1,785
Mr. Ji Bo EERA 480 68 124 672
1,896 422 139 2,457
2022 SH=E
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Liu Xiaosong (“Mr. Liu")*  BIBEHASE A4 (21554 ]) * 3,258 354 21 3,633
Mr. Ji Bo EERA 665 59 139 863
3,923 413 160 4,496
* Mr. Liu is also the chief executive of the Company. @ BEERBEERARRE

The above directors and chief executive’s
remuneration only included during the tenure of
each director and chief executive of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
board of directors of the Company had approved
the remuneration structure proposal of Mr. Liu
according to be cash remuneration rather than non-
cash consideration, such as grant of share options.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EEMe AR EZEHFA
REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST + )

PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) TBEREHFAL

The five highest paid individuals included two (2022: two)
directors, details of whose remuneration are set out
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining three
(2022: three) non-director, highest paid individuals for the
year are as follows:

FEZEeHEALEBEMSA (2
ZZF - MRB)ES HEFMFS
BEREX - TF=R(ZF==
ZR)EEERFTATZEHMF
ERUNNE

2023 2022
—z—= e — —

—_= =

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TFR ARBTT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ & - JEBE R EWFIEF 1,154 1,668
Performance related bonuses BEAERETEAL 56 -
Pension scheme contributions RORET IR 271 347

1,481 2,015

The number of non-director, highest paid individuals
whose remuneration fell within the following band is as

MeBATEEZFEERSH
AT AT

follows:
Number of employees
EEA"™
2023 2022
—EC-= g
HK$400,000 to HK$1,000,000 7% 400,000 L &
7% 1,000,000 7T 3 3
(c) During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no () R—BE-=%#+-"F=+—8BKk

emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors, or
any of the non-director, highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office nor has any director or
non-director, highest paid individual waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS RaR M AL

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

9. INCOME TAX

The PRC enterprise income tax has been provided at the

statutory tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%).

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong

9. FIfS#R

REEEABHEEERE25% (—ZF

T 25%) FHIR B -

HREEAFEERETBEL TR
A A REREENEHERS -

Kong during the year (2022 Nil). (ZZT——F: &\)
2023 2022
—g=-= ot S —
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT ARETET
Current — PRC BER —

Charge for the year FAX M 690 10,227
Deferred (note 28) JEIE (FT5E28) (6,073) (22,149)
Total tax credit for the year from FECEEBRER

continuing operations and total tax e et RArERE LSt

credit for the year (5,383) (11,922)

A8 New Media Group Limited
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INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory rate for the PRC, in which the principal place
of business of the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —Z - =F+_-A=+—H
9. FR1EHi&

EN/NCIDS NPl o1 = PN ol 28z
MIZEETE AN E BLEHREREX
AAEMRES HEERRERGFENRIEA

is located, to the tax credit at the effective tax rate is as follows: EEHERNT -
2023 2022
—EBZ=F =
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR ARBTE
Profit before tax from continuing operations 3 48 4% & 2 75 2 & %t A 345 7 16,461 10,085
Profit/(loss) before tax from a —IAR RS EE ZBRTA
discontinued operation wm A, (EE) 2,546 (8,050)
19,007 2,035
Tax at the PRC’s statutory tax rate BRI A 25% (Z T = ZF
of 25% (2022: 25%) swmﬁmmyﬁZZMEim 4,752 509
Effect of different tax rates for or enacted NEEATRAHENTE
by other jurisdictions/local authorities (1,342) 66
Preferential tax rate BERE = (84)
Income not subject to tax HAERBA (8,009) (2,014)
Expenses not deductible for tax A HMB X 1,637 7,210
Profits and losses attributable to associates %> #EEf & /A A]18 %5 (2,484) (1,449)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods  LABTEAFEI B &8 (771) (2,515)
Tax losses not recognised REWRBIAEE 834 1,158
Temporary differences recognised REFEER - (14,803)
Tax credit at the Group's effective rate BAERECERBEAE
TIgHK % (5.383) (11,922)
Tax credit from continuing operations BRASEERBEFERAFE
at the Group's effective rate REEBHERR (5,383) (11,922)
Tax charge from a discontinued operation &&= B BT K&t &k 541
at the Group'’s effective rate KRR 2 BITAR X - =

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
RMB2,779,000 (2022: RMB2,369,000) is included in “Share of

profits and losses of associates, net”
statement of profit or loss.

Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS RaR M AL

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION AND DISPOSAL

OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 23 December 2022, the Group entered into an equity
transfer agreement with the other shareholders of
Blueowlgames Limited (“Blueowlgames”) and Shanghai Mu77
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Mu77"), pursuant to
which the Group agreed to sell its 51% equity interests in
Blueowlgames and Shanghai Mu77 at considerations of
RMB286,000 and RMB346,000, respectively, to the other
shareholders. Blueowlgames and Shanghai Mu77 are principally
engaged in game development and game publishing services
(collectively referred to as “Disposed Game Development and
Publishing Services”) and represented a major line of the
Group's business in the cultural business segment for operating
segment information and the Disposed Game Development and
Publishing Services was regarded as a discontinued operation.
The disposal is part of the Group's strategic plan to reallocate its
resources to fit its business plan. The disposal of Blueowlgames
and Shanghai Mu77 was completed during the current year.

The results of the Disposed Game Development and Publishing
Services for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are
presented below:

10.

RIEEBMREEN B

all[pr

R-ZZE-——F+=-—A=+=H £5£E
B Blueowlgames Limited
(I'Blueowlgames |) } /8 7R+ 48 48 &}
EERAR ([ LKLL)) MEMRE
I REERGE Bl A5ERE
A E th I 3R & Blueowlgames & _E /& 7K
T H51% 8 kE RESFRARE
286,000 & A R #346,0007T °
Blueowlgames & /Rt F B2 Fiz
BRI 3 R AR B AT AR TS (S [ B B 2R
FEREITRE]D AAEEKEDE
BERPXEEX G ER ML ELE
BB RBETRBERE /R IEETR -
ZEHEAAEBEEETE 2D N
EHOREER REeEHEBTE B
& Blueowlgames & F/ R+ E R AF
BT °

=+—BIEFE  HEERBAERET
RIGOEEANT :

2023 2022
—E=-= il T Lo

Note RMB’'000 RMB'000

B &E ARBTRT ARBTR

Revenue WA - 9,250

Cost of services provided IR AR 75 Ak AR = (1,943)

Gross profit E7 - 7,307

Other income and gains H A R e - 337

Impairment of goodwill EERE = (9,278)

Administrative expenses TBRX (25) (6,403)

Finance costs B 75 AR - (13)

(25) (8,050)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries BB B AR EE RS 2,571 =
Profit/(loss) before tax from a —IHD R IEEBRIBR T AT

discontinued operation m A, (&) 2,546 (8,050)

Income tax expense FRSHiF X 9 = =

Profit/(loss) for the year from a —HERIEEBENFA
discontinued operation wm A, (EE) 2,546 (8,050)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION AND DISPOSAL  10. EXR ¥ B LEENB A
OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) a) )

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—HBo8AEF
EHENHEEEAERBITRENE

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Disposed Game
Development and Publishing Services classified as held for sale

as at 31 December 2022 are as follows: ERBEZEEHANET
2022
RMB'000
AREETF T
Assets BE
Trade receivables B 5 FE WK 6
Prepayments and other receivables TE A5 R B EL A B UK 66
Cash and cash equivalents BehkReEEY 480
Assets classified as held for sale DERBELHENEE 552
Liabilities EBE
Other payables and accruals Hin e IEREER 4,670
Liabilities directly associated with the assets HEEESEARFELENEEMRENEAE
classified as held for sale 4,670
Net liabilities directly associated with HEALESBEHEENAETE
the disposed group (4,118)

WREEXHOFEEFBIRAOT

Details of the net assets disposed of during the year ended
31 December 2023 are as follows:

RMB’000
AR¥T

Trade receivables B 5 FE WK 6
Prepayments and other receivables TE AT 3R K A i R 66
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFEY 455
Other payables and accruals Hih R RIERETER (4,676)
Non-controlling interests eI T 2,036

(2,113)
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve 4% B DB 54 (K R 174

(1,939)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries == PN 2,571

632
Satisfied by: Frig :
Cash Re 632
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The net cash flows generated from the disposal of subsidiaries

are as follows:

. E: m
Al @)

RIEEBREERBAR

BREMBARMGSNFHRSRMT

2023

—E-=
RMB’000
ARET T
Cash received from disposal of subsidiaries H B EHIB A 7 BSHIRE 632
Cash and bank balances disposed of RBERIRS NIRTTERE & (455)
177

The net cash flows generated from a discontinued operation are

BEREMBARMENFREREBN

as follows: R
2023 2022
—s-= ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT AREBTT
Operating activities K2R E (25) (4,853)
Investing activities KEZH - 329
Financing activities & EE = (198)
Net cash outflow BeR FaE (25) (4,722)
Earnings/(loss) per share from a discontinued operation: RE—BRIEEEER 2 BRER, (&
)
2023 2022
—E-= e =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTT
Basic BN RMBARY  RMBARM
0.09 centsfll  (0.32) cents{ll
Diluted iy RMB A K ¥ @A
0.09 centsfli Not applicable
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DISCONTINUED OPERATION AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The calculations of basic earnings/(loss) per share and diluted
earnings from a discontinued operation are based on:

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

10. ERIEXBREEHNB A

al )

BRIEREEB 2 BRER G (E18)
TYERATEE

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AREBTR
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary KE—HRIEEEXEBEBERN
equity holders of the parent from BRRERRERE AN
a discontinued operation wm L (BK) 2,558 (8,652)
2023 2022
—EB-=F —_Fg--
‘000 ‘000
TR Fhg
Weighted average number of ordinary BRETEESRERNEF,(E8)
shares in issue during the year used in the KA S 31T mAR A hnE
basic earnings/(loss) per share (note 12) I E(FFE12) 2,764,452 2,719,733
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  F3 53 &t & 58 & I8 A A% F 69
used in the diluted earnings per share FREEITZ BRI INEFHE Not applicable
calculation (note 12) (BzE12) 2,772,409 i

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share from
a discontinued operation presented for the year ended 31
December 2022 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the
share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the
basic loss per share from discontinued operation presented.

DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company by
the weighted average number of shares in issue during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. KRR EBIRERA AR
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE EERBF @)
PARENT (Continued)
The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is BRESRNESBEIRBAR AR L ER
based on the profit for the year attributable to the ordinary BB ARBREEENE  UROFEA
equity holders of the Company and the total of (i) the weighted ERTERARNETAE(AREGRE
average number of ordinary shares as used in the basic earnings RAMNHE)  RVBREBITERBAAE
per share calculation, and (i) the weighted average number of B R AR B B IR R EE T
ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no B AR A N HETE -

consideration on the deemed exercise of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are RRABRERBINGRESEN €
based on: BIERATEE
2023 2022
—g=-= — ke
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARBTT
Earnings ZR
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable REETE BIREARZEF
to ordinary equity holders of the MERES BT AR A
Company for the purpose of basic and THRRERFBA
diluted earnings per share calculation PR F AT, (E8) -
From continuing operations BREKEERS 21,890 21,871
From a discontinued operation BRI ET 2,558 (8,652)
24,448 13,219

Number of shares

R B
2023 2022
—8g—-= —E-—F
‘000 '000
TR T AR
Shares iR 5
Weighted average number of ordinary REFTEERERZBFNFR
shares in issue during the year used in BEEITEBRINE T
the basic earnings per share calculation 2,764,452 2,719,733
Effect of dilution — weighted average er® —TERN
number of ordinary shares: INETF9E
Share options B AR 7,957 34,007
2,772,409 2,753,740
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % - BB M
Furniture,
fixtures
Computer  and office Motor Building
Building  equipment  equipment vehicles improvements Total
R RER

B  EERR MOERR LI 43 it
RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMB00O
AEETR  ARBTR  ARETn ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR

31 December 2023 CEC=E+ZA=T-A
At 1 January 2023: RZB-=£-A-H:
Cost wA 131,848 10,932 12,409 994 21,656 177,839
Accurulated depreciation ZitHE (25122) (10,656) (9,061) (994) (17,705) (63,538)
Net carmying amount BHFHE 106,726 276 3,308 - 3,951 114,301
At 1 January 2023, net of R-E-=%-f-A
accumulated depreciation NBEGHE 106,726 276 3,348 - 3,951 114,301
Additions AE - 35 - - 816 851
Disposals RE - 9 (2,354) - - (2363)
Depreciation provided during the year £ (3,015) () (962) s (690) (4,678)
At 31 December 2023, net of RZE-Z%+-A=1-H
accumulated depreciation N 23t E 103,711 291 /) = 407 108,111
At 31 December 2023; R-B-=%+-f=1-H:
Cost B 131,848 10,958 8,307 994 041 174,579
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (28,137) (10,667) (8.275) (994) (18,395) (66,468)
Net carrying amount RHAE 103,711 91 )] - 40m 108,111
Annual Report 2023 A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % - W= M ikiE e
(Continued)
Furniture,
fixtures
Computer and office Motor Building

Building equipment equipment vehicles  improvements Total
K RER

CE | PO B NERE fait

RVBOOO  RWBOOO  RMBOO0  RWBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBIOO0
ARBTT  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETn  ARETR

31 December 2022 ZECCETZA=T-R
At 1 January 2022: RZE-_—F-f-R:
Cost B 131,848 11,382 12,437 994 21657 178,318
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (22,108) (11,091) (7,765 (994) (16,812) (58,770)
Net carrying amount FHFE 109,740 291 467 = 4845 119,548
At 1 January 2022, net of R-E-—£E-f-A
accumulated depreciation MH25hE 109,740 291 4672 - 4845 119,548
Additions AE - 19 | = = 59
Disposals RE - (16) 27 5 = @)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ ERHE (3,014) (18) (1337) - (894) (5,263)
At 31 December 2022, net of R-E--#+-A=1-H
accumulated depreciation MR 2HHE 106,726 276 3348 - 3951 114,301
At 31 December 2022: R-E-—&E+-f=+-R:
Cost fiA 131,848 10,932 12,409 994 21656 177,839
Accurulated depreciation Zithe (25,122) (10,656) (9,067) (994) (17,705) (63,538)
Net carrying amount BEFE 106,726 276 3348 = 3951 114,301
A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

14. KB Y%

2023 2022

—E-= g
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AREBTT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEEE 414,000 412,000
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised RN FERZE(B%k) (36,000) 2,000
Carrying amount at 31 December RTZA=+—RAZKEA 378,000 414,000

Annual

.
=
— =

The Group's investment properties consist of a commercial
building in Chinese Mainland. The Group’s investment
properties were revalued on 31 December 2023 and 2022
based on valuations performed by Asset Appraisal Limited, an
independent professionally qualified valuer.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included
in note 15 to the financial statements.

The valuations of investment properties were based on the
capitalisation of net rental income derived from the existing
tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary income
potential of the properties.

Each year, the Group’s management decides to appoint which
external valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of
the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include market
knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained. The Group’s management has
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results once a year when the valuation is performed
for annual financial reporting.

In the opinion of the directors, the current use of the investment
properties is their highest and best use. The investment
properties measured at fair value in the aggregate carrying
amounts of RMB378,000,000 and RMB414,000,000 as at 31
December 2023 and 2022, respectively, are subject to
restrictions on sale and transfer.

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are
included on page 224.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. HEMEE #®)
Fair value hierarchy NEEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement REEREEMRORAHEAEN TR

hierarchy of the Group's investment properties:

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2023 using

AFEHE
R-ZZB-=%+-A=1+—-HEH
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BB BX BKR
ZHE TER28 TUHESH
(Z41) (£42) (£43) @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR  AR®TR  ARMTR  AR%Trn

Recurring fair value measurement for: ~ fBRAFEFTE
Commercial building WA - - 378,000 378,000

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2022 using

AVEHE
RZB-ZZF+-A=+—-A%FH
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
g ik BX BX
ZBE BEE2Y TUBE2Y
(&) (F42) (F43) Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT  ARETT ARBTRT  ARETR

Recurring fair value measurement for. B3R AF(E 2

Commercial building N S = 414,000 414,000
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RAFE F—EBRE_EZALER
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers TEAEER  FZENEQAFET=E
into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil). BAREH(ZTE__F: 8) o

A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

14. IRE MW E @)

NP EER#E)

BREUMEMAGEETEAREEIER
ABRBan T -

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable inputs Weighted average
fhER % ERFTERBAER piik: B
2023 2022
—EZ=HF —F-—
Commercial building Income approach Estimated rental value RMB128 to RMB135 to
(per sg.m. per month) RMB295 RMB285
N WATE e EE(ETFAAETAR) AR¥128t AR®B1357T

Rental growth rate

(per annum)

HEeERX(8%F)

Discount rate

SELES

A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental value
per square metre and the rental growth rate per annum in
isolation would result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the
fair value of the investment properties. A significant increase/
(decrease) in the discount rate in isolation would result in a
significant decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the investment
properties. Generally, a change in the assumption made for the
estimated rental value is accompanied by a directionally similar
change in the rental growth rate per annum.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for certain properties. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from
the owners with a lease period of 50 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of this land lease.
Leases of office premises generally have lease terms of 2 years.
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing
the leased assets outside the Group. No lease contracts include
extension and termination options and variable lease payments.

Report 2023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS RaR M AL

31 December 2023 —E==%+_-_A=+—H
15. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

15. & @)

rEBEREEA®
@) HREEE

AEBEFAEMBEEENREE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets

and the movements during the year are as follows: REBMT :
Leasehold Office
land premises Total
HELH N #@gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFIT AREFT ARBFT
As at 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—HF—H 11,900 638 12,538
Termination of a lease ERIE—IEMEH = (436) (436)
Depreciation charge TEEHR (324) (202) (526)
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-—&+-A=+—-Bk

and at 1 January 2023 “E-=%—H—H 11,576 - 11,576
Depreciation charge nEER (323) = (323)
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZZ-_=%+_A=+—H 11,253 - 11,253

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

(b) HEEE

FAEERENREERESN

during the year are as follows: TS ¢
2022
RMB'000
ARBTTT
Carrying amount at 1 January M—RA—ANREE 645
Termination of a lease R —IEE A (447)
Accretion of interest recognised during the year ~ F R 2 ERF| B 1L 18 13

Payments

Bk

(211)

Carrying amount at 31 December

R+ZR=+—BNkREE

A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE @
The Group as a lessee (Continued) TEEEREBEAN B
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (0 REZXRPEINHEEHEBEARE
to leases are as follows: wmr

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-=
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRT ARETT

Interest expense on lease liabilities MEBGBEMERX - 13
Gain on termination of a lease BiE—IEEE - (1)
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {F B & E & &
(included in administrative expense) (FFATfTERFASR) 323 526
Expense relating to short-term leases R ERENMX
(included in administrative expenses) (Gt AfTEAXR) - 39
Total amount recognised in profit or loss A Bz & P HER A EE 323 567
(d) The total cash outflow for leases are disclosed in notes d BERHAEMIRSRHEREHERW
32(b) to the financial statements. AABMEASEHEENRKIRS

M e R E R B R 32(b) ©

The Group as a lessor rEEEREHEA
The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) in Chinese AEBRBLEEHELHEHAENF
Mainland under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the WM EME (M 14) - ZEHE
leases generally require the tenants to pay security deposits. RGERERBERLPZNERIEE - ~&H
Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was FRNEBRRAOBEERARBARE
RMB52,485,000 (2022: RMB60,684,000), details of which are 52,485,000t (ZEZZ—_F : AR
included in note 6 to the financial statements. 60,684,000 7T) * #F 15 8 7 B 75 =R K KT
6 e
At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted minimum lease MRZEBEZ=F+-HA=+—H " BER
payments receivable by the Group in future periods under non- SERBEEBAP 2 AR EELEHEE
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows: K EWRA IR SERBEE N RO T -
2023 2022
—g=-= s —
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE AR®TT

Within one year —FR 12,874 14,529
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS RaR M AL

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

16. GOODWILL 16. 2
RMB’000
ARET T
At 1 January 2022 RZE_—_F—F—H8:
Cost B 88,406
Accumulated impairment 2 RE (79,128)
Net carrying amount REEE 9,278
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of R —F—H—BKA -
accumulated impairment R RETRE 9,278
Impairment during the year RERNRE (9,278)
At 31 December 2022 KRB ZF+ZA=1+—BEREFE -
At 31 December 2022: RNR-BE-_—_F+-A=+—08:
Cost Bk 7R 88,406
Accumulated impairment 2 RE (88,406)
Net carrying amount REFE -

Cost at 1 January 2023 and
31 December 2023, net of

R-ZE-_=F—HF—8K
—TEBEC=F+-A=+—BRA

accumulated impairment Mk 25RE -
At 31 December 2023 R=F_=Ft=H=—H

Cost B =

Accumulated impairment 2EHRIE -

Net carrying amount REFE =

Impairment testing of goodwill

[k 3R

Goodwill acquired through business combinations was allocated
to the game-related entertainment cash-generating unit
(“Game-related Entertainment CGU") for impairment testing.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEEAR LD A
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16.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GOODWILL (Continued)

Game-related entertainment cash-generating
unit

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the external business
environment had drastically deteriorated as a result of the
prolonged COVID-19 pandemic. The continuous influence of
the national policies and fierce competition in the game industry
had negatively affected the projected cash flows of the Game-
related Entertainment CGU and management decided to cease
the game development and publishing business. Arising from
these, prior year assumptions on projected cash flows based on
financial budgets were reassessed and reduced to reflect the
current assessment of future outlook in the impairment
assessment of the Game-related Entertainment CGU. The
resulting minimal recoverable amount was estimated based on
the value in use of the Game-related Entertainment CGU, using
cashflow projections based on most recent financial budget and
a discount rate of 17%. This resulted in the recognition of an
impairment loss of RMB9,278,000 on the carrying amount of
the goodwill on the Game-related Entertainment CGU within
the discontinued operation of Disposed Game Development and
Publishing Services, details of which are included in note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
Game-related Entertainment CGU. The following describes each
key assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted revenue was the average revenue
achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the unit.
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BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

16. & @)

EEEHERESELE T
RZEZ—F REFENFERER
BEE INPEEREZBEE(L  -BR

BORMBES EUARBEEBITEMZIHF
HESHAENRSELEE THERRS
REETERVE WEREEEAETF
RUREE ISR FEITER - AR
BERA - ERPBEENEFRSR
ERBOL BT HILEE - ARBETE
BEEAENRCELE T EERENG
FEARBENEATG &R ER
HEEEENRCELSTNEREEL
FRAERGIBMEEENRE S RETE
AEENRETIRESER17% 0T
PR - FENECEEEBFAZEMEIT
RIS ERIEEB A - HEE RIS
CEABETNEERASERRATAR
#9,278,000 W) H BB K - B R
B SRR FIRE10 ©

AEBEREENRSELETNEAE
EREAETRR EREEETHE
EBEAARELR SR MERENE
AR RERERN T

FHEWA — BRETHEERAEBED
AR REREFEH —FERMN TS

WA - FRERR R a4 = K R H T 5 O B
& o
HEE — FIBWITRE SR A &R

FEBREMMNSERE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BEEE
Trademarks, Mobile
licences and Music game
software copyrights licences Total
BEF AR
R#&# FRmE g ATy st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000

AREBTT ARBTT ARETT AR®T:R

31 December 2023 —EB-=H
TESHETr=E
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of RZZE-_=%—H—H
accumulated amortisation and 2R Mk BEHE
impairment 35 RO E 796 - - 796
Amortisation provided during the year 4 A 45 (22) - - (22)
At 31 December 2023 RZZTZ=F
+=ZA=+—-~H 774 - - 774
At 31 December 2023: RZTZ=F
i =t
Cost AR 39,282 7,030 65,543 111,855
Accumulated amortisation and R EELAE
impairment (38,508) (7,030) (65,543) (111,081)
Net carrying amount REFE 774 - - 774
31 December 2022 nt. - St - 3
+=ZA=+-H
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of RZFEZZF—H—H
accumulated amortisation and 2R - M RETE
impairment R E 818 = 354 1,172
Amortisation provided during the year & R $4 (22) = (354) (376)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-—
+-A=+—-H 796 = = 796
At 31 December 2022: i ——
+-RA=+—-8:
Cost BE 39,282 7,030 65,543 111,855
Accumulated amortisation B EEEAE
and impairment (38,486) (7,030) (65,543) (111,059)
Net carrying amount RESE 796 - - 796
A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. RS A AIRE
2023 2022
—E-= -

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTR AREBTET

Share of net assets EhEEFE 114,421 104,484

Goodwill on acquisition WHEEERNEE 280,530 280,530

394,951 385,014

Provision for impairment DERIERE L] (100,061) (95,527)

Share of net assets ELEEFRE 294,890 289,487
During the year, the continual influence of the national policies FA - ARBEREERER R AR RE
on protection of minors on online games and content, REFAZHENF[ELE  BEES
management re-assessed the outlook and future performance M ETREEGIEARABENBER
of certain associate affected. As at 31 December 2023, the AR R RARRKRR RZT_=4F
recoverable amount of certain investment in associate is TZA=+—H HFTREZEAFNE
determined based on the fair value less cost of disposal of that BB S ENRBEZEE AFHA
associate using market approach. The recoverable amount as at FEBEEXNRFERMBEETE - N
31 December 2023 was amounted to RMB544,000 (2022: T =F+ A=+ —ANAKESE
RMB6,412,000) which is less than the carrying amount of BARESLIA000TT (ZE-—F: AR
RMB5,078,000 (2022: RMB22,412,000). Accordingly, an #6,412,00070)  EREEEARE
impairment loss of RMB4,534,000 (2022: RMB16,000,000) was 5,078,000t (ZE=Z=F : AR
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for 22,412,0007T) - At - FNERE B =
the year. The fair value measurement of the recoverable amount RERBEEB AR 4,534,000 (=
of that associate falls within level 3 of the fair value T - % : AR%16,000,0007T) ° 5%
measurement hierarchy. Bt QR A BB AT EFTEBR

NFEFESHEHERS -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. MEEE R AR E (@)
Particulars of a material associate are as follows: FE—HBERRZBEEFBOT
Percentage
of ownership
Particulars Place of interest
of issued registration attributable
Name shares held and business to the Group  Principal activities
AEBENL
FisE T BEERER
a8 R 1E aMREREH Bt ETEEHR
Beijing Zhangwen Information Registered capital PRC/Chinese Mainland 35 Incubation, production and global
Technology Co., Ltd.* distribution of high-quality cultural
("Beijing Zhangwen") recreation content IP
EREXERRMARRAA AR HE /B R 35 B@mXRAAPHEL
(MtREX])* BUEM 2 IREAT
Beijing Zhangwen is accounted for using the equity method. IREXKBEREZE -
# English name for identification purposes only 5 RXETBEERZREH
A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Beijing Zhangwen, adjusted for any
differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements:

REE &N B E )

TERINRTUEREXHWHHEERE -
ELEERBESTHRNERETTH
W RERE T BN R P REEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-=
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRT ARETT

Current assets MEEE 519,184 528,598
Non-current assets EMENE E 23,436 29,233
Current liabilities ER=Ri (242,511) (288,593)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (3,914) (2,886)
Net assets FEE 296,195 266,352
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest REEE(REE A TR FE
in the associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership & B3 IR B 35% 35%
Group's share of net assets of the AEBE(NEBEARFEEMNTE
associate, excluding goodwill TeREHE 104,712 93,410
Goodwill on acquisition BEELE 2 HE(FIRAFRE)
(less cumulative impairment) 185,105 185,105
Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 289,817 278,515
Revenue WA 1,014,990 810,186
Profit for the year and total comprehensive B N al#EziHH A G AF
income for the year attributable to equity & /&% Fll M 4R & W2k 4258
holders of the associate 32,290 18,327

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s associates that are not individually
material.

TRARER(EHUTER) ZHEA
SIS E RS -

2023 2022

—_E_= —E-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARE T ARETFT

Share of the associates’ losses and total FROEBRENA ZEENM

comprehensive loss for the year Ht2mER
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBEBESNEIRE
Group's investments in the associates ZEHEBESR

(1,365) (617)

5,073 10,972
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31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. RELANFIZI’E

2023 2022

—E-=F B F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR AREBTT

Share of net assets BREEFE 119 119
Impairment B (119) (119)

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BT AEREE
2023 2022
—E—= ot L el
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000

fiEx AR®TR AR®BTT

Derivative financial instrument THEEMT A - -
Structured financial products SRS RER 72,000 20,000
Listed funds ITHEEKE 123,960 —
Other unlisted equity investments Eh3E ETRERE 55,908 72,878

251,868 92,878
Current portion mEE D (195,960) (20,000)
Non-current portion ERENZ D 55,908 72,878

A8 New Media Group Limited
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31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20 MAFEMEBEZEFH
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) ABmZ T REE @)

Notes: Bisr

Pursuant to the capital injection agreement and sale and purchase
agreements of equity interests of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television,
Media (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“Lanlanlanlan File & Television”) the Group
may request the founders of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television to
purchase back all or part of the equity interests in Lanlanlanlan Film &
Television acquired by the Group if the audited net profit of
Lanlanlanlan Film & Television for any of the financial years ended 31
December 2017, 2018 and 2019 was less than RMB20 million,
RMB30 million and RMB45 million, respectively (the “Put Option”).

On 25 March 2019, the Group issued an exercise note to exercise the
Put Option to request the founders of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television
to purchase back the equity interests in Lanlanlanlan Film & Television
(the “Forward Contract”) as the audited net profit of Lanlanlanlan
Film & Television was less than RMB30 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. On the same date, in response to the exercise note,
the founders had executed an undertaking letter (the “Undertaking
Letter”) in favour of the Group pursuant to which the founders have
undertaken to the Group to perform their obligations to compensate
the Group by way of purchasing the equity interest in Lanlanlanlan
Film & Television transferred to the Group. However, in view of the
serious shortage of fund, the founders then agreed they would
perform their obligations to the Group as mentioned above within
three years from the date of the Undertaking Letter, and would pay
the default interest in accordance with the terms and conditions set
out in relevant capital injection agreement and sale and purchase
agreements. The founders then had also undertaken that all cash
dividends received from Lanlanlanlan Film & Television would be used
for purchasing the equity interest in Lanlanlanlan Film & Television as
mentioned above. The Group is of the view that it is of great
uncertainty to fully recover the consideration for the purchase of
equity interest from the founders as it would mainly depended on the
ability of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television to declare dividends and the
financial position of the founders.

At the end of the reporting period and up to the date of this report,
the founders of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television had only paid RMB5
million to the Group as the first payment for the purchase of equity
interest in Lanlanlanlan Film & Television held by the Group. The
founders of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television made a written
undertaking to the Group, pursuant to which the founders of
Lanlanlanlan Film & Television had undertaken to perform their
obligations to complete the purchase of equity interests in
Lanlanlanlan Film & Television held by the Group by 24 March 2022.
The founders of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television have failed to fulfil
such undertaking and the Group has filed an arbitration application
with the Shenzhen Court of International Arbitration (the “SCIA") on
15 March 2022, requested for payment of the equity repurchase
amount of RMB141.4 million and penalty interest of RMB59.0 million.

On 27 December 2022, the SCIA issued a mediation statement in
favour of the Group, in which the Group and the founders of
Lanlanlanlan Film & Television had signed an mediation agreement to
settle the outstanding payments before 10 November 2022. As at the
end of the reporting period and up to the date of this report, no
further payment was received by the Group. The Group had filed for
an executory application to the People’s Court in Beijing.

As at the end of the reporting period, management assessed the fair
value of the Forward Contract was nil (2022: nil).
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KETHIFNED NERARE
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A R # 45,000,000 70 B+ 2N 5 @ AT E sk
BEEEYRNANRAREEEEZR
EEFA SO EEE SR ER ([
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EEEEEESAIRE(TREAEO))
REAREEEETZREEZE_ZT—/\F
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H AR #30,000,0007t B H - ARETT
FEmE BIMALNREBRMAS T AR
AR ([EBEE]) Bt EEEER
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EEEEYANEIMATERE  TE A
EEETRAMBHESREBRAERE
TR EEEEZ R o RE -AEER
AREBERENBEIRAZHKEKEEE
BeBEEEATHEL BREKE
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MABARHESBR -

HERERRRARERMGZ2A  BEE
EEYENEARARNAEEELFAR
¥ 5,000,000 CIERBEASEMISEEE
EEYERECEER EEEEYH
WA ARANEERELSmAR  &AH
RIEBE-_—_F=A-+WBMBITE®
EREEAEESAEEEETARE -
EEEE IR RAIM A KRBT LA
#H AEEEERN _ZT-_—_F=A+%
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HEE BFRHREEEEYAMAIM
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(@

At the end of the reporting period, the investments mainly comprised
unlisted financial products purchased from banks in the PRC with
expected interest rates at 1.85% to 2.70% (2022: 2.85%) per
annum.

The structured financial products were mandatorily classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest. The fair
value was determined by references to quoted prices performed by
financial institutions.

The listed fund investments comprised the Treasury Bond ETF listed
on National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations
(the “NASDAQ"). The fair value was determined by references to
quoted prices in market.

The unlisted investments as at 31 December 2023 were investments
in unlisted funds, including investments in Shenzhen Qianhai
Qingsong Venture Investment Fund Management Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (“Qingsong Fund I1”), Shenzhen Qingsong Phase IIl Equity
Investment Fund Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership)
(“Qingsong Fund IlI"), Shenzhen Qianhai Tianhe Cultural Industry
Investment Center (Limited Partnership), and Shenzhen Qingsong
Small and Medium Enterprises Development Investment Partnership
Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (“Qingsong Fund IV"). They were
mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of
principal and interest. The controlling shareholder of the Company is
also a key management personnel and a shareholder of Qingsong
Fund II, Qingsong Fund Ill and Qingsong Fund IV.

The Group engaged an independently qualified valuer to determine
the relevant fair values using market approach.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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20. AP EERHEZHE

Az

Wi

(b)

(@

T RUE E ®)
(%)

RBEEHR FLEMERMERRETE
%%;%qﬂliﬁmfﬁﬁ TEEIF A B

HEEB185%E2.70% (T - —F:
2.85%) °

MR B BERNANRSREYL
F2BASRASHHK  BitBEHS
FARATEIBARSBIARE
SRAE ATEESESRMABRE
PR B R B -

tTEESREBRERXBEFRHEWH
SEPRERG ((MEER]) EHHE

BETF - ERABEZRTSRERE -

RZE-_=F+=-_A=+—H8 3kLEm
RERLTREES 2RE  BER
FAYNTANESRAIERERS X (BR
&%) ([ER8])  FYmSR=8K
BREESEREE(ARER) ([FR
=D FRVFIERM X EEREH
D(EREE) MIRE RFRYITERF /)
WMEEERBRESRLE(BRER) (S
M) - ZEREREEHNRERT
AR RABZN R GIEDHE
BRIEATEFEEEE quA?‘EI 52 3%
B ARNRIMERBRRIZ —H-
BN RENMNEEEE %ﬂ@/\ﬁﬂlﬁx%

AEERF-REABHLE R FHED
% AT AEERBEN AR EE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

21 BEATEHERR BB

AEMEERR T/ E

B

¥

2023 2022

—E= —_=_—

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
T AR®TR ARBTET

Listed equity investment, at fair value MR E @ LA TFE (a) 12,751 13,493
Unlisted equity investments, ELmEREE  EATE
at fair value (b) 104,692 90,096
117,443 103,589
Notes: 5T
(@)  The balance included an investment in Shenzhen Lemon Network (a) ZHBBE—ERENRIITEREEB

Technology Co., Ltd. (“Lemon Network”), a company listed on
National Equities Exchange and Quotations (the “NEEQ") (stock code:
835924). Given that the shares of Lemon Network are transferred by
agreement and the trading of the shares are not active, the Group
engaged an independent professional valuer to determine the fair
value of the investment using market approach as at 31 December
2023 and 2022.

(b)  The balance included investments in two game development
companies, namely Xiamen Mengjia Network Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Xiamen Mnegjia”) and Shanghai Hanqu Network Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Shanghai Hanqu"”). The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to determine the fair values of the investments
using market approach and asset-based approach.

The equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income as the Group considers
these investments to be strategic in nature.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

22. B BR R

2023 2022
—_E_= ==

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTR ARBTE

Trade receivables FE U BR 3R 8,004 9,216
Impairment B (1,879) (1,806)
Net carrying amount HE 6,125 7,410

The Group granted credit period from 5 to 15 days. For certain
customers, payments were due upon the presentation of
invoice. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. Apart from the terms of the
lease contracts generally require the customers to pay security
deposits, the Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivables. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

AEBERTSEISEHNEESR -RET
EEME RN BEZRIH-
ZNER B BN B AR AR ) FE M BR B - T A
RAMEEFBRBSRERETHERN -
BREESRGR—RERELPIMNRE
S AR B B H R ORI A
BV REMIETHEBAORE - BUER
RARTER -

RBEHR - RIEBZ AL MR EE
BE BRI RE DT

2023 2022

—E-= —_=_—

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREBTT

Billed BEE
Within 1 month —EAR 1,486 1,954
1 to 2 months —&=_{@A 1,313 1,739
2 to 3 months —Z=MEA 1,002 1,484
Over 3 months BiE=18A 2,324 2,233
6,125 7,410
A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22. FEWBRR R (&)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

FEWBRSURE R BZ BT

2023 2022
—E-= —EFE-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®BTRT ARETT

At beginning of year REH 1,806 248
Impairment loss, net (note 7) SREE K - F5E (H5E7) 73 1,806
Amount written off as uncollectible ANAT Bl B FROIE R 5 - (248)
At end of year RER 1,879 1,806

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for more
than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Report 2023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

22. TEBR K ()

BRASERARBRIGENRIIE
FOEERREHEINT

R-B-_=%+-RA=+—H

Past due
ok
Less than Over
Current 1 month 1 month Total
B HSR-8A BB—-EA o
Expected credit loss rate BACEFRZ 0.00% 0.00% 36.10% 23.48%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) A AE (ARET L) 1,486 1,313 5,205 8,004
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)  FAHAEEBE (ARET ) - = 1,879 1,879
As at 31 December 2022 R=B=-—F+=A=+—8H
Past due
Less than Over
Current 1 month 1 month Total
SN HR—1EA BR-fA Eh
Expected credit loss rate BHEEREE 0.00% 0.00% 32.69% 19.60%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BREAE (ARET ) 1,954 1,739 5,523 9,216
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)  EEEEEE (ARET ) - = 1,806 1,806
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PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

23. TERT R B H Ath e U 3k

2023 2022
—E-= —EFE-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®BTFRT ARETT

Prepayments iEKDE:N 17,503 18,233
Loan to an associate HEENRZER 2,493 -
Deposits and other receivables e M H b U R 6,588 2,739
26,584 20,972

Provision for impairment E (17,085) (17,085)
9,499 3,887

The financial assets as at the end of the reporting period relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

As at 31 December 2023, loan to an associate is unsecured,
interest-bearing at 5% per annum and repayable within one
year. The controlling shareholder of the Company is also a
controlling shareholder of that associate.

Included in other receivables are amounts due from the Group's
associates of RMB533,000 (2022: RMB533,000), which are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

23.

24.

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Included in the provision for impairment of prepayments and
other receivables is a provision of impairment of prepayments
RMB16,743,000 (2022: RMB16,743,000) with a gross carrying
amount of RMB16,743,000 (2022: RMB16,743,000).

The gross carrying amount of RMB9,081,000 (2022:
RMB2,739,000) and the corresponding expected credit loss
allowance of RMB342,000 (2022: RMB342,000) for the financial
assets included in prepayments and other receivables were
classified as Stage 1 for the measurement of expected credit
loss as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. Expected credit losses
on financial assets included in prepayments and other
receivables are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with
reference to historical loss record of the Group and probability
of default of counterparties. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect
the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied for as at 31
December 2023 ranged from 0.06% to 20% (2022: ranged
from 0.06% to 20%).

RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

23. TERT R B H At FE U 3K ()

LENRREMERRREREAR
#16,743,000 T (ZZE - —F: ARK
16,743,0007T) EERE{E B 5 ATE R K
BB B AR 16,743,0000 (= &
——%F: AR¥16,743,0007T) °

R-_ZT-_=ZF+-—A=+—H 5t A&
NREkEMERRcREENREE
FARM9,081,000L (ZFE==F: A
K% 2,739,0007T) KA TEEEAIE
KEHARBE3L2,000(ZFE-—F: A
R#342,00070) o B ATEEEREX
R ENE —BER - FHABNREE
fhER R s CRIBENTEHREERAR
HABAXFEAU2EARAEBELIEXL
FOERANE BRI T AT - B R g
7798 DA R B & AT SAR 0 0 9 R PR AT AR
N TEE (MER) BEZTZ=F
TZA=T—BREBMNEBELRER
0.06% £20% (ZZT =4 :0.06% =
20%) °

24. X R HIR1TE R

2023 2022
—E=-= —F—
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B RE ARE T ARETF T
Restricted bank balances X IR HI8R1T 45 8 (a) 65 65

Notes:

(a) Restricted bank balances of the Group represented government
grants received that are restricted as to use.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

25 Re MIREFEY

2023 2022
—E-= —EFE-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETIT
Cash and bank balances B RIRTTE S 501,695 608,766
Restricted bank balances SR AIRITEE R 65 65
501,760 608,831
Less: Restricted bank balances (note 24) ¥ : PR #I$R 1T 4584 (M5t 24) (65) (65)
Cash and cash equivalents for the RehkReFEDR
purpose of the consolidated FEmBikRER
statement of financial position 501,695 608,766
Denominated in: FHEM ¢
RMB AR 117,393 121,990
usD ETT 382,536 479,759
Other currencies Hip g 1,766 7,017
Cash and cash equivalents Be MRS EEY 501,695 608,766

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB are not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Chinese
Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Time deposits of RMB376,662,000 (2022: Nil) have
maturity of one month to six months and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

Report 2023
=FFR

RBEHR  AEBUAARBFEZR
ERREEEY TEARABRREME
B R RIEP BREEOMNEE HX
MEEEZEE  HERIMIINEER)
AEEELEBRAERECEELZR
RITHARBHBSEMES

BIRESRBREFARITERARIEZS
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BA RS RaR M AL

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. FERTRRFR
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the R EER AEEREZAHGFED
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: FERBRFZ R DT AT
2023 2022
SIS =525 T =
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETET
Within 1 month —EAA 369 -
1 to 3 months —Z==1@A - -
4 to 6 months e (EPE - =
Over 6 months B A BA & 6,653 7,082
7,022 7,082
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally FERERRIDTEE - B—MER3I0BE
settled on 30-day to 180-day terms. 180 HA#KEH
As at 31 December 2023, included in the trade payables was an RZZTZ=F+=ZA=+—H RER
amount due to a joint venture of RMB46,000 (2022: ERPBEETEN —KREERQRIHNIE
RMB46,000), which was unsecured, interest-free and repayable #ANR¥EL6,000L (ZEZ—F: AR
on demand. #46,0007T)  ZAEABER £ 8
RIZEREE -
27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. Hitv BRI R R EET B
2023 2022
—E-= —E- %
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARBTR ARBTT
Other payables LT 3R 26,693 29,190
Accruals fEEtE R 5,739 6,904
Contract liabilities aHEE (a) - 38
Receipts in advance TE U FRIE 190 251
Current portion mENE S 32,622 36,383

As at 31 December 2023, included in other payables was an
amount due to an associate of RMB85,000 (2022: RMB85,000),
which was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, included in other payables is
consideration received in advance of RMB316,000 from the
non-controlling shareholder of Blueowlgames and Shanghai
Mu77 in respect of the sale of equity shares of Blueowlgames
and Shanghai Mu77 as further detailed in note 10 to the
financial statements.

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

27. EEN R L ESTER ®)

R_TE__F+ZRA=+—H & AH
fth J& < 3% I8 B 5 12 AT Y BY Blueowlgames
REBREEWIFEZERBREGEE
Blueowlgames & EEAREEHREAR
#316,0007T - BAE —LFHBHRY
BHwEMEE10-

Note:
(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: BHEAEFBOT
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
—EBC-=HF - —F--
+=A=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H —HA—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFT AREFT
Short-term advances received W B & = 52 Bi7E (150 E
from customers
Game-related operations 25 B AR PR 75 - - 13,059
Music-based entertainment BB RS - 38 73
Total contract liabilities AEHBEREE - 38 13,132

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to render
game-related and music-based entertainment services. The decrease
in contract liabilities in 2022 was mainly due to the decrease in short-
term advances received from customers and reclassification of
contract liabilities in respect of game-related operations to liabilities
directly associated with the assets classified as held for sale as detailed
in note 10 to the financial statements at the end of the year. The
decrease in contract liabilities in 2023 was mainly due to the decrease
in short-term advances received from customers.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

28. DEFERRED TAX 28. IRIEFLIA
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the RERN - EBEEHIBEEERELEHREEE
year are as follows: ROEBINT
Financial Losses
Financial assets  available for

assets  atfairvalue  offsetting

Revaluation atfairvalue through other against future

Provision for  of investment through  comprehensive taxable
impairment  properties  profit or loss income profits Others Total

BROVEHE RAVENE AR

BESBFA BHEEBRA  ENAR

Reunz Biv HbrEUE  EREAEN
HERE 2B GMEE  GREE  RAEFR i 4%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  AR¥TT ARBTT  ARETR  ARMTR  AR¥TR  AR%TR

At 1 January 2022 RZE_-F-f-H 85 (69,870) (6,568) (28,644) - (663) (105,660)
Deferred tax creditedi(charged) to the ERRBERTA/(HR)

statement of profit or loss during the year LEIERE (R9)

(note 9) 14,804 (500) 7995 - - (150) 22,149
Deferred tax redited to the statement of ERREEYERITA

comprehensive income during the year LB - - - 11,745 - = 11,745

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZBZZF+ZR=1RR

“2-=%-8-A 14,889 (70,370) 1421 (16,899) - (813) (71,766)

Deferred tax redltedi(charged) to the statement ~ ERRBERA/ (1K)
of profitor loss during the year (note 9) ZETEHE (F9) (14,804) 9,000 483 S 7,634 = 6,073

Deferred tax charged to the statement of ERREENERTA
comprehensive income during the year LB - - - (3.463) - s (3.463)
At 31 December 2023 RZEC=#+ZR=+-H 85 (61370) 5,670 (20362) 7,634 (813) (69,156)
2023 2022
—g-= T

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®BTRE ARETT

Deferred tax assets EEIREE 13,389 16,316
Deferred tax liabilities REHIBEAE (82,545) (88,082)
(69,156) (71,766)
A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of
RMB41,581,000 (2022: RMB91,524,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Except
for the recognised tax losses of RMB30,536,000 (2022: Nil)
arising in Chinese Mainland, deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of the remaining losses as they have arisen
in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it
is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Chinese Mainland and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's
subsidiaries established in the PRC. In the opinion of the
directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB263,638,000 at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB279,440,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

Annual Report 2023
—T=FFH

—

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —Z - =F+_-A=+—H
& AL 7 I8 ()

AEEHBREFRAMZHIEEBHEA
AR®41,581,000L (ZEZZF : A
[ #91,524,0007T) - Br A Bl A 2 A&
BB MR %5 & 18 A R ¥ 30,536,000 7T
ZEDF\E) HEBEARE
REELEMEELEE  AAREEBBEEAL
REBE—BERENTAR  BRAT
AR RS A BRI B IS B 1R 00 FE R
FE o

REBFECEMETE  RABEKIZZ
SNERRFASMNEIIRE E TR Z BB HE
W 10% FEHN TR EZ%EEEA_QvJ\i—
A—BRER YERAR_TZTLF
TZA=+T—RRELZEF - KW EH
REERINEIREE FrB R AR 2 FR]
BRBEEHZ AR EAREZEN
ME - REBMZERBRER10% A
b NEBARZFR B2 B
ARB-ZEEN\F-A-—BEELZA
Moy ik 2 BB SR TR -

#fg:_¢+—ﬂ2+—ay$%l
YARERPBRAAKZZHBQ
@HZ*EmQﬂﬁéizﬁWMﬁm
BRERIB -ZEEZRA ZEMBAAR
ARERDEBARAFIHEETK - R
T+ -—A=Z+—H ' RPER
M E AR 2IRE B B H AR ERIELT
HRENEREZSBAEAEOARE
263,638,000 L (ZE==F : AR¥
279,440,0007T) °

Zli"ﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁ%fﬁﬁéﬂﬁﬁ\jﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
BREATE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS RaR M AL

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

29. ISSUED CAPITAL 29. IR
Shares i gvi)
2023 2022
—E-=F =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥ETET
Authorised: JETE ¢
3,000,000,000 (2022: 3,000,000,000) 3,000,000,000 % (ZFE = =4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 3,000,000,000 f%) Zi& EE
0.01 BT Ak 26,513 26,513
Issued and fully paid: BERITRER :
2,772,834,628 (2022: 2,740,388,628) 2,772,834,628 R (ZE ==
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 2,740,388,628 i%) AR EE
0.018 T2 BB 23,450 23,162
A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital RABZBRAZEHHENAT :
is as follows:
Number of Equivalent
issued and Nominal nominal Equivalent
fully paid value of  investment valueof  Equivalent
ordinary ordinary share ordinary share
shares shares premium shares premium
EBTR ZEEER ZEBKH
BREER EBREE REGEE HEHE e
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
i BT BETT ARETE AR®TR
At 1 January 2022 i S = 2,707,190,628 27,072 1,150,481 22,870 968,683
Issue of new shares Sl (@ 33,198,000 332 11,076 292 9,667
At 31 December 2022 And RZBZ=f+-A=+-A
1 January 2023 k=2==%—-A—H 2,740,388,628 27,404 1,161,557 23,162 978,350
Issue of new shares BITRA (b) 32,446,000 324 6,626 288 5,903
As at 31 December 2023 WZBZ=F+t-A=1—-H 2,772,834,628 27,728 1,168,183 23,450 984,253

A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

29. ISSUED CAPITAL (continued) 29. IR
Shares (Continued) R (&)
Notes: MisE

(a) The subscription rights attaching to 21,138,000 and 12,060,000

share options were exercised at the subscription price of HK$0.219
and HK$0.255 per share, respectively, resulting in the issue of
33,198,000 shares for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of
approximately HK$7,705,000, equivalent to approximately
RMB6,777,000 (note 30). An amount of approximately
RMB3,182,000 was transferred from the employee share-based
compensation reserve to share premium upon the exercise of the
share options.

The subscription rights attaching to 2,734,000, 9,730,000 and
19,982,000 share options were exercised at the subscription price of
HK$0.255, HK$0.221 and HK$0.167 per share, respectively, resulting
in the issue of 32,446,000 shares for a total cash consideration,
before expenses, of approximately HK$6,184,000, equivalent to
approximately RMB5,484,000 (note 30). An amount of approximately
RMB707,000 was transferred from the employee share-based
compensation reserve to share premium upon the exercise of the
share options.
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(@ 21,138,000 0% & 12,060,000 % B8 % # &9
REED B STA0.219/8 T % 0.255/%8
TR B 1T - 533,198,000 % A%
DT HIBRERENESHERSE
#97/7,705,0008 70 - HE RO AR
6,777,000 7T (M5E30)  1T{F AR IES -
#9 AR 53,182,000 7Tt B T % 17 5 B2
HEEARMDEE -

(b) 2,734,000 % - 9,730,000 f% & 19,982,000
IREERENRBED B A FTAR0.255%
JT 0 0.221 78 7L R 0.2558 T R EE 1T
f# + B 832,446,000 f% f% 5 9 E5 17 - 40
% % 1% 5,484,000 7T (K5E30) - 1T EE
fEHETR - X9 AR 707,000 T B T D
T EBSEARDRE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 30. FB A HEGT &

198

Share option scheme

The Company operated a share option scheme to motivate
eligible persons to optimise their future contribution to the
Group and/or to reward them for their past contributions, to
attract and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing relationships
with those eligible persons who are significant to and/or whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance,
growth or success of the Group, and additionally in the case of
executives, to enable the Group to attract and retain individuals
with experience and ability and/or to reward them for their past
contributions. The share option scheme became effective on 26
May 2008 and expired on 26 May 2018. A new share option
scheme of the Company was approved and adopted by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 25 May
2018.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options that can be granted under the share
option scheme and any other schemes of the Group shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue,
i.e., 270,791,262 shares, as at 25 May 2018 on which an
ordinary resolution was passed at the annual general meeting of
the Company.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the share option scheme and any other schemes
of the Group shall not exceed 10% of the Company’s issued
share capital from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issuable under the share
options to each eligible participant in the share option scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEEAR LD A

BBRREE
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e B AT 8l -

e HTERIEBRETS R AEET
o] E fth B AR A 51 8% 1 2 BT B BB AR M 1
AREBITZERRNHEE - AHTFEE
BR-_ZT—N\FRA-THASETZR
REAFAS LR BBMNERESZ
10% 5T 2 FFREN 270,791,262 BXRX 1) -

EeHTEREERETSRAEET
I E AL 8 B & R MR TTE 2 B
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30.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
Share option scheme (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of
offer of the share options.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company'’s shares on the date of
offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS RaR M AL

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 30. IR ETE (@)
Share option scheme (Continued) BRESE ()
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends B EE THEAZEREINK
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. The following share RRELREBZEN -RERN - BARE
options were outstanding under the share option scheme ETEITE T HARITE 2 ERELT
during the year:
2023 2022
—E-= b T e
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price  of options price of options
InFEE G niEF g
THEE BREZE TEE BIREHE
HKS$ HK$
per share ‘000 per share ‘000
BRET FH  BRERT T 15
At 1 January R—A—RAf 0.26 74,713 0.29 113,772
Lapsed during the year FRE KR 0.56 (8,910) 1.04 (4,808)
Forfeited during the year F R8I - - 0.45 (1,053)
Exercised during the year FRITIE 0.19 (32,446) 0.23 (33,198)
At 31 December Rar=E = 0.25 33,357 0.26 74,713

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for

share options exercised during the year was HK$0.19 (2022:

HK$0.23) per share.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 30. FE AR T El )
Share option scheme (Continued) BRESE ()
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options WMEBMKR MARITEBRENITERER
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: TEBEYIAT -
2023 —E-=F
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREZA TEE* TEH
‘000 HK$ per share
T4 gREBET
1,715 0.570 9-1-2018 to £ 8-1-2025
2,000 0.439 7-5-2018 to £ 7-5-2025
8,813 0.221 20-6-2019 to £ 20-6-2029
20,828 0.219 28-6-2019 to £ 28-6-2029
1 0.255 30-9-2021 to £ 30-9-2031
33,357
2022 —E -
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BARER R TT{ERfE* 171 B
‘000 HK$ per share
FH BRAET
8,910 0.560 16-5-2016 to & 16-5-2023
1,715 0.570 9-1-2018 to & 8-1-2025
2,000 0.439 7-5-2018 to & 7-5-2025
18,543 0.221 20-6-2019 to & 20-6-2029
20,828 0.219 28-6-2019 to & 28-6-2029
19,982 0.167 9-9-2020 to & 9-9-2030
2,735 0.255 30-9-2021 to & 30-9-2031
74,713
= the exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the 2 IR ITEE R B ARSI A REITHAR
case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the NARAREH AL E e AR -

Company'’s share capital.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 32,446,000 (2022:
33,198,000) share options were exercised resulting in the issue
of 32,446,000 (2022: 33,198,000) ordinary shares of the
Company, as further detailed in note 29 to the financial
statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
approximately 33,357,000 share options outstanding under the
Company’s share option scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of approximately
33,357,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital of approximately HK$334,000,
equivalent to RMB303,000 and share premium of approximately
HK$8,005,000, equivalent to RMB7,255,000 (before issue
expenses).

Up to the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had approximately 33,357,000 share options
outstanding under the Company’s share option scheme, which
represented approximately 1.19% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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0. B EET 2 (&)

BBIRRES & ()

R_BE_=F+_A=+—HLEFE"
32,446,000 (— = — —4F : 33,198,000)
P& B IR R JE 1T {2 B8 32,446,000 (=&
= T :33,198,000) Bx AN A B E B A%
BT SER M HmERMEE29 -

R EIR - ARBRARR BB #E
ST 278 T A #933,357,000 B 1 15 AR 1T
FERE - BEARAREZEARSRE
& mARITEEBREEDEITEREL
#E51NBE 1T 4933,357,000 B AR A 7] @ A%
A% AN 49334,0008 7T FEERAR
¥ 303,000C) AR HmiEEYH
8,005,000 7T (A€ M A K# 7,255,000
TC) RET TR A o

R BRESER  BREAEZTEYD
33,357,000 [i% B A% 4 B 5% 1 R ETTE -
RARRABEBEITRD41.19% °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements

therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 92 of the

financial statements.

0]

(i)

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents (i) the excess
of the nominal value of the paid-up capital of Huadong
Feitian over the nominal value of A8 Music’s shares which
were issued as consideration for obtaining the control of
Huadong Feitian at the time of the group reorganisation
in 2004; and (ii) the excess of the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued over the nominal value of
A8 Music's shares acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 2008.

Surplus contributions

According to an agreement dated 27 December 2004 on
the capital contribution into A8 Music signed by A8
Music, the then three shareholders of A8 Music and the
registered owners, the three shareholders of A8 Music
agreed to make cash contributions of HK$1,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,063,000) and RMB10,000,000 into
A8 Music without any equity interests issued and issuable
to them in return. In addition, A8 Music has no obligations
to repay these contributions. As a result, the contributions
were reported as surplus contributions of A8 Music.
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(i) MAREER

RIKASE 4 - ASERERZ=F
BEREDZEEAR_ZSZENF
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ZRERERASTLEURSHE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 —E_=F+_H=+—H
31. RESERVES (Continued)
(iii) PRC statutory reserves
Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
articles of association of the subsidiaries of the Company
which are domestic enterprises established in the PRC,
appropriations of their net profits after offsetting
accumulated losses from prior years should be made to
the statutory reserve fund maintained by these companies
before any distributions are made to the investors. The
percentage of appropriation to the statutory reserve fund
is 10%. When the balance of the statutory reserve fund
reaches 50% of the paid-up/registered capital, no further
appropriations are required to be made. The statutory
reserve fund shall not be less than 25% of the original
registered capital.

Reserve fund

In accordance with the Law of the PRC for Enterprises
with Foreign Investments and the articles of association of
a subsidiary of the Company established in the PRC,
namely Cash River, appropriations from net profits, after
offsetting accumulated losses brought forward from prior
years, should be made to the reserve fund before
distributions are made to the owners. The percentage of
net profits to be appropriated to the reserve fund should
not be less than 10% of the net profits. When the balance
of the reserve fund reaches 50% of the paid-up capital,
no further appropriations are required to be made. Upon
approval obtained from the board of directors, the reserve
fund can be used to offset accumulated deficits or to
increase the registered capital.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. 6B e RnE XM T
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing () METEBMEENEBEED

activities
Lease
liabilities
HEBE
RMB’000
ARETF T
2022 T
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—H—H 645
Changes from financing cash flows METHRERE (198)
Termination of a lease I —IEE A (447)
Interest expense FMEER 13
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows D8 ALEEEHIR S R A B (13)
At 31 December 2022 N-E-——F+—-A=+—81 _
(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b) HERSRHAL
The total cash outflow for leases included in the FFAGEREMERNEER S
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: MEOBEENAT
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-_=
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
A BT A BTt
Within operating activities KRB 39 52
Within financing activities BMEERBNA - 198
39 250
Annual Report 2023 A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

33. COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a capital commitment
of RMB2,000,000 (2022: RMB2,000,000), which is contracted
but not provided for purchase of a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss.

34. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(a) Outstanding balances with related parties

Details of the Group’s balances with its joint venture and
associates and loan to an associate as at the end of the
reporting period are disclosed in notes 23, 26 and 27 to
the financial statements.

(b) Transactions with related parties
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these

financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related party during the year:

33,

518

RZFEZ=F+=ZA=+—10 &5&H
B —IHEAFEH AR 2,000,0007T (=
T — — 4 :2,000,000) c EE %4 8
ﬁiaﬂEﬁHEAﬁ%a—lﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ
AABRZEMEE -

34. FgHt

(a)

(b)

RS
EERBEE T 2 S BR TR IR

REBRARERRESE QA
NEtERNR 2 BB RBERE —K
éﬁ%@TZfﬁmmaﬁaﬁlJﬁéﬂﬂ%
RT3 - 26 227 o

—XEABAIRS

B B 75 40 A o T 0 2 1 -
RER . AEBEBEE0X5
o -

2023 2022

Y S I
—E—-= S

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M AR®TRT ARBTRT

A related company*: ) NG
Rental income He WA
Management fee income MEZBEWA
An associate*: —xREEE AT
Interest income B A

619 713
75 75
9 -

A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

Notes:

(0]

(iii)

The rental was paid by a related company for a lease of office
premises at a rate mutually agreed between the parties.

The management fee was paid by a related company for
property management services provided by the Group at a rate
mutually agreed between the parties.

The interest was charged on a loan to an associate, details of
which are included in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Mr. Liu Xiaosong, a director and the controlling shareholder of
the Company, is the shareholder of this related company and
this associate.

(c) Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group

The compensation of key management personnel of the

Group for each reporting period represented the directors’

emoluments as disclosed in note 8 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Annual Report 2023
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34.F8E R 5 (1)

(b)

(9]

—XBABARS (4)
Wi

() ZESWRARKNEERE—HEK
ARZEBETHENES XN
P78 PR 0 33 XI5 P ©

(i) BPEERBWAALSEMESE—
PR A RIRBE SR RL
o e A S IR G MO S IR AR TS o

iy FEBA—FRBEQARIN FF
K5% EHHBREEMHRE
MizE23 °

* BEEARBEERERERNE
R ERZBEY AR Rz e
RAEHIBCR ©

FEBMTEEEAENER
fH1E

FLZARASETEM GRS B
MHEREEABTFMOFEH
RERE M TERAR M TS EFEHBM -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS RaR M AL

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. IERE S & BT A
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial WEMRSHEoMTANKRMER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period:
2023 —E-=
Financial assets EWMEE
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
at fairvalue  through other
through profit  comprehensive
or loss income
NATENE UAFEHERH
BHEHIAEE BT AHMGRE
HNEeMEE WENERMEE
Mandatorily
designated Equity Financial assets at
as such investments  amortised cost Total
8 32357
BHETA BRRE NEMEE okl
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR®T AR®TR AR®TR
Financial assets at fair value ANEEFEREEH
through other ﬁ]\ﬁﬁﬂi@lﬁlmﬁ’]
comprehensive income %%ﬂ BE - 117,443 - 117,443
Financial assets at fair value NFEEGEAES
through profit or loss ﬁ)\?ﬁ SRS REE 251,868 = = 251,868
Financial assets included in HABMTEEM
prepayments and & Lo 3R B
other receivables PREE - - 8,739 8,739
Trade receivables FEM R - - 6,125 6,125
Restricted bank balances RBHIRITES - - 65 65
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEED - - 501,695 501,695
251,868 117,443 516,624 885,935
Financial liabilities cHas
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
IR 35N
Hemes
RMB’000
ARET
Trade payables FE T BR3X 7,022
Financial liabilities included in other STAEMERA KR ETERRN
payables and accruals SREAE 22,934
29,956

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEEAR LD A
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)
2022

Financial assets

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

—E-=
TREE
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
at fair value through other
through profit comprehensive
or loss income

UAFEHE NAFENEAR
BERDHARS BBHALBLE
WEMAE WEHEMAE

35. KRB R T A )

Mandatorily Financial assets at
designated as such  Equity investments amortised cost Total
PN ARG 2
BHETE A BmiE MEMEAE B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETTT AREFT ARETTT
Financial assets at fair value NATFEERAES
through other AR EEREN
comprehensive income SHEAE = 103,589 = 103,589
Financial assets at fair value WATEFEAES
through profit or loss FABENEREE 92,878 = = 92,878
Financial assets included in FABRARREMD
prepayments and FEW R
other receivables TREE - = 2,397 2,397
Trade receivables e BR TR - = 7,410 7,410
Restricted bank balances XRFIRITE - - 65 65
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSZEY - - 608,766 608,766
92,878 103,589 618,638 815,105
Financial liabilities TREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
AR AT 2
WermaR
RMB'000
AREEF T
Trade payables JE 1 BR5X 7,082
Financial liabilities included in other payables ST AE M E T R R FEET B A Y
and accruals TRBE 22,845
29,927
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities reasonably
approximated to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash balances, trade receivables, trade
payables, financial assets included in prepayments and other
receivables and financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the senior
management. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets are included at the amount
at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liguidation sale. The methods and assumptions used to estimate
the fair values of financial assets at fair value are disclosed in
notes 20 and 21 to the financial statements.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEEAR LD A

=t—HB - AKEeREELERAR
ZEEERENTESERS -

EEEEHEREMASEFEY XR
HEE  BRER  BAERZ  BAAEK
Ao HEUER R EEEARG AR

FREERS  TEEARZEFILARE
AR B HAFT 2R -

AEBENMBHHAEETERTAR
FEFENBREEF RERER
B BHHSrAomem T ANEBEZS
MEEHERANEIZBAEE- - AE
HEREEERMMILE BEREBE
AEEEMEREFETMAT®
Ve R R 5 o

TREENATFEUNZTAREBERS
7 (MBS FREE) ERRZ TH
AXRSGEBAK -EHESREEND
TERERA T A ERBER BT B®R
REEE20F021 »
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments classified as level 3 of the fair

value hierarchy together with a sensitivity analysis:

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

36. A T H 2 R FERRF

BERGE @)

TXHARBERAFEFEIZFANS
BTRAETHERBZEATTERESR
ABUBERGURE DN

Relationship of unobservable

Valuation technique Unobservable input Range input to fair value
TABEBARERY
RERN TUBEBARE g8 ANVENBR
Financial assets at fair value Market approach Enterprise-value-to- revenue 2023:557t06.3  Increase/decrease in EV/Revenue
through other multiple (“EV/Revenue") (2022: 3.98 t0 6.49) would result in increase/decrease
comprehensive income in fair value
BRATEHEAEEY [iiEoY EEBE/ WABEE ZEIZE: REEE/MABHEAAOB
STARMEERE 557f5%63%  BEATELA/ RS
THEE (z%-z
39812 % 6.49f%)
Market approach Price-to-earnings 2023:19.02  Increase/decrease in P/E would result
multiple ("P/E") (2022: 24.04) in increase/decrease in fair value
i MREREH ZECZF: MREGHLR/BOBERAT
19025 ELA/HD
(Z2-—F:
24.04f5)
Discounts for lack of 2023:173%to  Increase/decrease in DLOM would
marketability ("DLOM") 22.0% (2022: result in decrease/increase in fair
18.9% t0 19.7%) value
B mEE ZEIZF: BEWBREMTNLA/ROR
173%%220%  SBATEED/ LA
(Z®-=
18.9% % 19.7%)
Financial assets at fair value Market approach EV/Revenue 2023:1.14108.7  Increase/decrease in EV/Revenue
through profit or loss (2022: would result in increase/decrease
2.48104.59) in fair value
BRATEFEARE 5% CEEE/MABRE ZTIZF: REEE/RABHEARROB
STARRCEREE 1140528718 BEATELA/HY
(ZE-=F:
24818%45918)
DLOM 2023:16.9% t033.4%  Increase/decrease in DLOM would
(2022: 18.2% t0 29.5%) result in decrease/increase in fair
value
[k i ZEIZE: BEmaRBERNLA/ROK
169%%334%  ERATERED/ LA
(==
18.2%%29.5%)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 6. emMITEZAFELEAY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) BSRHE @

Fair value hierarchy ANFEEEZER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement rEEzEMIAZATETEERT
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: NS

Assets measured at fair value UATEFEBZEE

Fair value measurement using

AREEE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERTMERE EATBEZSY EXAETHEESEH
(Z41) (542) (543) am
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTL AREFT AREFTL AREFTL
As at 31 December 2023 R-EZ=%
+=ZA=+-H
Financial assets at fair value BATEFZEEED
through profit of loss HAB%TSBEE 123,960 72,000 55,908 251,868
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFEAEE
through other FARMEEKRE
comprehensive income PRAEE - - 117,443 117,443
Total @t 123,960 72,000 173,351 369,311
As at 31 December 2022 R-E-—F
+-A=+-H
Financial assets at fair value BATEFEEEED
through profit or loss TAERZEREAE = 20,000 72,878 92,878
Financial assets at fair value BATEFEEEED
through other FAEMRZEKG
comprehensive income PREE - = 103,589 103,589
Total Fob — 20,000 176,467 196,467
A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY  36. @ i T H 7 A F{E KA F
/\-f\-
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) BEHHE @)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEESERE)
Assets measured at fair value (Continued) UAFREFEZEE (&)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 FHNATEEERANE=BEHNT
during the year are as follows:
Financial Financial assets
assets at at fair value
fair value through other
through comprehensive
profit or loss income
BRATE RATEHE
STEEH®E BHZHHITA
AR HttREKR
ZERMEE ZERMEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
As at 1 January 2022 R-ZZE-—F—A—H 102,158 150,571
Total losses recognised in the WG ERRERZ BEESE
consolidated statement of profit or loss FTAEMAS - F58
included in other expenses, net (31,980) -
Total losses recognised in the RERE 2 ER SR ER
consolidated statement of BEBE
comprehensive income - (46,982)
Additions #iE 3,000 -
Disposals BRE (300) -
As at 31 December 2022 and RZEZ=ZF+=ZHA=+—8HK
1 January 2023 —E-=F—Af—H 72,878 103,589
Total losses recognised in the consolidated ~ R4rA B RER 2 ERAHE
statement of profit or loss included in STARMF S - FE
other expenses, net (16,970) -
Total gains recognised in the consolidated ~ R4rA 2 EMaERER 2
statement of comprehensive income Wi - 13,854
As at 31 December 2023 RZE==F+=ZH=+—8H 55,908 117,443
There were no transfers of fair value measurements between RNAEERBEAFEE E—EHE_[E
Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 JREYEATEASSER S ENE
during the current and prior years. AN EFEEASEDL -
Liabilities measured at fair value UATFEFECERE
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair R-E-—=F+-_HF=+—HER_-ZF
value at 31 December 2023 and 2022. T —HE+-A=+—8 XAEBKXREHE
AR EFEZBE -
Annual Report 2023 A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group'’s financial instruments
are credit risk, liquidity risk, equity price risk and foreign
currency risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as
at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEEAR LD A

SRR ETE B IR RBER

AEETZeRTABEMEBRTEER
RRSEREEEY RFEMTEZ
IZEANNRAEEZEEERES -
rEERAHMZEEREERAE
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rEEeRmIAELAZTERBAREE
Bk RBESRREERERRR -
Exeha RitEERRBZFARZ
KR BREBMEHN T -

(a) FERME

AEEEEARAGERIENSE
=HETXR % o RIBAEBHR
FEMENERGERETRZH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37. iR EE B E K KE

AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EER &)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) BAEBHBOMERESH (&)
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=%+=-A=1+—H
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218AHK
RIEREX RERHBEREX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-ER FoRR FZER B A% ot

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  AR®TR  ARMTn ARBTR  AR%TR

Trade receivables* RIS - - - 8,004 8,004
Financial assets included in FABRERREM

prepayments and FEUFHESRHEE

other receivables

— Normal** — EB* 9,081 - - - 9,081
Restricted bank balances SRBTES

— Not yet past due — AARBE 65 - - - 65
Cash and cash equivalents ReRhAeSEN

— Not yet past due — WRBE 501,695 - - - 501,695

510,841 - - 8,004 518,845
Annual Report 2023 A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37. iR EE B E K%K

AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERMR &)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) BAEBHBOMERESH (&)
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZf+=ZH=+—H
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12 {8 A
EEEEIEEEPS BRERBEREX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-ER FRE FZRE B rE BE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFR
Trade receivables* JEUBR 7 * - = = 9216 9216

Financial assetsindluded in ~ FTATER BT KL HE
prepayments and other assets WK £ BEE

— Normal** — MEE 0 2,739 = = = 2,739
Restricted bank balances RBRTE
— Not yet past due — HABE 65 - - - 65
Cash and cash equivalents Re kA EED
— Not yet past due — WAREH 608,766 - - - 608,766
611,570 - - 9,216 620,786
S For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified g HRAEEHEBBLREZEZNE S EK
approach for impairment,information based on the provision FIE - ERBEEEOESEMBRE
matrix is disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements. MIEE22 P EE o
**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in > FFAEBEMERRRE A ERRR AL R
prepayments and other assets is considered to be “normal” BEEARBHBESEEERAZERME
when they are not past due and there is no information EBVRERERRBEZEMES  HE
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in REERIEE] -

risk since initial recognition.

A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  37.

AND POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk

The Group managed liquidity risk by maintaining a
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through maintaining a sufficient amount of bank deposits.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
Group's financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting
period, based on contractual undiscounted payments.

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

s EBe 5 IR B AR RIR

(%)
(b) REBES R

AR [E BB R R R E 2 RIT
R EADHEEREEEY
PG FEA TR E AR -

TERBEAEERBEANRITA
MR EENTHA -

2023
—EZ=F
Within one
year or on
demand
—FHR

= AN A
RMB’000
AR®BT T

Trade payables JE 1~ BR 3K

7,022

Financial liabilities included in other payables 5T A E & (< 50 & fE =1 &

and accruals =N

22,934

29,956

2022

Within one
year or on
demand
—F AR
i BN ER
RMB’000
AREF T

Trade payables FEATBR X

7,082

Financial liabilities included in other payables 5T AE &~ 3 K fE 51 &

and accruals ZemasE

22,845

29,927
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B 75 R YAt

31 December 2023 — - =%+_HA=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of
equity indices and the value of individual securities. The
Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
individual equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (note 20) and equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (note 21) at the end of the
reporting period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 5%
change in the fair values of the equity investments that
are carried at fair value, with all other variables held
constant and before any impact on tax, based on their
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. For
the purpose of this analysis, for equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the impact is deemed to be on the fair value
reserve.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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37. M ERERERZERBEER

(%)

(c)

e 5 B 48 LB

BaEREREEEREEFNA
B A 25 18 BUK A B E 5
BEMBmTREANRR- K&
BRBEEMREDESNRFE
FAERHEHFAZHESZNS
BMEE (MF20) MIEERARF
BEFf2EREZHFTAEMBEEK
HHERRE (RE21) 8 @RI
R E M [ b A AN (B AR LR o

TRERTEMERERFBTE
BRMBEAREZET  ER
BEFERSNERAMSE UQF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37. iRk EE B E L KE

AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
(c) Equity price risk (Continued) () RZEXEE)
Carrying
amount Change
of equity in profit Change in
investments before tax equity
BEREN  BADRRN K
IREEE - X(d #1t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR%®TR AR®TR
2023 —Eg2-=
Listed equity investment TR E
designated at fair value TZ*ELX’“EFTEE*%
through other HEHT AEAM
comprehensive income iﬁuﬁlm 12,751 - 638
Unlisted equity investment ~ 3F_EMARAER & -
designated at fair EERNUATEGE
value through other BEEH AEM
comprehensive income EEW/\ 104,692 - 5,235
Unlisted equity investments at NEEFEBEHED
fair value through a‘l‘)\?é!ﬁﬁ'\]%imﬂx
profit or loss A 55,908 2,795 -
Listed funds at fair value NATESAEBHES
through profit or loss FFAERN ETES 123,960 6,198 L
2022 —E-—F
Listed equity investment LR ERE
designated at fair value EERARTETNE
through other BES S AHAM
comprehensive income 2 13,493 = 675
Unlisted equity investment  3E_EMAR#ERE -
designated at fair ?5*7%%/&3?@%%
value through other HEHT AEM
comprehensive income 1@4%1& 90,096 = 4,505
Unlisted equity investments A A EEBEES)
at fair value through ST AR IE LT ARE
profit or loss wE 72,878 3,644 -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
mainly from monetary assets held in HKD and USD. Future
exchange rates of HKD and USD could vary significantly
and may also be affected by domestic and international
economic and political changes and the demand and
supply of the RMB. The appreciation or devaluation of the
HKD and USD against RMB may also have an impact on
the operating results of the Group.

In addition, the Group’s foreign exchange position is
monitored on an ongoing basis in order to minimise the
impact from the fluctuation of foreign currency rate. The
Group currently does not maintain a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors the
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

For HKD denominated monetary assets and liabilities, with
all other variable held constant, a 5% increase/decrease in
HKD rate against RMB at the end at the reporting period
would have decreased/increased the Group’s profit before
tax by RMB41,000 (2022: RMB40,000) and decreased/
increased the Group’s equity by RMB88,000 (2022:
RMB348,000).

For USD denominated monetary assets and liabilities, with
all other variable held constant, a 5% increase/decrease in
USD rate against RMB at the end at the reporting period
would have decreased/increased the Group’s profit before
tax by RMB56,000 (2022: RMB65,000) and decreased/
increased the Group’s equity by RMB19,127,000 (2022:
RMB23,988,000).
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Capital management

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAES R AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

(%)

(e)

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management
are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to
provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing its
services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any external imposed capital requirements. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net cash
over the debt position, which is cash and cash equivalents
less trade payables, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals. The amounts of the net cash over
debt position at the end of the reporting periods were as
follows:

37. s ERERERZERBXR

EXER

AEFBEAERZTEERRH
EERUBERFBEREER
Beh U HEEEE R REH
O3 - M MR A AN
DA Ko 1o B R 4 4 B2 78 O AR % 2 [
K ERE 2 & 50

AEEBEBHEERERE WRE
OB L B A FERE B E R R
R B HETRE - R
ABREREE AEBEA R
R o NE BT A SN F0HE N
MERERWAOR BE_ZT
=+ ZA=+—HMZZE
T+ -A=+—HILFE-
EREAMBERE BEXRIRER
BERML -

AEBARSBEBHAONEFER -
EREFEARZER RSN
AeEFEYMREERE HER
TRE EBARRIEFAZBE
BHEBENERALETER -
RBEMR 2B EREBMRRIE
R

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
—_E_-= —EFE-=
+=A +=H
Syl =t—-A
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARETRT AREBTT
Cash and cash equivalents BeNIREEEY 501,695 608,766
Trade payables JERTBR X (7,022) (7,082)
Financial liabilities included in FTAEMENREETER
other payables and accruals EREE (22,934) (22,845)
Net cash over debt position REWEBMAIEFE 471,739 578,839
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38. RNEIFIFAR R K
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the B AR ERREERR BT MR RE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: EEWT :
2023 2022
—E=-= —E——
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRE AR®ETT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZIRE 37,958 40,175
Total non-current assets B EEAR 37,958 40,175
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Other receivables E 4th jE YW kI8 3,084 520
Amounts due from subsidiaries UK BT JB 2 R FR B 697,485 697,790
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFED 18,210 20,040
Total current assets mENEERRE 718,779 718,350
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals HEMENAFIERERTEA 1,384 1,823
Total current liabilities mEN B ERE 1,384 1,823
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 717,395 716,527
Net assets BEFE 755,353 756,702
EQUITY s
Issued capital BT AR 23,450 23,167
Reserves (note) & (BE) 731,903 733,535
Total equity B 755,353 756,702
A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2023

ASHIRBEEEER AR “T=FFRK



38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R A B At

31 December 2023 —E - =F+=-A=+—H

38. RAEIMBMKRE @

Note: Mgt -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARz BEREZNOT :
Employee
Share Exchange  share-based
premium Capital fluctuation compensation  Accumulated
account reserve reserve reserve losses  Total equity
BERA
R 17 58 Bk EXfE SNERDRE MR B ag
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARBT:R
At 1 January 2022 RZZE__%—-F—8 977,612 8,969 (5,300) 27,976 (272,411) 736,846
Loss and total comprehensive loss FREEBREE
for the year - - (1,694) - (8,102) (9,796)
Issue of shares IR 9,667 - - (3.182) - 6,485
Transfer of reserve upon the forfeiture R IERYIEZIEE% 2
or lapse of share options HEER - - S 2,613) 2,613 -
At 31 December 2022 and RZZZ_#%
1 January 2023 +ZA=+-Bk
“E-=%-8-H 987,279 8,969 (6,994) 22,181 (277,900) 733,535
Loss and total comprehensive loss FRZEBREE
for the year - - (1,838) - (4,990) (6,828)
Issue of shares BITRH 5,903 = = (707) = 5,196
Transfer of reserve upon the forfeiture R BERYEZIEi% 2
or lapse of share options EEER - - - (2,217 2,217 =
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=%
+-A=1+—8H 993,182 8,969 (8,832) 19,257 (280,673) 731,903

The employee share-based compensation reserve comprises the

fair value of share options granted which are yet to be

exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for

share-based payments in note 3.3 to the financial statements.

The amount will either be transferred to the share premium

account when the related options are exercised, or be

transferred to accumulated losses should the related options

expire or be forfeited.

39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 22 March 2024.
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PARTICULARS OF
PROPERTIES

E 31

31 December 2023 —E - =F+—-_A=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

BREMEHE

Attributable

interest of
Location Use Tenure the Group
vE k=3 HE AEENGEES
Various Units in A8 Commercial Long term lease 100%
Music Building,
No. 1002 Keyuan Road, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the PRC.
RN TR L = B 8 EE 3k REHEE 100%

=T RHE B BHE B 1002 5%
ASEZ KB
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